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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND RISK FACTOR SUMMARY

This annual report on Form 10-K (the “Annual Report”) contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995, as amended. Forward-looking statements include statements that are not historical facts and can be identified by terms such as
“anticipate,” “believe,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “seek,” “should,” "strive," “will,” “would” or similar
expressions and the negatives of those terms, but the absence of these words does not mean that the statement is not forward-looking. The forward-looking
statements are contained principally in the sections captioned “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
and “Risk Factors.” Forward-looking statements may include information concerning our possible or assumed future results of operations, client demand,
business strategies, technology developments, financing and investment plans, competitive position, our industry, macroeconomic and regulatory
environment, potential growth opportunities and the effects of competition.

Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or
achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Given
these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. Also, forward-looking statements represent our management’s
beliefs and assumptions only as of the date of this Annual Report. You should read this Annual Report and the documents that we have filed as exhibits to
the Annual Report, completely and with the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from what we expect.

Risk Factor Summary

Important risk factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations include:

• economic conditions have resulted in, and may continue to result in, client delays, reductions or cancellations and a decrease in pricing, making it more
difficult to forecast client demand and effectively build a pipeline;

• we have, and may continue to, offer significant discounts for our services, which has, and may continue to, put pressure on our margins;
• we face risks associated with having a long selling and implementation cycle for our services that require us to make significant resource commitments

prior to realizing revenues for those services;
• our business has been, and may continue to be, adversely affected by volatile or uncertain operational, geopolitical, regulatory, legal and economic

conditions;
• we may be unable to implement our strategy;
• we may not be successful at attracting new clients or retaining and expanding our relationships with our existing clients;
• our ability to generate and retain business depends on our reputation in the marketplace;
• if we fail to adequately innovate, adapt and/or remain at the forefront of emerging technologies and related client demands, we could be materially

adversely affected;
• we may not be successful in our emerging technology initiatives, which could adversely affect our business, reputation, or financial results;
• if we fail to manage our acquisition strategy, our culture and growth plans could be materially adversely affected;
• our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates;
• our cash flows and results of operations may be adversely affected if we are unable to collect on billed and unbilled receivables from clients;
• our effective tax rate could be materially adversely affected by several factors;
• we must successfully attract, hire, train and retain skilled professionals to service our clients’ projects and we must productively deploy our

professionals to remain profitable;
• increases in wages, equity compensation and other compensation expenses could prevent us from sustaining our competitive advantage and increase

our costs;
• our business and operations may be harmed if we cannot positively evolve and preserve our Thoughtworks culture;
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• we face intense competition and operate in a rapidly evolving industry, which makes it difficult to evaluate our future prospects;
• our existing indebtedness could adversely affect our business and growth prospect;
• if we cause disruptions to our clients’ businesses, provide inadequate service, or breach contractual obligations, our clients may have claims against us,

which our insurance may not adequately protect against, and our reputation may be damaged;
• we face risks associated with security breaches as well as privacy and data protection regulations, and we may incur significant liabilities if we fail to

manage those risks;
• a significant failure in our systems, telecommunications or IT infrastructure could harm our service model, which could result in a reduction of our

revenues and otherwise disrupt our business;
• changes in privacy and data protection regulations could expose us to risks of noncompliance and costs associated with compliance;
• we are subject to laws and regulations in the U.S. and other countries in which we operate, compliance with these laws requires significant resources

and non-compliance may result in civil or criminal penalties and other remedial measures;
• we may become subject to disputes or legal or other proceedings that could involve significant expenditures by us, which could have a material adverse

effect on us, including our financial results;
• our environmental, social and governance (ESG) commitments and disclosures may expose us to reputational risks and legal liability;
• we may face intellectual property infringement or misappropriation claims that could be costly to defend or if we do not protect our brand through our

intellectual property rights, our business may be harmed;
• we may not be able to prevent unauthorized use of our client's intellectual property and our business and competitive position may be damaged as a

result;
• our stock price may be volatile, and the value of our common stock may decline;
• our issuance of additional capital stock in connection with financings, acquisitions, investments, our equity incentive plans, or otherwise will dilute all

other stockholders;
• if securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish unfavorable or inaccurate research about our business, the market price and trading

volume of our common stock could decline;
• we do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future and, as a result, the ability of the holders of our common stock to achieve a return on their

investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock;
• investment funds (the "Apax Funds") advised by Apax Partners L.L.P. ("Apax Partners") control us, and such control may give rise to actual or

perceived conflicts of interests;
• our status as a “controlled company” grants us exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements;
• as a result of being a public company, we are obligated to develop and maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting, and any

failure to maintain the adequacy of these internal controls may adversely affect investor confidence in our company and, as a result, the value of our
common stock;

• we may fail to comply with the rules that apply to public companies, which could result in sanctions or other penalties;
• provisions of our corporate governance documents could make an acquisition of us more difficult and may prevent attempts by our shareholders to

replace or remove our current management, even if beneficial to our shareholders;
• provisions of our certificate of incorporation could limit our shareholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us; and
• a significant portion of our total outstanding shares may be sold into the market, which could cause the market price of common stock to drop.

For more information, see “Item 1A. Risk Factors.”

We derive many of our forward-looking statements from our operating budgets and forecasts, which are based on many detailed assumptions. While we
believe that our assumptions are reasonable, we caution that it is very difficult to predict the impact of known factors, and it is impossible for us to anticipate
all factors that could affect our actual results. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from
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our expectations, or cautionary statements, include, but are not limited to those are disclosed under the sections entitled “Risk Factors” and “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in this Annual Report. All written and oral forward-looking statements attributable
to us, or persons acting on our behalf, are expressly qualified in their entirety by these cautionary statements as well as other cautionary statements that are
made from time to time in our other Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) filings and public communications. You should evaluate all forward-
looking statements made in this Annual Report in the context of these risks and uncertainties.

We caution you that the important factors referenced above may not contain all of the factors that are important to you. In addition, we cannot assure you
that we will realize the results or developments we expect or anticipate or, even if substantially realized, that they will result in the consequences or affect us
or our operations in the way we expect. The forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report are made only as of the date hereof. We undertake
no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statement as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as otherwise required by
law.

The United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) are aspirational in nature. The analysis involved in determining whether and how certain
initiatives may contribute to the SDGs is inherently subjective and dependent on a number of factors. There can be no assurance that reasonable parties will
agree on a decision as to whether certain projects or initiatives contribute to a particular SDG. Accordingly, investors should not place undue reliance on our
application of the SDGs, as such application is subject to change at any time and in our sole discretion.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

Overview

Thoughtworks Holding, Inc. ("Thoughtworks," the "Company," "we," "us," or "our") is a global technology consultancy that integrates strategy, design and
software engineering to enable enterprises and technology disruptors across the globe to thrive as modern digital businesses. Thoughtworks exists to deliver
extraordinary impact for clients, employees, partners and the communities we serve through our culture and technology excellence.

In the face of ongoing digital disruption, many companies lack the capabilities and talent necessary to keep pace with the accelerating rate of technological
change. Thoughtworks has been a thought leader at the forefront of technology innovation for the past 30 years. We leverage our vast experience to
improve our clients’ ability to harness the benefits of cloud, data, and AI to deliver value and adapt to change.

We are a globally diversified business, with clients across all major verticals and geographies. Our global distributed agile delivery model operates where our
clients are, with over 10,500 employees working across 19 countries on five continents—North America, South America, Europe, Asia and Australia. Further,
our unique, diverse and cultivating culture, with a reputation for technology excellence and thought leadership, enables us to attract and retain what we
believe is the best talent in the industry. That is why our clients trust Thoughtworks to partner with them to modernize their core infrastructure so they can
capitalize on technology driven growth and efficiencies.

Thoughtworks provides end-to-end digital strategy, design and engineering services. We connect strategy to execution, using cross-functional teams to
deliver value to our clients at scale. In 2023, as part of our announced structural reorganization, we created a new organizational home for the majority of our
client-facing workforce, our Digital Engineering Center ("DEC"), and evolved our regional market structure. The new DEC provides supply across the
regional markets and allows us to optimize resource allocation globally to better align to our clients’ needs. Further, it enables our regional markets to have a
more client and industry-based go-to-market focus while continuing to fund our investments in demand generation. The responsibility of our service lines is
to innovate, evolve and deliver our services. With their specialized expertise, they contribute to both the sales and delivery processes. Our five global service
lines provide specialized capabilities and thought leadership to drive technology execution:

• Enterprise Modernization, Platforms and Cloud
• Customer Experience, Product and Design
• Data & Artificial Intelligence ("AI")
• Digital Transformation and Operations
• DAMO™ Managed Services

Our service offerings, differentiated delivery, global talent and culture have enabled us to attract over 500 current clients, including global enterprises and
technology disruptors. Our clients are diversified across industry verticals. We have relatively low client concentration with only 27.6% of our revenues
coming from our top 10 clients in 2023. Our deep client integration and senior executive relationships have enabled us to drive long-standing partnerships
with our clients, as demonstrated by an average tenure of six years across our top 10 clients by revenue in 2023. As a result, 93.2% of our revenues in 2023
were generated from existing clients.

Since our inception, we have been pioneers in technologies that now underpin today's modern digital businesses, such as agile software development,
microservices, generative AI ("GenAI") and AI-assisted software delivery. We have established ourselves as a thought leader in our industry. We believe our
approach enables us to deliver the innovations that deliver value for our clients before new technologies reach mass adoption.

Thoughtworks has always been an ardent supporter of open source software. From a philosophical perspective, we believe open software benefits the entire
technology ecosystem, and because of this
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philosophy, many of the tools and products we have developed have been released as open source software. Furthermore, Thoughtworkers are dedicated
contributors to a wide variety of open source projects. We believe that open source enables us to build superior solutions to those based on proprietary
software in terms of cost, freedom, privacy, security, quality and community. Building open source software allows us to share new ways of working and learn
from the wider community.

We utilize a distributed agile delivery model, leveraging a broad base of high-quality, skilled global technology talent. Our professionals work with clients both
where they are located and nearshore/offshore and in 2023, we established the DEC in response to our clients' growing need for flexibility. Our local
presence enables us to develop strong client relationships and assimilate market context and knowledge. Blending our local presence with our
nearshore/offshore capabilities allows us to innovate rapidly at scale.

Our differentiated approach is rooted in a unique culture that is championed by our global management team, which has an average tenure of 16 years,
most of whom have worked across multiple functions and geographies, giving the group a diverse and well-rounded experience-base on all facets of our
business. Our reputation for technology excellence, thought leadership and cultivating culture enable us to attract what we believe is the best talent in the
industry. In addition, Thoughtworks is widely recognized for leading the technology industry through our efforts on diversity and inclusion. In 2023, we won
the Google Cloud Partner of the Year award for Diversity, Equity and Inclusion. Further, 38% of our global management team are Women or Gender Diverse.

Our Strategy

Thoughtworks was founded in Chicago in 1993 by a small team with a unified purpose. At that time, information technology functions were largely regarded
as ineffective cost centers. Thoughtworks aspired to change this by shrinking the distance between creators of technology and its consumers and by
pursuing excellence in the craft of software development.

We continue to differentiate ourselves as a leading global technology consultancy that drives innovation by leveraging the following key growth strategies:

• Broaden our service offerings where we have a strong right to win. We are now helping our clients maintain and evolve their most critical digital
assets with our new DAMO managed services. Running these applications is a natural extension for our build work, streamlining handover, costs, and
contracting for our clients. Similarly, given our reputation for pragmatic innovation, our GenAI services help our clients leverage large language models
("LLM") for new products and services, more efficient business processes, and more productive software development.

• Deepen our relationships with existing clients. We have a successful track record of expanding our relationships with our existing clients. This is
reflected in our total percentage of revenues from existing clients, which represented 93.2% in 2023. In addition, in 2023, we had 27 clients generating
between $5 million and $10 million in revenues and 31 clients generating over $10 million. We have expanded our DAMO™ managed service offerings
and believe we have a substantial opportunity to cross-sell additional services to our existing clients.

• Establish new client relationships. We believe there are significant untapped opportunities to win new clients across current and adjacent industry
verticals and geographies, and are focused on targeted accounts. To that end, we increased the total number of clients to 502 in 2023 from 416 in
2022. Adding new clients has also enabled us to maintain a relatively low client concentration with only 17.9% and 27.6% of our revenues coming from
our top five and 10 clients, respectively, in 2023.

• Develop new technical capabilities and client solutions. For 30 years, we have been at the forefront of innovation, pioneering numerous trends in
software development. We have built a thought leadership engine that we believe is consistently pioneering technology-driven business change. We
accomplish this by giving our teams, who work in close proximity to our clients, autonomy to experiment with new technologies while solving complex
client problems. When they discover new approaches and techniques, we give them resources to develop and harvest them, then scale them through
our global delivery model. We encourage Thoughtworkers to develop and deepen their skills in new technologies. For instance, in 2023, nearly 3,200
Thoughtworkers undertook broad-based training in AI.

• Develop and grow our strategic partnerships. While we remain technologically agnostic and work with the appropriate technologies for our clients,
we have expanded our relationships with hyperscale cloud providers, including Amazon, Google, Microsoft and Alibaba. This enables us to deepen our
capabilities,
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target new clients and drive meaningful growth. We partner with other third-party product and service companies to expand our execution capabilities
as well as identify additional client opportunities.

• Pursue strategic, targeted acquisitions. Our historic growth has been predominantly organic and we expect this to continue. Going forward, we
believe there is further opportunity to augment our business by selectively pursuing acquisitions that broaden our service offerings, add leading talent,
expand our client base and addressable market and enhance the depth of our capabilities in all of our verticals and geographies. In 2023,
Thoughtworks acquired Itoc, a leading Amazon Web Services ("AWS") Advanced Consulting Partner and Cloud Managed Services Provider in
Australia.

Today, we believe our clients benefit from our differentiation, including our:

• Unique approach to combining strategic guidance and hands-on implementation. We empower our clients to navigate the complex technology
landscape. Whether our clients need to modernize core applications, unlock value from their data, efficiently implement new processes with GenAI,
build new products and services, or change their technology operating model to suit their business challenges, we provide end-to-end consulting and
execution.

• Deep technology expertise and industry shifting thought leadership. Not only do we have the talent to confidently solve our clients' most complex
technology problems, we have pushed our industry toward many of the important software development practices popular today, including distributed
architecture and microservices, continuous delivery and DevOps, agile software development, evolutionary architecture, and programmatic test
automation. Thoughtworkers have published over 100 books on a wide variety of topics, and our Technology Radar is used by tens of thousands of
technologists to track trends in the industry.

• Fast brass tacks adoption of new technologies. We adopt new technologies quickly and apply them pragmatically to our clients’ technology
landscapes. By embracing Infrastructure as Code early, we helped our clients make DevOps practices successful in the cloud. Today, our work on AI-
assisted software delivery is quickly becoming a go-to resource for using GenAI across coding, testing, and SDLC management.

• Experience building high performing technology organizations. We have extensive experience modernizing legacy technology. From mainframe
modernization to unlocking data trapped in legacy systems, we help our clients build the technology underpinnings to move fast. We also work side-by-
side with our clients in their time zones and languages to bring the right methods, principles, and tools to drive the culture change required to take
advantage of modern technology. In 2023, we established the global DEC to give our clients greater flexibility working with us irrespective of location.

• Skilled, transformational and global talent. We deliver transformational change to our clients through our diverse talent base of over 10,500
Thoughtworkers. We hire high-aptitude Thoughtworkers who can learn new skills quickly and provide our teams across the globe with training in key
technologies such as AI. We see this as a competitive advantage in the talent market.

Our Industry

We are in an exciting time of converging technology shifts and disruption. The pandemic gave way to a wave of new digital investment. That investment is
the foundation supporting several new technology trends both present and on the horizon. Our clients are using technology to launch new businesses, make
existing businesses more efficient, and prepare for GenAI and spatial computing.

Key Technology Industry Trends Driving Change

A number of key industry trends are driving spending for digital services:

• AI everywhere: The ability to effectively integrate AI to make people better at their jobs will be key to the success of enterprises in the future.
Organizations will need to be deliberate about which technologies they can benefit from and how they will be used.

• Realizing value from data and AI platforms: Data is extremely valuable to modern enterprises but is often inaccessible to the people and teams who
need it. Data platforms make it simple for developers to use data in new applications, build robust analytics and train tomorrow’s models.
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• Evolving interactions: With everything from voice interfaces to extended reality, existing solutions are becoming more immersive and seamless.
Organizations need to reimagine how they engage with, learn from and delight stakeholders.

• Accelerating physical-digital convergence: Software is a core component of everything from vehicles to home appliances. It is not just organizations
with a connection to the physical environment that need to bridge the gap between the real and the virtual — we expect this to affect any organization
that is not a pure digital play.

• Responsible tech — a critical consideration: Guardrails around privacy, security and sustainability need to be firmly embedded in an organization’s
approach to technology.

Our Culture and People

Since inception, revolutionizing the technology industry has been a core part of Thoughtworks’ mission. We are driven by a desire to “create an extraordinary
impact on the world through our culture and technology excellence.” We aim to be an awesome partner for clients and their ambitions. We have relentlessly
focused on evolving our culture, creating a differentiated brand that Thoughtworkers are proud to be a part of. We believe our culture not only drives higher
quality work but also enables us to efficiently recruit and retain Thoughtworkers to drive growth.

Diversity and Inclusion

Thoughtworks proudly and actively seeks to make itself and the technology industry more reflective and inclusive of the society that we serve. We believe
that our culture encourages discourse and collaboration at all levels.

Diversity and inclusion has been a core guiding principle since we were founded. As of December 31, 2023, 37.5% of our global management team, 39.8%
of our technologists and 42.4% of Thoughtworkers globally identify as Women or Gender Diverse.

Our Recognition

Our differentiated culture has been widely recognized by the industry, earning us numerous awards, including:

• At the close of 2023, six of Thoughtworks’ countries had the Great Place to Work certification. We are proud that we have achieved industry-leading
Great Place to Work trust index scores, with a global average of 83%.

• In Q4 2023, our overall global Glassdoor rating was 3.87, higher than the Glassdoor rating for the IT services sector of 3.78.
• In 2023, LinkedIn ranked us #9 on its list of the 50 best workplaces to grow a career in the US.
• In 2023, Thoughtworks was ranked #14 on Fortune's list of World’s Best Workplaces™.

Attracting Talent

Our employee brand is strong in the market as evidenced by our awards noted above. Our recruitment capability is a source of key differentiation.

Thoughtworkers come from a variety of traditional and non-traditional technology backgrounds and include career changers and/or self-taught technologists,
valuing transferable skills, adaptability and continuous learning. Our blended delivery approach gives us a clear advantage when it comes to attracting talent.
Candidates have the opportunity to work on in-region service line projects, as well as in distributed agile teams — either as part of a nearshore or offshore
delivery team. We believe candidates are attracted by our career development opportunities. We continue to innovate in our recruitment and onboarding
processes and tools.
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Training Talent

As a pioneer of agile and extreme programming practices, we are strong advocates for the principles of continuous improvement and believe that applies to
developing our Thoughtworkers. In 2023, more than 100 Thoughtworkers completed our year-long leadership development program, where nearly 60% of
the cohort were Women or Gender Diverse. Our Thoughtworks Academies offer a portfolio of custom learning experiences for Thoughtworkers to grow their
capabilities across strategy, design, engineering and emerging technologies. In the past year, we trained nearly 3,200 Thoughtworkers in AI skills, including
practices such as prompt engineering.

Retaining Talent

Cultivation and empowerment is a core part of our culture; we call this "Empowering Thoughtworker Growth"—enabling Thoughtworkers to have a
personalized, integrated journey of cultivation and growth. We developed tools, including "Pathways" for career planning and growth paths and "Summit" for
self-assessment, expectation-setting and feedback, as well as offering Thoughtworkers extensive online training opportunities.

Our Service Offerings

We are passionate about creating exceptional customer experiences and helping clients achieve their unique business goals. As our clients continuously
evolve and grow their modern digital business capabilities, they capitalize on our end-to-end services that combine strategy, innovative experience design
and world-class software engineering. Our five global service lines influence thought leadership, capability development, community building and client work
to reinforce our position as a strategic partner. We are well placed to capitalize on the opportunities around AI and specifically GenAI, as clients start to scale
and ready their platforms and data to scale engagements.

Enterprise Modernization, Platforms & Cloud

Our Enterprise Modernization, Platforms & Cloud service line focuses on evolving our clients’ platforms, processes and talent to deliver business value
quickly and enables continuous innovation and development. Key offerings include: modernization strategy and execution; digital platform strategy and
engineering organization transformation; cloud modernization; cloud-native application support and evolution; and platform assessment and remediation.

Customer Experience, Product & Design

Our Customer Experience, Product & Design service line brings together design and product thinking with software engineering excellence, integrating
product and platform strategies to help our clients build quality, digital products and deliver differentiated customer experiences. This service line delivers:
idea to market; customer experience strategy; product organization transformation; AI-powered digital products; and product design and delivery.

Data & AI

Our Data & AI service line combines best-in-class data and software engineering practices, product thinking and data science expertise to help our clients
extract value, insights and information from their data assets, connect data silos and create effective predictive analysis tools. This service line delivers: data
strategy; intelligent products; data platforms and data mesh; continuous delivery for machine learning (CD4ML); and data governance.

Digital Transformation & Operations

Our Digital Transformation & Operations service line connects strategic understanding with software and platform expertise to deliver fast, effective
organizational transformation, enabling clients to respond to ever-changing market expectations. This service line delivers: delivery transformation; digital
fluency;
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organizational transformation; value-driven portfolio management; technology strategy; executive advisory services; digital foundations training; and digital
talent strategy.

DAMO Managed Services

Our end-to-end managed services give clients the strategic insight and engineering expertise to evolve and optimize their applications to remain responsive
and resilient in the face of changing business needs and unexpected events. This includes managing tech debt to reduce the cost of maintaining legacy
systems and minimize the risk of failure as well as freeing digital talent to focus on driving growth through high-value innovation, instead of spending time on
routine maintenance.

Our Global Distributed Agile Delivery Model

Thoughtworks is a global business operating as a single organization, with consistent global capabilities regardless of country. We have a broad
geographical presence with proven capabilities in key regions. As of December 31, 2023, we have 9.3% of our employees in North America, 13.9% in
Europe, 13.7% in Latin America ("LATAM") and 63.1% in Asia-Pacific ("APAC").

Our blended delivery model means we are able to partner with our clients in ways that suit them. By offering a combination of onshore and
nearshore/offshore talent, we are able to deliver the services our clients need, while balancing costs and proximity considerations.

Our Clients

During 2023, we served over 500 clients ranging from large, global enterprises to technology disruptors, who utilized our services and talent to help them
evolve the digital capabilities within their organizations. We have a diversified client base spanning a range of geographies and industry verticals. In 2023,
our revenues as a percentage of total revenues were as follows across geographies: 37.1% North America; 34.3% APAC; 24.9% Europe; and 3.7% LATAM.
In addition, in 2023, our revenues as a percentage of total revenues were as follows across industry verticals: 26.1% energy, public and health services;
24.8% technology and business services; 17.5% financial services and insurance; 15.9% automotive, travel and transportation; and 15.7% retail and
consumer. Additionally, our top five and 10 clients in 2023 represented just 17.9% and 27.6%, respectively, of our revenues.

We have long-term and trusted relationships with our clients. We look to partner with clients who recognize the importance of technology as a central
component of their business strategy. With that shared understanding, we adopt their organizational priorities and collaborate with them to translate that
strategy into higher business value over the long term.

Key Challenges Our Clients are Facing

As much as efficiency and modernization are considered imperatives, companies face several key challenges in the emerging move to AI, including the
ability to:

• Keep up with the latest technological innovations. Often, companies lack the ability to synthesize and prioritize the latest technology to drive value
and to compete.

• Adopt platform thinking. To benefit fully from digital platforms requires significant investments and, often, cultural changes.
• Recruit and retain high-quality talent. Competition for highly skilled people with particular expertise is fierce.

Sales & Marketing

Our sales and marketing strategy is focused on increasing revenues from existing clients, generating revenues from new clients and continuing to maintain
our brand to appeal to current and prospective clients and employees.
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Sales

Our sales strategy emphasizes a team-based approach involving client partners, account managers, delivery professionals and senior leaders. We have
created a three-prong model for our demand teams. One group targets new client acquisition, a second looks after existing clients and the third builds on
growing our partner business.

Our regional sales teams are organized around an industry-based go-to-market approach that enables us to build expertise and specialization in specific
industry verticals.

Marketing

Our reputation as a leading digital services provider helps us generate new business opportunities. In addition to the flagship Thoughtworks Technology
Radar, we have a portfolio of high impact publications such as our annual Looking Glass report, as well as thought leadership events, such as XConf, a
global event series focused on the latest thinking from Thoughtworks’ technology community.

The investment in our Digital Experience Platform — including the implementation of a new customer relationship management system and migration to a
new content management system — has strengthened our ability to reach and influence our target business executive audience, support account growth
with personalized account-based marketing and collate real-time insights to inform our go-to-market strategy.

Our focus on building our premium brand has resulted in Thoughtworks being ranked as a Brand Finance top 25 global IT services brand in 2023.

Environment and Social Impact

Environment

Thoughtworks is passionate about sustainability and the environment and has a long-standing commitment to creating positive social change through our
technology contributions. We are a Steering Committee member of the Green Software Foundation, along with Microsoft, GitHub, and Intel among others,
which seeks to build a trusted ecosystem for green software. In 2023, Thoughtworks’ targets for company-wide emission reductions were validated by the
Science Based Targets initiative ("SBTi").

Social Impact

We work with communities around the world on over 70 initiatives and strive to make significant contributions to the United Nations ("U.N.") Sustainable
Development Goals ("SDGs"), particularly goals three (good health and well-being), five (gender equality), nine (industry, innovation and infrastructure), 10
(reduced inequalities) and 13 (climate action). We believe that our social impact ethic is a key pillar of our culture and business and is considered a board-
level priority. Thoughtworkers seek to undertake transformational social impact projects around the world. An example of this is the work we do in support of
the Digital Public Goods Alliance, whose mission is to promote digital public goods to create a more equitable world. In 2022, Thoughtworks joined the UN
Global Compact. We believe the ten UN Global Compact principles are reflected in our company purpose, and we intend to make incorporating these
principles into our strategies, policies and procedures a board-level priority.

Competition

We operate in a global, dynamic and rapidly evolving market and, as a result, face competition from a wide number of organizations and service providers,
both global and local. These include software engineering specialists, large global consulting firms, strategic consulting firms, traditional IT services providers
and our clients’ in-house development teams.

We believe that our thought leadership, excellence in modern software engineering capabilities, experience delivering the kind of brownfield modernization
other companies avoid, end-to-end solutions that we are able to deliver to our clients rapidly and at scale, differentiated global delivery model and unique
culture with a focus on diversity and inclusion provide us with strong, sustained differentiation from our competition.
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Intellectual Property

Our intellectual property rights are important to our business, particularly around our branding. We rely on a combination of copyright, trademark, patent and
unfair competition laws, as well as intellectual property assignment and confidentiality agreements and other methods to protect our intellectual property
rights. We require our employees, independent contractors, vendors and clients to enter into written confidentiality agreements upon the commencement of
their relationships with us. These agreements generally provide that any confidential or proprietary information disclosed or otherwise made available by us
be kept confidential.

We customarily enter into non-disclosure agreements with our clients with respect to the use of their software systems and platforms. Our clients usually own
the intellectual property in the software or systems we develop for them. Furthermore, we usually grant a perpetual, worldwide, royalty-free, nonexclusive,
transferable and non-revocable license to our clients to use our pre-existing intellectual property but only to the extent necessary to use the software or
systems we developed for them.

We have invested and plan to continue to invest in research and development to enhance our domain knowledge and create complex, specialized solutions
for our clients. We have registered (or applied for registration of) the trademark “Thoughtworks” in 25 jurisdictions, including the United States, the European
Union and the United Kingdom, as of December 31, 2023. We have developed several tools, including consulting frameworks and software applications, that
we use to deliver digital services to our clients. We have also secured patent protection for certain internal asset tracking and human machine interaction
designs. In addition, to ensure we maintain the ability to engage with our clients, employees and the public, we have registered and maintained dozens of
domain names.

We do not believe that any individual intellectual property right, other than our rights in our name and logo, is material to our business.

Government Regulations

Due to the industry and geographic diversity of our operations and services, our operations are subject to a variety of rules and regulations. Several foreign
and U.S. federal and state agencies regulate various aspects of our business. We are subject to laws and regulations in the United States and other
countries in which we operate, including export-import restriction and regulations, economic and trade sanctions, anti-corruption laws, and privacy laws and
regulations like the California Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA), the California Privacy Rights Act ("CPRA") and the General Data Protection Regulation
(GDPR), among others. Compliance with these laws requires significant resources and non-compliance may result in civil or criminal penalties and other
remedial measures.

Corporate & Website Information

Thoughtworks Holding, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware in 2017 to serve as the indirect holding company of Thoughtworks, Inc. and its direct and indirect
subsidiaries. Our principal executive offices are located at 200 East Randolph Street, 25th Floor, Chicago, Illinois 60601. Our telephone number is (312) 373-
1000. Our website address is www.thoughtworks.com. The information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not incorporated by
reference into this Annual Report or any other report or document we file with the SEC.

Available Information

The SEC maintains an Internet website that contains reports, proxy statements and other information about issuers, like us, that file electronically with the
SEC. The address of that website is www.sec.gov. We are subject to the information and reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
"Exchange Act") and, in accordance with this law, will file periodic reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. These periodic reports,
proxy statements and other information will be available at the website of the SEC referred to above. We also maintain a website at www.thoughtworks.com.
You may access these materials free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. Our
website also provides access to reports filed by our directors, executive officers and certain significant shareholders pursuant to Section 16 of the Exchange
Act. In addition, our Code of Conduct, Code
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of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers and charters for the committees of our Board of Directors (the "Board") are available on our website as well as other
shareholder communications.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our business, financial condition, cash flows, and operating results can be affected by a number of factors, whether currently known or unknown, any one or
more of which could, directly or indirectly, cause our actual financial condition and operating results to vary materially from past, or from anticipated future,
financial condition and operating results. Any of these factors, in whole or in part, could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition,
operating results and stock price. Before making a decision to invest in our common stock, you should carefully consider all of the risks and uncertainties.     

Risks Related to Our Global Operations

Economic conditions have resulted in, and may continue to result in, client delays, reductions or cancellations, which has made it, and may
continue to make it, more difficult to forecast client demand and effectively build a pipeline.

Global macroeconomic conditions have, and may continue to, impact us and our clients’ businesses. Volatile economic conditions, including a potential
recession, may continue to undermine business confidence in the markets in which we operate. We have seen, and may continue to see, clients reducing or
deferring their spending on new initiatives and technologies. In addition, we have experienced, and may continue to experience, clients reducing, delaying or
eliminating spending under existing contracts with us, which negatively affects our business. We generally do not have long-term commitments from our
clients, our clients may terminate contracts before completion or choose not to renew contracts, and we are not guaranteed payment for services performed
under contract. Clients that delay payment, request modifications to their payment arrangements, or fail to meet their payment obligations to us could
increase our cash collection time, cause us to incur bad debt expense, or cause us to incur expenses in collections actions. A loss of business, non-payment
or a decrease in the scope of business from significant clients could materially affect our results of operations.

Ongoing economic volatility and changing demand patterns make it more difficult to accurately forecast client demand and effectively build our revenue
pipeline. Such changes in demand patterns may result in geographic or skill supply imbalances. It may take some time for the effects and changes in
demand patterns to manifest themselves in our business and results of operations. Although a substantial majority of our revenues are typically generated
from clients who also contributed to our revenues during the prior year, our engagements with our clients are typically for projects that are singular in nature.
Therefore, we must seek to obtain new engagements when our current engagements end. Termination or non-renewal of a client contract could cause us to
experience a higher-than-expected number of unassigned employees and thus compress our margins until we are able to reallocate our headcount. The loss
of clients, a significant decrease in the volume of work our clients outsource to us or the price they are willing or able to pay us, if not replaced by new
service engagements and revenue, could materially adversely affect our revenues and results of operations.

We have, and may continue to, offer significant discounts for our services, which has, and may continue to, put pressure on our margins. If our
pricing structures are based on inaccurate expectations and assumptions regarding the cost of performing our work, or if we are not able to
maintain favorable pricing for our services, then our contracts could be unprofitable.

We face a number of risks when pricing our contracts and setting terms with our clients. Our pricing is highly dependent on our internal forecasts,
assumptions and predictions about our projects, the marketplace, global economic conditions (including foreign exchange volatility) and the coordination of
operations and our people in multiple locations with different skill sets and competencies. As a result of the current macroeconomic environment impacting
our market and client budget pressure, we have discounted work or accepted lower-priced incremental projects. This has, and may continue to, compress
margins and reduce revenue. Our pricing and cost estimates for the work that we perform may include anticipated long-term cost savings that we expect to
achieve and sustain over the life of the contract. Because of such inherent uncertainties, we may underprice our services, fail to accurately estimate the
costs of performing the work, or fail to accurately assess the risks associated with potential contracts, such as defined performance goals, service levels and
completion schedules. The risk of underpricing our services or underestimating the costs of performing the
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work is heightened in fixed-price contracts and other similar commercial contracting arrangements, which may become a larger portion of our revenues if our
pricing structures change. If we fail to accurately estimate the resources, time or quality levels required to complete such engagements, or if the cost to us of
employees, facilities, or technology unexpectedly increases, we could be exposed to cost overruns. Any increased or unexpected costs, delays or failures to
achieve anticipated cost savings, or unexpected risks we encounter in connection with the performance of the services, including those caused by factors
outside our control, could make these contracts less profitable or unprofitable. In addition, our industry is sensitive to the economic environment and the
industry tends to decline during general economic downturns.

We face risks associated with having a long selling and implementation cycle for our services that require us to make significant resource
commitments prior to realizing revenues for those services.

We have experienced, and may in the future experience, a long selling cycle for our services. Our sales cycle is defined as the elapsed time between the
date of opening a qualified client opportunity and the date the opportunity is closed with an agreement to provide services to the client. Before potential
clients commit to use our services, they require us to expend substantial time and resources educating them on the value of our services and our ability to
meet their requirements. Therefore, our selling cycle is subject to many risks and delays over which we have little or no control, including our clients’ decision
to select another service provider or in-house resources to perform the services, the timing of our clients’ budget cycles, and client procurement and
approval processes. If our sales cycle unexpectedly lengthens for one or more large projects, it could negatively affect the timing of our revenues and our
revenue growth. In certain cases, we may begin work and incur costs prior to executing a contract, which may cause fluctuations in recognizing revenues
between periods or jeopardize our ability to collect payment from clients.

Implementing our services also involves a significant commitment of resources over an extended period of time from both our clients and us. Our current and
future clients may not be willing or able to invest the time and resources necessary to implement our services, and we may fail to close sales with potential
clients despite devoting significant time and resources to them. Any significant failure to generate revenues or delays in recognizing revenues after incurring
costs related to our sales or services processes could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our business has been, and may continue to be, adversely affected by volatile or uncertain operational, geopolitical, regulatory, legal and
economic conditions.

Changing demand patterns from economic volatility and uncertainty, including as a result of increasing geopolitical tensions, inflation, increasing energy
costs, economic downturns, changes in global trade policies, global health emergencies and their impact on us, our clients and the industries we serve,
could have a significant negative impact on our results of operations. Furthermore, the hyper-growth period experienced in the global technology industry
during the COVID-19 pandemic has slowed and is expected to normalize. Our operations and our clients are located throughout the world, and a significant
part of our revenue comes from international sales. The global nature of our business creates operational and economic risks. Our results of operations may
be affected by global, regional, and local economic developments, monetary policy, inflation, and recession, as well as political, trade and military disputes.
War, terrorism, riot, civil insurrection or social unrest; and natural or man-made disasters, including famine, flood, fire, earthquake, pandemics and other
regional or global health crises, storm or disease may cause difficulties in staffing and managing our operations, cause clients to delay their decisions on
spending for the services we provide, give rise to sudden significant changes in regional and global economic conditions and cycles and may create
unanticipated challenges for our growth strategy. Further escalation or expansion of on-going wars and conflicts in Europe and the Middle East could impact
our business operations in those regions, including disrupting our client service delivery and negatively impacting the demand for our services. Emerging
nationalist trends in specific countries may significantly alter the trade environment. Changes to trade policy or agreements as a result of populism,
protectionism, or economic nationalism may result in higher tariffs, local sourcing initiatives, or other developments that make it more difficult to sell our
services and solutions internationally. Travel restrictions resulting from natural or man-made disruptions and political or social conflict increase the difficulty of
obtaining and retaining highly-skilled and qualified professionals and could unexpectedly increase our labor costs and expenses, both of which could also
adversely affect our ability to serve our clients.

Operational, geopolitical, environmental, and economic events may pose significant security risks to our employees, the facilities where they work, our
operations, electricity and other utilities, communications, travel and network services, and the disruption of any or all of them could materially adversely
affect our
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financial results. Our crisis management procedures, business continuity plans and disaster recovery capabilities may not be effective at preventing or
mitigating the effects of a disaster.

Certain legal systems or policy decisions may make it more difficult to obtain, maintain, protect and enforce intellectual property, contractual or corporate
rights. Disruptions of these kinds in developed or emerging markets could negatively impact demand for our services and solutions or increase our operating
costs.

We have significant operations in China. Doing business in China has increased risks given the uncertainties around domestic legislation, foreign policy,
trade policy and international relations. Some clients have refused, and may in the future refuse, to accept, or were prohibited from accepting, services
originating from China. Furthermore, we face the risk that our business operations in China will be impacted by government regulations and/or foreign
sanctions. Escalation of current geopolitical tensions may implicate China and could increase the risk of government regulations and/or foreign sanctions
and imposition of export controls and import restrictions. In addition, our information technology systems may be at risk of being blocked from our world-wide
operations. Ongoing human rights concerns in China may result in boycotts of our services or client requests not to use Chinese operations to support their
projects.

We may be unable to implement our strategy.

Our strategy focuses on developing innovative solutions at the forefront of emerging technologies for our clients. As such, our ability to grow may not be
consistent year to year. Over the last five years, we have gone through periods of significant growth. During these times, we are required to invest
substantially in human capital and infrastructure, including training, administration, operations and facilities. We have also had, and may have in the future,
periods of contraction that require restructuring activities. This can include headcount reductions, operational efficiencies and changes in our target operating
model (“TOM”). Our strategy places significant demands on our management and our administrative, operational and financial infrastructure, and our
strategy creates challenges, including:

• training and retaining a sufficient number of skilled professionals and management personnel;
• planning our staffing needs on a consistent basis and efficiently using on-site and off-site staffing;
• maintaining close and effective relationships with a larger number of clients in a greater number of industries and locations;
• reducing costs and minimizing cost overruns and project delays in delivery center and infrastructure expansion;
• effectively maintaining productivity levels and implementing process improvements across geographies and business units; and
• improving our internal administrative, operational and financial infrastructure.

We are continuing to implement our strategy while seeking to make our cost structure and business more efficient. As we introduce new services, enter into
new markets, integrate corporate acquisitions, and take on increasingly innovative projects, often implementing or introducing new technologies to our
clients, our business may face new risks and challenges. If our clients do not choose us for innovative projects or we do not effectively manage those
projects, our reputation, business and financial goals may be damaged. We need to generate business and revenues to support new investments and
infrastructure projects. We risk inaccurately estimating our human capital needs, which may result in having personnel with the wrong skill sets in our
business, having an excess in personnel or deficiency in certain specialized skills sets and as a result we may need to recalibrate our workforce including
adjusted hiring patterns and undertaking periodic workforce reductions. During 2023, we undertook restructuring actions, including a headcount reduction, to
better align our financial model and our business with the market. We may need to take additional restructuring actions in the future to align our business
with the market. Furthermore, inaccurately assessing human capital needs may, and which in the past has resulted, and in the future may result, in additional
workforce reductions. The challenges associated with expansion while controlling our operating costs could negatively impact our anticipated growth and
margins. In addition, our restructuring actions, including implementing our new TOM, may not yield the intended benefits and may be unsuccessful or
disruptive to our business. As a result, our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.
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Risks Related to Our Client Relationships

We are dependent on our existing client base and our ability to retain and expand our relationships with such clients.

Historically, a significant percentage of our revenues has come from our existing client base. For example, during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023,
93.2% of our revenues came from Existing Clients (as defined elsewhere in this Annual Report). However, the volume of work performed for a specific client
is likely to vary from year to year, especially since we generally do not have long-term commitments from our clients and are often not our clients’ exclusive
technology services provider. A client in one year may not provide the same level of revenue for us in any subsequent year. Further, one or more of our
significant clients could be acquired, and there can be no assurance that the acquirer would choose to use our services in respect of such clients to the
same degree as previously, if at all.

In addition, the services we provide to our clients, and the revenues and income from those services, may decline or vary as the type and quantity of
services we provide changes over time. In addition, our reliance on any individual client for a significant portion of our revenues may give that client a certain
degree of pricing leverage against us when negotiating contracts and terms of service.

Our business model depends on relationships our teams develop with our clients so that we can understand our clients’ needs and deliver solutions and
services that are tailored to those needs. If a client is not satisfied with the quality of work performed by us, or with the type of services or solutions delivered,
we could incur additional costs to address the situation, the profitability of that work might be impaired, and the client’s dissatisfaction with our services could
damage our ability to obtain additional work from that client. In particular, clients that are not satisfied might seek to terminate existing contracts, which could
mean that we could incur costs for the services performed with no associated revenue. This could also direct future business to our competitors.

Our ability to generate and retain business depends on our reputation in the marketplace.

Our services are marketed to clients and prospective clients based on a number of factors, including reputation. Our corporate reputation is a significant
factor in our potential clients’ evaluation of whether to engage our services. Our clients’ perception of our ability to add value through our services is critical to
the profitability of our engagements. We believe that the Thoughtworks brand name and our reputation are important corporate assets that help distinguish
our services from those of our competitors and contribute to our efforts to recruit and retain talented employees.

Our corporate reputation is potentially susceptible to damage by actions or statements made by current or former clients and employees, competitors,
vendors, adversaries in legal proceedings, government regulators, as well as members of the investment community and the media. We and our officers and
directors are and may from time to time be subject to legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business or otherwise, which could adversely affect our
reputation even if we or they ultimately prevail. There is a risk that negative information about us, even if untrue, could adversely affect our business, could
cause damage to our reputation and be challenging to repair, could make potential or existing clients reluctant to select us for new engagements, could lead
to a loss of revenue or litigation, and could adversely affect our recruitment and retention efforts. Damage to our reputation could also reduce the value and
effectiveness of the Thoughtworks brand name and could reduce investor confidence in us.

If we are unable to adapt to rapidly changing technologies, methodologies and evolving industry standards, we may lose clients and our
business could be materially adversely affected.

Rapidly changing technologies, methodologies and evolving industry standards are inherent in the market for our services and solutions. Our ability to
anticipate developments in our industry, enhance our existing services, develop and introduce new services or tools, provide enhancements and new
features for our solutions and tools, and keep pace with changes and developments are critical to meeting changing client needs. Our ability to keep pace
with, anticipate or respond to changes and developments is subject to a number of risks, including that:

• we may not be able to develop new, or update existing, services, applications, tools and software quickly or inexpensively enough to meet our clients’
needs;
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• we may find it difficult or costly to make existing software and tools work effectively and securely over the internet or with new or changed operating
systems;

• as we operate in a rapidly evolving industry, new technologies may develop that may make our services more efficient, which could result in greater
pricing competition from competitors and internal client resources, or make our services obsolete;

• we may find it challenging to develop new, or update existing, software, services and tools to keep pace with evolving industry standards,
methodologies and regulatory developments in the industries where our clients operate at a pace and cost that is acceptable to our clients;

• we may find that the services, tools, technologies or methodologies we develop or implement may not be successful in the marketplace; and
• we may find it difficult to maintain high quality levels of performance with new technologies and methodologies.

Further, services, tools, technologies or methodologies that our competitors develop may render our services or tools non-competitive or obsolete. Our
failure to enhance our existing services and tools and to develop and introduce new services and tools to promptly address the needs of our clients could
have a material adverse effect on our business.

We may not be successful in our emerging technology initiatives, which could adversely affect our business, reputation, or financial results.

In part, our reputation in our industry is built on our past success of developing and implementing emerging technologies for clients. Our ability to stay at the
forefront of emerging technologies requires significant investment in time, human capital resources, and cash. We risk investing in the wrong technologies or
investing in a desired technology too late. Our inability to choose the right technologies to invest in can have reputational and financial repercussions and
may impact our ability to scale our business.

We are making significant investments in AI initiatives to, among other things, develop new products, develop new features for existing products and make
our business run more efficiently. There are significant risks involved in developing and deploying AI and there can be no assurance that the usage of AI will
enhance our products or services or be beneficial to our business. For example, our AI-related efforts may give rise to risks related to harmful content,
accuracy, bias, discrimination, toxicity, intellectual property infringement or misappropriation, defamation, data privacy, and cybersecurity, among others. In
addition, these risks include the possibility of new or enhanced governmental or regulatory scrutiny, litigation, or other legal liability, ethical concerns,
negative consumer perceptions as to automation and AI, or other complications that could adversely affect our business, reputation, or financial results. We
face significant competition from other companies that are developing their own AI technologies. Our competitors may develop AI technologies that are
similar or superior to our technologies or are more cost-effective to develop and deploy. We are also developing AI technology that we make available via
open source to third-parties that can use this technology for use in their own products and services. We may not have insight into, or control over, the
practices of third parties who may utilize such AI technologies. As such, we cannot guarantee that third parties will not use such AI technologies for improper
purposes, including through the dissemination of inaccurate, defamatory or harmful content, intellectual property infringement or misappropriation, furthering
bias or discrimination, cybersecurity attacks, data privacy violations, or to develop competing technologies. As such, it is not possible to predict all of the
risks related to the use of AI and changes in laws, rules, directives, and regulations governing the use of AI may adversely affect our ability to develop and
use AI or subject us to legal liability.

Risks Related to Our Financial Condition

If we fail to integrate or manage acquired companies successfully, or if acquisitions do not perform to our expectations, our overall profitability,
our culture and growth plans could be materially adversely affected.

As part of our strategy, we expect to acquire businesses that we believe are a strategic fit with ours, both culturally and operationally, to augment our organic
growth or to keep us at the forefront of emerging technologies. However, we may not be able to find acquisition targets that meet our criteria, and there may
be intense competition for acquisition targets that are attractive to us. In addition, we do not have extensive experience integrating and managing acquired
businesses or assets. Such acquired businesses or assets may not advance our business strategy or achieve a satisfactory return on our investment; we
may not be able to
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successfully integrate acquired employees into our culture, client relationships or operations; and acquisitions divert significant management attention and
financial resources from our ongoing business. Historical practices, policies and controls of acquired companies may present reputation and business risks
to us. Furthermore, contracts between our acquisition targets and their clients may lack terms and conditions that retain the client relationship or adequately
protect us against the risks associated with the services we provide, which may increase our potential exposure to damages. If not effectively managed, the
disruption of our ongoing business, increases in our expenses (including significant one-time expenses and write-offs) and the difficulty and complexity of
effectively integrating acquired operations may adversely affect our overall growth and profitability.

Our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.

Our functional currency is the U.S. dollar. However, we are exposed to foreign currency exchange transactions related to our non-U.S. operations. Our profit
margins are subject to volatility as a result of changes in foreign exchange rates. Significant fluctuations in currency exchange rates have had, and may
continue to have, a material impact on our business and results of operations. In some countries, we may be subject to regulatory or practical restrictions on
the movement of cash and the exchange of foreign currencies, which would limit our ability to use cash across our global operations and increase our
exposure to currency fluctuations. This risk could increase as we continue expanding our global operations, which may include entering emerging markets
that may be more likely to impose these types of restrictions. Currency exchange volatility caused by political or economic instability or other factors could
also materially impact our results. See “Item 7A. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Quantitative and
Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk—Foreign Currency Risk.”

Our cash flows and results of operations may be adversely affected if we are unable to collect on billed and unbilled receivables from clients.

Our business depends on our ability to successfully obtain payment from our clients of the amounts they owe us for work performed. We maintain provisions
against receivables. Actual losses on client balances could differ from those that we currently anticipate and, as a result, we may need to adjust our
provisions. We may not accurately assess the creditworthiness of our clients. Macroeconomic conditions, such as a global recession, could also result in
financial difficulties for our clients, including limited access to the credit markets, insolvency or bankruptcy. Such conditions could cause clients to delay
payment, request modifications of their payment terms, or default on their payment obligations to us, all of which could increase our receivables balance.
Timely collection of fees for client services also depends on our ability to complete our contractual commitments and subsequently bill for and collect our
contractual service fees. If we are unable to meet our contractual obligations, we might experience delays in the collection of or be unable to collect our client
balances, which would adversely affect our results of operations and could adversely affect our cash flows. In addition, if we experience an increase in the
time required to bill and collect for our services, our cash flows could be adversely affected, which in turn could adversely affect our ability to make necessary
investments and, therefore, our results of operations.

Our effective tax rate could be materially adversely affected by several factors.

We conduct business globally and file income tax returns in multiple jurisdictions. Our effective tax rate could be materially adversely affected by several
factors, including changes in the amount of income taxed by or allocated to the various jurisdictions in which we operate that have differing statutory tax
rates; changing tax laws, regulations and interpretations of such tax laws in one or more jurisdictions; and the resolution of issues arising from tax audits or
examinations and any related interest or penalties. The determination of our income tax expense and other tax liabilities requires estimation, judgment and
calculations where the ultimate tax determination may not be certain. Our determination of tax liability is always subject to review or examination by
authorities in various jurisdictions. If a tax authority in any jurisdiction reviews any of our tax returns and proposes an adjustment, including, but not limited to,
a determination that the transfer prices and terms we have applied are not appropriate, such an adjustment could have a negative impact on our results of
operations, business and profitability. In addition, any significant changes to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“U.S. Tax Act”) enacted in 2017, or to regulatory
guidance associated with the U.S. Tax Act, could materially adversely affect our effective tax rate.

Many countries in which we operate enacted local legislation related to the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development Pillar Two Global Anti-
Base Erosion (“GloBE”) rules, which include the introduction
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of a 15% global minimum tax. We continue to monitor and evaluate the GloBE rules and their potential impact on our effective tax rate.

Risks Related to Our People and Growth

We must successfully attract, hire, train and retain qualified professionals to service our clients’ projects and we must productively deploy our
professionals to remain profitable.

Identifying, recruiting, hiring and retaining professionals with specialized and diverse skill sets across our broad geography of operations and consistent with
our evolving client delivery model is critical to maintaining existing engagements and obtaining new business. If we are unable to recruit skilled professionals
and if we do not deploy those professionals productively, our profitability will be significantly impacted. We must manage our professionals well and by
planning and training for future needs effectively and staffing projects appropriately while accurately predicting the general economy and our clients’ need for
our services. Increasing worldwide competition for skilled technology professionals may lead to a shortage in the availability of skilled professionals in the
locations where we operate and hire. If we are unable to attract, hire, train and retain highly skilled professionals and productively deploy them on client
projects, we will jeopardize our ability to meet our clients’ expectations and develop ongoing and future business, which could adversely affect our financial
condition and results of operations.

Competition for highly skilled professionals is intense in the markets where we operate, and we may experience significant employee turnover rates due to
such competition. If we are unable to retain professionals with specialized skills, our revenues, operating efficiency and profitability will decrease. Cost
reductions, such as reducing headcount, or voluntary departures that result from our failure to retain the professionals we hire, could negatively affect our
reputation as an employer and our ability to hire skilled professionals to meet our business requirements in the future. Inability to attract or retain
professionals with specialized skill sets may disrupt our ability to provide certain client services and impact our reputation for innovation on our industry.
Increased compensation to retain skilled professionals could lead to lower margins or to price increases that may in turn lead to a decline in demand for our
services.

Any significant growth in the market for our services or solutions or our entry into new markets may require an expansion of our employee base for
managerial, operational, financial and other purposes. During any period of growth, we may face problems related to our operational and financial systems
and controls, including quality control and delivery and service capacities. We would also need to continue to expand, train and manage our employee base.
Periods of significant growth impose significant added responsibilities upon the members of management to identify, recruit, maintain, integrate and motivate
new employees. If we experience a period of stagnation or contraction, we may be required to reassess our staffing needs and consider workforce
reductions.

Increases in wages, equity compensation and other compensation expenses could prevent us from sustaining our competitive advantage and
increase our costs.

In all countries in which we operate, wage inflation, whether driven by competition for talent, macroeconomic pressures, or ordinary course pay increases,
may also increase our cost of providing services and reduce our profitability if we are not able to pass those costs on to our clients or charge premium prices
when justified by market demand. If we do not keep up with wage inflation in the markets in which we operate, we could reduce our ability to attract and
retain talent. As a corollary, if we increase operations and hiring to a significant degree in developed countries above the hiring rate in emerging countries,
our compensation expenses may increase at a faster rate because of the higher wages for technology professionals in those developed markets. In addition,
if we are unable to maintain our premium pricing model, we may see reduced profitability or be unable to pay wages consistent with market practices, which
may result in higher attrition.

If we cannot positively evolve our Thoughtworks culture as we grow, we could lose the innovation, teamwork, passion and execution that we
believe contribute to our success, and our business may be harmed.

We believe a critical component to our success has been our corporate culture. We have invested substantial time and resources in building our team and
developing our leaders. Our culture has evolved over time, including in ways that may be unforeseeable or unfavorable to us. As we develop the
infrastructure of a public company, our operations may need to change to support that infrastructure. In particular, we are
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committed to a business culture that promotes intentional sharing of decision-making processes so that our team members are engaged and invested in our
mission and operational success. We may have difficulties maintaining our culture in our on-going environment where employees are working remotely.

Risks Related to Our Industry

We face intense competition from a range of technology and software services providers, and an increase in competition or our inability to
compete successfully could materially adversely affect our business.

The market for technology services and solutions is intensely competitive, highly fragmented and subject to rapid change and evolving industry standards
and we expect competition to intensify. Our success depends on creating software services and solutions that deeply connect our clients with consumers
and employees. For example, if we are unable to anticipate technology developments, enhance our existing services or develop and introduce new services
to keep pace with such changes and meet changing client needs, we may lose clients and our revenues and results of operations could suffer. Our results of
operations would also suffer if our innovations are not responsive to the needs of our clients, are not appropriately timed with market opportunities, are not
effectively brought to market or are commoditized. Existing and new competitors may be able to offer engineering, design and innovation services that are,
or that are perceived to be, substantially similar or better than those we offer, or they may offer such services at a discounted rate. In addition, our
competitors may have greater financial, technical and other resources and greater name recognition than we do. Certain competitors may also have, or over
time will have, a stronger presence in certain geographic markets. We may also face competition from in-house development by our clients, academic and
government institutions, and the open-source community who may offer similar solutions or an adequate substitute for our services and solutions. These
factors may force us to compete on other fronts in addition to the quality of our services and to expend significant resources in order to remain competitive,
which we may be unable to do.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

Our existing indebtedness could adversely affect our business and growth prospects.

As of December 31, 2023, we had $295.3 million outstanding under our senior secured term loan expiring March 24, 2028, provided for under the Term Loan
and $300.0 million of availability under our Revolver (as defined below). Our debt service obligation includes the payment of interest expense. Failure to pay
on our obligations could trigger an event of default, the consequences of which are explained herein. See “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Our Credit Facilities.” Our indebtedness, and any future indebtedness we
may incur, could require us to divert funds identified for other purposes for debt service, which could adversely affect our business and growth prospects.

Our level of indebtedness may place us at a competitive disadvantage to our competitors that are not as highly leveraged. Fluctuations in interest rates can
increase borrowing costs. Increases in interest rates may directly impact the amount of interest we are required to pay and reduce earnings accordingly. In
addition, developments in tax policy, such as the disallowance of tax deductions for interest paid on outstanding indebtedness, could have an adverse effect
on our liquidity and our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Credit Agreement governing our Term Loan and Revolver contains a number of restrictive covenants that impose significant operating and financial
restrictions on us and may limit our ability to engage in acts that may be in our long-term best interests, including our ability to incur additional debt, create or
incur liens, engage in mergers or consolidations, sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of assets, make voluntary prepayments to subordinated debt, pay
dividends or distributions, make investments, and enter into certain transactions with affiliates. In addition, the restrictive covenants in the Credit Agreement
require us to satisfy a financial condition test for the benefit of our Revolver in the event our Revolver usage exceeds 35% of our available Revolver (subject
to certain exclusions for letters of credit). Our ability to satisfy those tests can be affected by events beyond our control.

A breach of the covenants or restrictions under the Credit Agreement could result in an event of default, which could permit our creditors to accelerate our
debt and terminate commitments to extend credit to us. In addition, if we cannot generate sufficient cash flow from operations to service our debt, we may
need to
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refinance our debt, dispose of assets or issue equity to obtain necessary funds, which we may not be able to do on favorable terms, or at all.

Risks Related to Our Services and Solutions

If we cause disruptions to our clients’ businesses, provide inadequate service, or breach contractual obligations, our clients may have claims for
substantial damages against us and our reputation may be damaged. Our insurance coverage may be inadequate to protect us against such
claims.

If our professionals make errors in the course of delivering services or we fail to meet contractual obligations to a client, these errors or failures could disrupt
the client’s business or expose confidential or personally identifiable information. Any of these events could result in a reduction in our revenues, damage to
our reputation, and could also result in a client terminating our engagement and making claims for substantial damages against us. Some of our client
agreements do not limit our potential liability for occurrences such as breaches of confidentiality and indemnification relating to intellectual property
infringement, misappropriation or other violations, and we cannot generally limit liability to third parties with which we do not have a contractual relationship.
In some cases, breaches of confidentiality obligations, including obligations to protect personally identifiable information, may entitle the aggrieved party to
equitable remedies, including injunctive relief.

Although we maintain professional liability insurance, product liability insurance, commercial general and property insurance, business interruption
insurance, workers’ compensation coverage, cyber insurance and umbrella insurance for certain of our operations, our insurance coverage does not insure
against all risks in our operations or all claims we may receive. Damage claims from clients or third parties brought against us or claims that we initiate due
to the disruption of our business, litigation or natural disasters, may not be covered by our insurance, may exceed the limits of our insurance coverage, and
may result in substantial costs and diversion of resources even if insured. Some types of insurance are not available on reasonable terms or at all in some
countries in which we operate, and we cannot insure against damage to our reputation. The assertion of one or more large claims against us, whether or not
successful and whether or not insured, could materially adversely affect our reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations.

Security breaches, cyber-attacks, employee and other internal misconduct, computer viruses, the mishandling of personal data and other
disruptions to network security could compromise our information and expose us to liability, which would cause our business and reputation to
suffer.

In the ordinary course of business, we collect, use, store, process, transmit and view sensitive or confidential data, including intellectual property, proprietary
business information or personally identifiable information belonging to us, our clients, respective employees and other end users. This information is stored
on our networks or in the data centers and networks of third-party providers. Physical security and the secure processing, maintenance and transmission of
this information is critical to our operations and business strategy. Some of our clients have sought, and may continue to seek, additional assurances for the
protection of their sensitive information, including personally identifiable information, and attach greater liability in the event that their sensitive information is
disclosed.

Despite security measures, information technology and infrastructure may be vulnerable to attacks by hackers, computer malware, viruses, social
engineering (including phishing and ransomware attacks), or breached due to software bugs, human error, employee theft, misuse, misconduct or
malfeasance, system failure or other disruptions. Any such breach could compromise our networks, or the networks of our third-party providers, and the
information stored there could be accessed, held for ransom, publicly disclosed, misappropriated, lost or stolen. Some of our systems will not be fully
redundant and any problems at our third-party providers’ data centers could result in lengthy interruptions in service. Such a breach, misappropriation or
disruption could also disrupt our operations and the services we provide to clients, damage our reputation, and cause a loss of confidence in our tools and
services, as well as require us to expend significant resources to protect against further breaches and to rectify problems caused by these events. Any such
access, disclosure or other loss of information could result in legal claims or proceedings, liability under applicable laws, and regulatory penalties and could
adversely affect our business, revenues and competitive position.

The techniques utilized and planned by hackers, bad actors, and other unauthorized entrants are varied and constantly evolving and may not be detected
until a breach has occurred. As a result, despite our efforts, it
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may be difficult or impossible for us to implement measures that fully prevent such attacks or react in a timely manner. Unauthorized parties may in the future
attempt to gain access to our systems or facilities through various means, including, among others, hacking into our or our clients’ systems or facilities, or
attempting to fraudulently induce our employees, clients or others into disclosing usernames, passwords, or other sensitive information, which may, in turn,
be used to access our information technology systems and gain access to our data or other confidential, proprietary, or sensitive information. Such efforts
may be state-sponsored and supported by significant financial and technological resources, making them even more difficult to detect and prevent. There
can be no assurance that any security or other operational measures that we or our third-party providers have implemented will be effective against any of
the foregoing threats or issues.

In addition, certain of our third-party providers may also be subject to such attempts, which then can be used to attempt to infiltrate our systems or to access
our data or other confidential, proprietary, or sensitive information. Because we do not control our third-party service providers or the processing of data by
such providers, other than through our contractual relationships, our ability to monitor our third-party providers’ data security may be very limited such that
we cannot ensure the integrity or security of measures they take to protect and prevent the loss of our or our clients’ data. As a result, we are subject to the
risk that cyber-attacks on, or other security incidents affecting, our third-party providers may adversely affect our business even if an attack or breach does
not directly impact our systems. It is also possible that security breaches sustained by, or other security incidents affecting, our competitors could result in
negative publicity for our entire industry that indirectly harms our reputation and diminishes demand for our services and solutions.

Furthermore, federal and state regulators and many federal and state laws and regulations require notice of certain data security breaches that involve
personal information, which, if applicable, could lead to widespread negative publicity, which may cause our clients to lose confidence in the effectiveness of
our data security measures. In addition, we may incur significant costs and operational consequences in connection with investigating, mitigating,
remediating, eliminating, and putting in place additional measures designed to prevent future actual or perceived security incidents, as well as in connection
with complying with any notification or other obligations resulting from any security incidents.

Our insurance policies may not be adequate to reimburse us for losses caused by security breaches, and we may not be able to collect fully, if at all, under
these insurance policies. The successful assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceed available insurance coverage, or the occurrence of
changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could adversely affect our
business. Furthermore, we cannot be certain that insurance coverage will continue to be available on acceptable terms or at all, or that the insurer will not
deny coverage as to any future claim.

If we are unable to fully protect the security and privacy of our data, or if we or our third-party service providers are unable to prevent any data security
breach, incident, unauthorized access, and/or misuse of our information by our clients, employees, service providers, or hackers, it could result in significant
liability (including litigation and regulatory actions and fines), cause lasting harm to our brand and reputation and cause us to lose existing clients and fail to
win new clients.

A significant failure in our systems, telecommunications or IT infrastructure could harm our service model, which could result in a reduction of
our revenues and otherwise disrupt our business.

Our service model relies on maintaining well-functioning voice and data communications, online resource management, financial and operational record
management, client service and data processing systems between our client sites and our client management locations. Our business activities may be
materially disrupted in the event of a partial or complete failure of any of these technologies, which could be due to software malfunction, computer virus
attacks, conversion errors due to system upgrades, damage from fire, earthquake, power loss, telecommunications failure, unauthorized entry, demands
placed on internet infrastructure by growing numbers of users and time spent online, increased bandwidth requirements or other events beyond our control.
Such events could result in interruptions in service to our clients, damage to our reputation, harm to our client relationships, and reduced revenues and
profitability. Further, because we rely on third-party service providers, we may be affected by security incidents that we can neither control nor mitigate,
including their vulnerability to damage or interruption from physical theft, fire, natural disasters, acts of terrorism, power loss, war, telecommunications and
other service failures, computer viruses, degradation of service attacks, ransomware, insider theft or misuse, break-ins, software bugs, human error,
technical malfunctions and similar events.
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Our crisis management procedures, business continuity plans and disaster recovery capabilities may not be effective at preventing or mitigating the effects of
such disruptions, particularly in the case of a catastrophic event. Loss of all or part of the infrastructure or systems for a period of time could hinder our
performance or our ability to complete client projects on time which, in turn, could lead to a reduction of our revenues or otherwise materially adversely affect
our business and business reputation.

Risks Related to Regulation, Legislation and Legal Proceedings

Changes in privacy and data protection regulations could expose us to risks of noncompliance and costs associated with compliance.

We are subject to federal, state and international data privacy and data security regimes due to our global business. For example, among others, we are
subject to the European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation (the “GDPR”), California’s Consumer Privacy Act (the “CCPA”), China’s PRC
Cybersecurity Law and Brazil’s General Protection Data Law. Each regulatory regime imposes significant restrictions and requirements relating to the
processing of personal data. These and other national and international data protection laws are more burdensome than historical privacy standards. Each
regime has established complex legal obligations that organizations must follow with respect to the processing of personal data, including a limitation on the
transfer of personal information to third parties or to other countries, and the imposition of additional notification, security and other control measures.
Compliance with such regimes, including U.S. and foreign data protection laws and regulations, could require us to take on more onerous obligations in our
contracts, restrict our ability to collect, use and disclose data, or in some cases, impact our ability to operate.

In the United States, numerous federal and state laws and regulations, including state data breach notification laws and state consumer protection laws,
which govern the collection, use, disclosure and protection of personal information could apply to our operations. Many state legislatures have adopted
legislation that regulates how businesses operate online, including measures relating to privacy, data security and data breaches. Laws in all 50 states
require businesses to provide notice to clients whose personally identifiable information has been disclosed as a result of a data breach. The laws are not
consistent, and compliance in the event of a widespread data breach is costly. The CCPA provides for civil penalties for violations, as well as a private right
of action for data breaches. Additionally, a new privacy law, the California Privacy Rights Act (the “CPRA”), was approved by California voters in the
November 2020 election. The CPRA, which will take effect in most material respects in January 2023, modifies the CCPA significantly, potentially resulting in
further uncertainty and requiring us to incur additional costs and expenses in an effort to comply.

Foreign data protection laws, including the GDPR, may also apply to other personal information obtained outside of the United States. The GDPR introduced
new data protection requirements in the European Union (the “EU”), as well as potential fines for noncompliant companies of up to the greater of €20 million
or 4% of annual global revenue. Among other requirements, the GDPR regulates transfers of personal data subject to the GDPR to third countries that have
not been found to provide adequate protection to such personal data, including the United States, and the efficacy and longevity of current transfer
mechanisms between the EU and the United States remains uncertain. There is a new transfer mechanism, the EU-US Data Privacy Framework, however
this is unstable and may be overturned by the European Commission.

Enforcement actions and decision notices taken by the European Union data protection authorities, in the case of GDPR, by individuals or the California
regulatory authorities, in the case of the CCPA, or by other relevant supervisory bodies as well as audits or investigations by one or more individuals,
organizations, or foreign government agencies could result in civil or criminal penalties and fines for non-compliance or direct claims against us in the event
of any loss or damage as a result of a breach of these regulations. The burden of compliance with additional data protection requirements may result in
significant additional costs, complexity and risk in our services. Clients may seek to shift the potential risks resulting from the implementation of data privacy
legislation to us. We are required to establish processes and change certain operations in relation to the processing of personal data as a result of these
many regulatory regimes, which may involve substantial expense and distraction from other aspects of our business. The rate of change in the privacy and
data protection landscape compounds these risks. Claims that we have violated individuals’ privacy rights, failed to comply with data protection laws or
breached our contractual obligations, even if we are not found liable, could be expensive and time consuming to defend, could result in adverse publicity and
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
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In addition, clients are increasingly requiring stringent transfer assessments when data is being transferred to third countries, which may restrict our ability to
use certain off-shore jurisdictions.

We are subject to laws and regulations in the U.S. and other countries in which we operate, including export-import restrictions and regulations,
economic and trade sanctions, and the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the “FCPA”) and similar anti-corruption laws. Compliance with these laws
requires significant resources and non-compliance may result in civil or criminal penalties and other remedial measures.

We are subject to many laws and regulations that restrict our international operations, including laws that prohibit activities involving restricted countries,
organizations, entities and persons that have been identified as unlawful actors or that are subject to U.S. sanctions. The U.S. Office of Foreign Assets
Control ("OFAC)" and other regulatory bodies that may have jurisdiction over aspects of our operations from time to time have imposed sanctions that
prohibit us from engaging in trade or financial transactions with certain countries, businesses, industry sectors, organizations and individuals. We are also
subject to the FCPA and anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws in other countries, all of which prohibit companies and their intermediaries from bribing
government officials and other business partners for the purpose of obtaining or keeping business or otherwise obtaining favorable treatment. We operate in
many parts of the world that have experienced government corruption to some degree, and, in certain circumstances, strict compliance with anti-bribery laws
may conflict with local customs and practices, although adherence to local customs and practices is generally not a defense under U.S. and other anti-
bribery laws.

Our compliance program contains controls and procedures designed to ensure our compliance with the FCPA, OFAC and other sanctions, and laws and
regulations. The continuing implementation and ongoing development and monitoring of our compliance program may be time consuming, expensive, and
could result in the discovery of compliance issues or violations by us or our employees, independent contractors, subcontractors or agents of which we were
previously unaware.

Any violations of these or other laws, regulations and procedures by our employees or agents, including third parties with whom we associate or companies
we acquire, could expose us to administrative, civil or criminal penalties, fines or business restrictions, which could have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations and financial condition and would adversely affect our reputation and the market for shares of our common stock and may require
certain of our investors to disclose their investment in us under certain state laws.

We may become subject to disputes or legal or other proceedings that could involve significant expenditures by us, which could have a material
adverse effect on us, including our financial results.

The nature of our business exposes us to the potential for disputes or legal or other proceedings from time to time relating to product liability, tax matters,
personal injury, labor and employment matters, contract disputes, intellectual property, data privacy and data security, and other issues. These disputes,
individually or collectively, could affect our business by distracting our management from the operation of our business or impacting our market reputation
with our clients. If these disputes develop into proceedings or judgments, these proceedings or judgments, individually or collectively, could involve
significant expenditures and any reserves relating thereto may ultimately prove to be inadequate.

Our environmental, social and governance (ESG) commitments and disclosures may expose us to reputational risks and legal liability.

Our brand and reputation are also associated with our public commitments to various ESG initiatives, including our goals relating to sustainability and
inclusion and diversity. Our disclosures on these matters and any failure or perceived failure to achieve or accurately report on our commitments, could harm
our reputation and adversely affect our client relationships or our recruitment and retention efforts, as well as expose us to potential legal liability. In addition,
positions we take or do not take on social issues may be unpopular with some of our employees, our clients or potential clients, governments or advocacy
groups, which may impact our ability to attract or retain employees or the demand for our services. We also may choose not to conduct business with
potential clients or discontinue or not expand business with existing clients due to these positions.
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Increasing focus on ESG matters from regulators, investors and consumers has resulted in, and is expected to continue to result in, the adoption of legal and
regulatory requirements designed to mitigate the effects of climate change on the environment, legal and regulatory requirements requiring climate, human
rights and supply chain-related disclosures and changing consumer preferences and buying practices. If we fail to comply with new laws, regulations or
reporting requirements or keep pace with ESG trends and developments or fail to meet the expectations of our clients and investors, our reputation and
business could be adversely impacted. Further, if new laws or regulations are more stringent than current legal or regulatory requirements, we may
experience increased compliance burdens and costs to meet such obligations. In addition, our selection of voluntary disclosure frameworks and standards,
and the interpretation or application of those frameworks and standards, may change from time to time or may not meet the expectations of investors or
other stakeholders.

In addition, organizations that provide information to investors on ESG performance and related matters have developed ratings processes for evaluating
companies on their approach to ESG matters. Such ratings are used by some investors to inform their investment and voting decisions, and thus
unfavorable ESG ratings could have a negative impact on our stock price and our access to and costs of capital.

Further, while we have certain ESG initiatives, goals and commitments, including in relation to sustainability and inclusion and diversity, there can be no
assurance that investors and other stakeholders will determine that these programs are sufficiently robust. There can be no assurance that we will be able to
accomplish any announced goals related to such initiatives, as statements regarding our ESG-related goals reflect our current plans and aspirations and are
not guarantees that we will be able to achieve them within the timelines we announce or at all. Our ability to achieve our ESG commitments, including our
goals relating to sustainability and inclusion and diversity, is also subject to numerous risks, many of which are outside of our control. Methodologies for
reporting ESG data may be updated and previously reported ESG data may be adjusted to reflect improvement in availability and quality of third-party data,
changing assumptions, changes in the nature and scope of our operations and other changes in circumstances. Our processes and controls for reporting
ESG matters across our operations and supply chain are evolving along with multiple disparate standards for identifying, measuring, and reporting ESG
metrics, including ESG-related disclosures that may be required by the SEC, European and other regulators, and such standards may change over time,
which could result in significant revisions to our current goals, reported progress in achieving such goals, or ability to achieve such goals in the future as well
as additional costs and administrative burden that may result from compliance efforts in connection with such evolving standards.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If we cannot protect our brand through our intellectual property rights, our business may be harmed.

We believe that developing and maintaining our brand is critical to achieving widespread acceptance of our services and solutions and is an important
element in attracting new clients and retaining existing clients. We rely on our brand names, trademarks, trade names and service marks to distinguish our
services and solutions from the services of our competitors. If we are unable to adequately protect our brand, trademarks and other intellectual property
rights, third parties may use brand names or trademarks similar to ours in a manner that may cause confusion or dilute our brand or trademarks, which could
decrease the value of our brand. From time to time, third parties may challenge our use of our trademarks. If we do enforce our trademarks and our other
intellectual property rights through litigation, we may not be successful and the litigation may result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and
management attention. In the event that our trademarks are successfully challenged, we could be forced to rebrand the affected services and solutions,
which could result in loss of brand recognition and could have a material adverse impact on our business.

We may not be able to prevent unauthorized use of our or our clients’ intellectual property, and our business and competitive position may be
damaged as a result.

We rely on a combination of copyright, trademark, patent and unfair competition laws, as well as intellectual property assignment and confidentiality
agreements and other methods to protect our intellectual property rights. Protection of intellectual property rights and confidentiality in some countries,
including China, India and Brazil, in which we operate may not be as effective as in other countries with more developed intellectual property protections.
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We require our employees and independent contractors to assign to us all intellectual property and work product they create in connection with their
employment or engagement. These assignment agreements also obligate our people to keep proprietary information confidential. While it is our policy to
require our employees and independent contractors who may be involved in the conception or development of intellectual property to execute agreements
assigning such intellectual property to us, we may be unsuccessful in executing such an agreement with each party who, in fact, conceives or develops
intellectual property that we regard as our own. The assignment of intellectual property rights may not be self-executing, or the assignment agreements may
be breached, and we may be forced to bring claims against third parties, or defend claims that they may bring against us, to determine the ownership of what
we regard as our intellectual property. If these agreements are not enforceable in any of the jurisdictions in which we operate, we cannot ensure that we will
own the intellectual property they create or that our clients’ proprietary information will not be disclosed. Reverse engineering, unauthorized copying or other
misappropriation of our clients’ proprietary technologies, tools and applications could enable unauthorized parties to benefit from our clients’ technologies,
tools and applications without payment and may make us liable to our clients for damages and compensation, which could harm our business and
competitive position.

We may face intellectual property infringement, misappropriations or other violation claims that could be time-consuming and costly to defend. If
we fail to defend ourselves against such claims, we may lose significant intellectual property rights, our reputation may be damaged, we may
lose clients and our business could be materially adversely affected.

Our success largely depends on our ability to use and develop our technology, tools, code, methodologies, solutions and services for our clients without
infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating third parties’ intellectual property rights, including patents, copyrights, trade secrets and trademarks. We
may be unaware of intellectual property rights relating to our solutions or services that could give rise to potential infringement, misappropriation or violation
claims against us or our clients. If those intellectual property rights are potentially relevant to our service offerings, we may need to license those rights in
order to continue to use the applicable technology, but the holders of those intellectual property rights may be unwilling to license those rights to us on
commercially acceptable terms, if at all.

We typically indemnify clients who purchase our services and solutions against potential infringement of third-party intellectual property rights, which subjects
us to the risk and cost of defending the underlying infringement claims. These claims may require us to initiate or defend protracted and costly litigation on
behalf of our clients, regardless of the merits of these claims, and our indemnification obligations are often not subject to liability limits or exclusion of
consequential, indirect or punitive damages. Intellectual property litigation could also divert our management’s attention from our business and existing or
potential clients could defer or limit their purchase or use of our software product development services or solutions until we resolve such litigation. If any of
these claims succeed, we may be forced to pay damages on behalf of our clients, redesign or cease offering our allegedly infringing tools, services or
solutions to that client, or obtain a license for the intellectual property that such services or solutions allegedly infringe. If we cannot obtain all necessary
licenses on commercially reasonable terms, the affected client may be forced to stop using our services or solutions.

Any of these actions, regardless of the outcome of litigation or merits of the claim, could damage our reputation and materially adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our stock price may be volatile, and the value of our common stock may decline.

The market price of our common stock may be highly volatile and may fluctuate or decline substantially as a result of a variety of factors, some of which are
beyond our control, including without limitation:

• actual or anticipated fluctuations in our financial condition or results of operations;
• variance in our financial performance from expectations of securities analysts;
• changes in our projected operating and financial results;
• announcements by us or our competitors of significant business developments, acquisitions, or new offerings;
• significant data breaches, disruptions to, or other incidents involving our services;
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• our involvement in litigation;
• future sales of our common stock by us or our stockholders, including as a result of our contractual and other Company-imposed equity plan lock-up

releases, or the perception that such sales may occur;
• illiquidity in our stock;
• changes in senior management or key personnel;
• the trading volume of our common stock;
• changes in the anticipated future size and growth rate of our market; and
• general macroeconomic, geopolitical and market conditions beyond our control.

Broad market and industry fluctuations, as well as general economic, political, regulatory, and market conditions, such as recessions, interest rate changes,
or international currency fluctuations, may also negatively impact the market price of our common stock. In addition, technology stocks have historically
experienced high levels of volatility. In the past, companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their securities have been subject to
securities class action litigation. We may be the target of this type of litigation in the future, which could result in substantial expenses and divert our
management’s attention.

Our issuance of additional capital stock in connection with financings, acquisitions, investments, our equity incentive plans, or otherwise will
dilute all other stockholders.

We expect to issue additional capital stock in the future that will result in dilution to all other stockholders. We expect to grant equity awards to employees,
directors, and consultants under our equity incentive plans. We may also raise capital through equity financings in the future. As part of our business
strategy, we may acquire or make investments in companies, products, or technologies and issue equity securities to pay for any such acquisition or
investment. Any such issuances of additional capital stock may cause stockholders to experience significant dilution of their ownership interests and the per
share value of our common stock to decline.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish unfavorable or inaccurate research about our business, the market price and
trading volume of our common stock could decline.

The market price and trading volume of our common stock is heavily influenced by the way analysts interpret our financial information and other disclosures.
We do not have control over these analysts. If securities analysts or industry analysts cease coverage of us, our stock price would be negatively affected. If
securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, downgrade our common stock, or publish negative reports about our
business, our stock price would likely decline.

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future and, as a result, the ability of the holders of our common stock to achieve a return
on their investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.

We do not intend to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our Board.
Accordingly, holders of our common stock may need to rely on sales of our common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way
to realize any future gains on their investment.

The Apax Funds control us, and their interests may conflict with ours or yours in the future.

The Apax Funds indirectly beneficially own approximately 61.3% as of December 31, 2023, of our common stock. As a result, the Apax Funds are able to
control the election and removal of directors on the Board and thereby determine our corporate and management policies, including potential mergers or
acquisitions, payment of dividends, asset sales, amendment of our certificate of incorporation or bylaws, and other significant corporate transactions for so
long as the Apax Funds and their affiliates retain significant ownership of us. This concentration of our ownership may delay or deter possible changes in
control of the Company, which may reduce the value of an investment in our common stock. Even when the Apax Funds cease to own shares of our stock
representing a majority of the total voting power, for so long as the Apax Funds continue to own a significant portion of our stock, the Apax Funds will still be
able to significantly influence the composition of our Board and the approval of actions requiring shareholder approval. Accordingly, for such period of time,
the Apax Funds will have significant influence with respect to our
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management, business plans and policies, including the appointment and removal of our officers, decisions on whether to raise future capital, and amending
our charter and bylaws, which govern the rights attached to our common stock. In particular, for so long as the Apax Funds continue to beneficially own a
significant percentage of our stock, the Apax Funds could cause or prevent a change of control of the Company or a change in the composition of our Board
and could preclude any unsolicited acquisition of us. The concentration of ownership could deprive you of an opportunity to receive a premium for your
shares of common stock as part of a sale of us and ultimately might affect the market price of our common stock.

On September 17, 2021, we entered into a director nomination agreement (the "Director Nomination Agreement") with the Apax Funds through their control
of Turing EquityCo. II L.P. that provides the Apax Funds the right, but not the obligation, to nominate a number of individuals designated for election as our
Board at any meeting of our stockholders (the “Apax Directors”), such that, upon the election of each such individual, and each other individual nominated by
or at the direction of our Board or a duly-authorized committee of the board, as a director of our company, the number of Apax Directors serving as directors
of our company will be equal to: (i) if the Apax Funds and their affiliates together continue to beneficially own at least 50% of the total voting power of the
outstanding shares of our common stock, the lowest whole number that is greater than 50% of the total number of directors comprising our Board; (ii) if the
Apax Funds and their affiliates together continue to beneficially own at least 40% (but less than 50%) of the total voting power of the outstanding shares of
our common stock, the lowest whole number that is at least 40% of the total number of directors comprising our Board; (iii) if the Apax Funds and their
affiliates together continue to beneficially own at least 30% (but less than 40%) of the total voting power of the outstanding shares of our common stock, the
lowest whole number that is at least 30% of the total number of directors comprising our Board; (iv) if the Apax Funds and their affiliates together continue to
beneficially own at least 20% (but less than 30%) of the total voting power of the outstanding shares of our common stock, the lowest whole number that is
at least 20% of the total number of directors comprising our Board; and (v) if the Apax Funds and their affiliates together continue to beneficially own at least
10% (but less than 20%) of the total voting power of the outstanding shares of our common stock, the lowest whole number that is at least 10% of the total
number of directors comprising our Board. The Apax Funds may also assign such rights to their affiliates. The Director Nomination Agreement also provides
for certain consent rights for the Apax Funds so long as they own at least 50% of the total voting power of the outstanding shares of our common stock.
Additionally, the Director Nomination Agreement also prohibits us from increasing or decreasing the size of our Board without the prior written consent of the
Apax Funds for so long as the Apax Funds hold at least 40% of the total voting power of the outstanding shares of our common stock.

Apax Partners, the Apax Funds and their affiliates engage in a broad spectrum of activities, including investments in the software industry and technology
industry generally. In the ordinary course of their business activities, Apax Partners, the Apax Funds and their affiliates may engage in activities where their
interests conflict with our interests or those of our other shareholders, such as investing in or advising businesses that directly or indirectly compete with
certain portions of our business or are suppliers or clients of ours. Our certificate of incorporation provides that none of Apax Partners, the Apax Funds, any
of their affiliates, or any director who is not employed by us (including any non-employee director who serves as one of our officers in both his or her director
and officer capacities) will have any duty to refrain from engaging, directly or indirectly, in the same business activities or similar business activities or lines of
business in which we operate. Apax Partners and the Apax Funds also may pursue acquisition opportunities that may be complementary to our business,
and, as a result, those acquisition opportunities may not be available to us. In addition, Apax Partners and the Apax Funds may have an interest in pursuing
acquisitions, divestitures and other transactions that, in their judgment, could enhance their investment, even though such transactions might involve risks to
you.

We are a “controlled company” within the meaning of Nasdaq rules and, as a result, we will qualify for, and intend to rely on, exemptions from
certain corporate governance requirements. You will not have the same protections as those afforded to stockholders of companies that are
subject to such governance requirements.

The Apax Funds continue to indirectly control a majority of the voting power of our outstanding common stock. As a result, we are a “controlled company”
within the meaning of the corporate governance standards of Nasdaq. Under these rules, a company of which more than 50% of the voting power for the
election of directors is held by an individual, group or another company is a “controlled company” and may elect not to comply with certain corporate
governance requirements, including:

• the requirement that a majority of our Board consist of independent directors;
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• the requirement that we have a nominating and corporate governance committee that is composed entirely of independent directors with a written
charter addressing the committee’s purpose and responsibilities; and

• the requirement that we have a compensation committee that is composed entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing the
committee’s purpose and responsibilities.

In the future, we may not have a majority of independent directors on our Board, our Compensation and Talent Committee and our Nominating and
Governance Committee may not consist entirely of independent directors, and our Compensation and Talent and Nominating and Governance Committees
may not be subject to annual performance evaluations. Accordingly, you will not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of companies that are
subject to all of the corporate governance requirements of other companies listed on Nasdaq.

As a result of being a public company, we are obligated to maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting, and any failure
to maintain the adequacy of these internal controls may adversely affect investor confidence in our company and, as a result, the value of our
common stock.

We are required, pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 ("SOX"), to furnish a report by management on, among other things, the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. This assessment includes disclosure of any material weaknesses identified by our management
in our internal control over financial reporting. In addition, our independent registered public accounting firm is required to attest to the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting. Our compliance with Section 404 requires that we incur substantial expenses and expend significant management
efforts.

During the evaluation and testing process of our internal controls, if we identify one or more material weaknesses in our internal control over financial
reporting, we will be unable to certify that our internal control over financial reporting is effective. We cannot assure you that there will not be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting in the future. Any failure to maintain internal control over financial
reporting could severely inhibit our ability to accurately report our financial condition or results of operations. If we are unable to conclude that our internal
control over financial reporting is effective, or if our independent registered public accounting firm determines we have a material weakness or significant
deficiency in our internal control over financial reporting, we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, the
market price of our common stock could decline, and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by the SEC or other regulatory authorities. Failure to
remedy any material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, or to implement or maintain other effective control systems required of public
companies, could also restrict our future access to the capital markets.

Provisions of our corporate governance documents could make an acquisition of us more difficult and may prevent attempts by our shareholders
to replace or remove our current management, even if beneficial to our shareholders.

In addition to the Apax Funds’ beneficial ownership of 61.3% as of December 31, 2023, of our common stock, our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and
the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”) contain provisions that could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us, even if doing so might
be beneficial to our shareholders. Among other things:

• these provisions allow us to authorize the issuance of undesignated preferred stock, the terms of which may be established and the shares of which
may be issued without shareholder approval, and which may include supermajority voting, special approval, dividend or other rights or preferences
superior to the rights of shareholders;

• these provisions provide for a classified Board with staggered three-year terms;
• these provisions provide that, at any time when the Apax Funds beneficially own, in the aggregate, less than 50% in voting power of our stock entitled

to vote generally in the election of directors, directors may only be removed for cause, and only by the affirmative vote of holders of at least 66 % in
voting power of all the then-outstanding shares of our stock entitled to vote thereon, voting together as a single class;

• these provisions prohibit shareholder action by written consent from and after the date on which the Apax Funds beneficially own, in the aggregate, less
than 50% in voting power of our stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors;
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• these provisions provide that, for as long as the Apax Funds beneficially own, in the aggregate, at least 50% in voting power of our stock entitled to vote
generally in the election of directors, any amendment, alteration, rescission or repeal of our bylaws by our shareholders will require the affirmative vote
of a majority in voting power of the outstanding shares of our stock and at any time when the Apax Funds beneficially own, in the aggregate, less than
50% in voting power of all outstanding shares of our stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, any amendment, alteration, rescission
or repeal of our bylaws by our shareholders will require the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 66 % in voting power of all the then-outstanding
shares of our stock entitled to vote thereon, voting together as a single class; and

• these provisions establish advance notice requirements for nominations for elections to our Board or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by
shareholders at shareholder meetings.

Our certificate of incorporation contains a provision that provides us with protections similar to Section 203 of the DGCL and will prevent us from engaging in
a business combination with a person (excluding the Apax Funds and any of their direct or indirect transferees and any group as to which such persons are
a party) who acquires at least 15% of our common stock for a period of three years from the date such person acquired such common stock, unless board or
shareholder approval is obtained prior to the acquisition. These provisions could discourage, delay or prevent a transaction involving a change in control of
us. These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for you and other shareholders to elect directors of your choosing and
cause us to take other corporate actions you desire, including actions that you may deem advantageous, or negatively affect the trading price of our common
stock. In addition, because our Board is responsible for appointing the members of our management team, these provisions could in turn affect any attempt
by our shareholders to replace current members of our management team.

These and other provisions in our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and Delaware law could make it more difficult for shareholders or potential acquirers to
obtain control of our Board or initiate actions that are opposed by our then-current Board, including delay or impede a merger, tender offer or proxy contest
involving our company. The existence of these provisions could negatively affect the price of our common stock and limit opportunities for you to realize
value in a corporate transaction.

Our certificate of incorporation designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the exclusive forum for certain litigation that may be
initiated by our shareholders and the federal district courts of the United States as the exclusive forum for litigation arising under the Securities
Act, which could limit our shareholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us.

Pursuant to our certificate of incorporation, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of
Delaware will be the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a
fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers or other employees to us or our shareholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim against us arising
pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, our certificate of incorporation or our bylaws, or (iv) any other action asserting a claim against us that is governed by
the internal affairs doctrine; provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, the forum selection provision that identifies the Court of Chancery of the State of
Delaware as the exclusive forum for certain litigation, including any “derivative action,” will not apply to suits to enforce a duty or liability created by the
Securities Act, the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. Our certificate of incorporation provides that,
unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the U.S. shall be the exclusive forum for the resolution of
any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. However, Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for
federal and state courts over all suits brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder; accordingly,
we cannot be certain that a court would enforce such a provision. Our certificate of incorporation further provides that any person or entity purchasing or
otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock is deemed to have notice of and consented to the provisions of our certificate of incorporation
described above; however, our shareholders will not be deemed to have waived (and cannot waive) compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules
and regulations thereunder. The forum selection clause in our certificate of incorporation may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against us or our
directors and officers and may limit our shareholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us. If the enforceability of our forum
selection provision were to be challenged, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such a challenge. While we currently have no basis to
expect that any such challenge would be successful, if a court were to find our forum selection provision to be inapplicable or unenforceable, we may incur
additional costs associated with having to litigate in other
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jurisdictions, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations and result in a diversion of the time and
resources of our employees, management and Board.

A significant portion of our total outstanding shares may be sold into the market. This could cause the market price of our common stock to drop
significantly, even if our business is doing well.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could occur at any time. These sales, or the perception in the market that
the holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of our common stock. In addition, pursuant to a Registration
Rights Agreement, certain holders of shares of our common stock, including the Apax Funds, have the right, in certain circumstances, to require us to
register shares of our common stock under the Securities Act for sale into the public markets. Upon the effectiveness of such a registration statement, all
shares covered by the registration statement will be freely transferable under the Securities Act.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Risk Management and Strategy

We recognize that risk management is an integral part of achieving our organizational goals, enhancing stockholder value and increasing the likelihood of
long-term corporate success. Our processes for assessing, identifying and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats have been integrated into our
overall Enterprise Risk Management ("ERM") program. We maintain a strong cybersecurity program to protect not only our business, but also our clients,
vendors and employees. We have a dedicated Information Security function (“Infosec”) that oversees the company’s cyber risk management and strategy.

As a result of our global business, we must comply with domestic and international laws and regulations. Our privacy and cybersecurity policies encompass
incident response procedures, information security and vendor management. In order to help develop these policies and procedures, we monitor the privacy
and cybersecurity laws, regulations and guidance applicable to us in the regions where we do business. In order to comply with the variety of domestic and
international legal requirements, Infosec aligns the company’s program with common industry frameworks (such as the National Institute of Standards and
Technology (NIST), the International Organization for Standardization (ISO), Cyber Essentials +, and the Trusted Information Security Assessment
Exchange (TISAX)).

To assess and manage risk, we have a formal risk assessment methodology. Risk assessments of our key risk categories are conducted on a continuous
basis. We perform regular internal audits and we use a third party vendor if we need an external audit. Infosec reviews these assessments and takes action
as required to meet compliance requirements. The assessments, along with any mitigation efforts or remediation, are incorporated into our broader risk
management process. Between the risk owner, the Infosec team and, in the case of the most severe risks, the Technology Risk Steering Subcommittee
(described below), mitigations are decided, and remediation assigned to appropriate teams to implement which is, as needed, overseen by the ERM
Steering Committee (described below).

On an on-going basis, our information technology systems are monitored for anomalies, vulnerabilities and misconfigurations. Furthermore, all employees
are required to take an annual security awareness training, with additional role-specific training for employees involved in security and risk management.
With respect to third party service providers, we obligate our vendors to adhere to privacy and cybersecurity measures, and we perform vendor
assessments, including their ability to protect data from unauthorized access.

In order to drive continuous improvement, we have implemented an internal security and data protection maturity assessment for our client delivery teams. In
addition, we commission an independent external assessment of our cybersecurity maturity annually. The results of these assessments are shared with the
Board, key senior leadership, and the Infosec leadership team to develop and inform our strategy for the coming year.
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As described in Item 1A “Risk Factors," our operations rely on the secure processing, storage and transmission of confidential and other information in our
computer systems and networks. Computer viruses, hackers, employee or vendor misconduct, and other external hazards could expose our information
systems and those of our vendors to security breaches, cybersecurity incidents or other disruptions, any of which could materially and adversely affect our
business. While we have experienced cybersecurity events, to date, we are not aware that we have experienced a material cybersecurity incident.

The sophistication of cybersecurity threats, including through the use of artificial intelligence, continues to increase, and the controls and preventative actions
we take to reduce the risk of cybersecurity incidents and protect our systems, including the regular testing of our cybersecurity incident response plan, may
be insufficient. In addition, new technology that could result in greater operational efficiency may further expose our computer systems to the risk of
cybersecurity incidents.

Governance

Thoughtworks has a multilayer approach to governance of its cybersecurity program. Our Board of Directors encourages management to promote a culture
that incorporates risk management into our corporate strategy and day-to-day business operations. Management discusses strategic, operational, financial
and legal risks at regular management meetings and raises strategic issues and points of concern with the Board of Directors, or its standing
subcommittees, through regularly scheduled or, if necessary, special meetings, as needed. Our Audit Committee, comprised of independent directors from
our Board, oversees the Board’s responsibilities relating to the operational risk affairs of the Company, including information technology risks, business
continuity and data security. Our Audit Committee is informed of such risks through an annual board meeting.

Nitin Raina has been our Chief Information Security Officer ("CISO") since 2022. Prior to that, Mr. Raina was Vice President of Cyber and Information
Security between 2020 and 2022. From 2015 to 2022, he was Global Director of Information Security. Mr. Raina has over 25 years of work experience in
information technology and cybersecurity. Mr. Raina earned a Bachelor of Engineering, Electronic and Telecommunications from the COEP Technology
University in Pune, India and a Post Graduate Diploma in Information Technology from the Symbiosis Centre for Distance Learning. Mr. Raina also holds the
Certified Information Systems Security Professional (CISSP), Certified Information Security Manager (CISM) industry certifications and Board Qualified
Technology Executive (QTE).

We also have management level committees, along with Infosec, who support our processes to assess and manage cybersecurity risk as follows:

• The ERM Steering Committee, composed of members from senior leadership, including our CISO, regularly assesses and prioritizes enterprise
risks and oversees appropriate mitigation plans.

• The Technology Risk Steering Subcommittee, composed of members of senior leadership, which includes our Chief Talent and Operating Officer,
Chief Information Officer, General Counsel and Chief Compliance Officer, Chief Technology Officer, and Chief Information Security Officer,
discusses technology risks, cyber risks, data protection risks and opportunities to enable safe, effective, and efficient execution of business
objectives.

The CISO, in coordination with management level committees, along with Infosec, works collaboratively across the Company to implement a program
designed to protect the Company’s information systems from cybersecurity threats and to promptly respond to any material cybersecurity incidents in
accordance with the Company’s incident response and recovery plans. To facilitate the success of the Company’s cybersecurity program, cross-functional
teams throughout the Company address cybersecurity threats and respond to cybersecurity incidents. Through ongoing communications with these teams,
the CISO and senior management are informed about and monitor the prevention, detection, mitigation and remediation of cybersecurity threats and
incidents in real time.

At least once a year, the Board of Directors receives an update on the risk management process and enterprise risks, including those related to
cybersecurity and data privacy. If there are any significant or critical cybersecurity threats or incidents, management will provide special reports to either the
Audit Committee or the Board of Directors, depending on the severity of the threat or incident.

Please see our 2023 Proxy Statement filed April 14, 2023 for more information regarding our ERM program.
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Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters are leased and located at 200 E. Randolph Street, in Chicago, Illinois. We also lease additional office space domestically in
Chicago, Illinois; New York, New York; and San Francisco, California. In addition, we lease office space in various international locations, including offices in
Australia, Brazil, Canada, Chile, China, Ecuador, Finland, Germany, India, Italy, Netherlands, Romania, Singapore, Spain, Switzerland, Thailand, the United
Kingdom and Vietnam.

We may procure additional space as we add employees and expand geographically. We believe that our facilities are adequate to meet our needs for the
immediate future and that suitable additional space will be available to accommodate any expansion of our operations as needed.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may be involved in litigation relating to claims arising out of our operations and businesses that cover a wide range of matters,
including, among others, intellectual property, data privacy and cybersecurity, contract and employment, personal injury, product liability and warranty.
Currently, there are no claims or proceedings against us that we believe will have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows. However, the results of any current or future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty and, regardless of the outcome, we may
incur significant costs and experience a diversion of management resources as a result of litigation.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

Market Information for Common Stock

Our common stock began trading on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “TWKS” on September 15, 2021. Prior to that date, there was no
public trading market for our common stock.

Holders of Record

As of February 22, 2024, there were 16 holders of record of our common stock. Because many of our shares of common stock are held in street name by
brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of stockholders represented by these holders of record.

Dividend Policy

We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings to fund the development and growth of our business and to repay indebtedness and,
therefore, we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Additionally, our ability to pay dividends on our common stock is limited
by restrictions on the ability of our subsidiaries to pay dividends or make distributions to us, including as a result of the restrictions in our credit agreement.
Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our Board, subject to compliance with covenants in current and future agreements
governing our and our subsidiaries’ indebtedness and requirements under Delaware law, and will depend on our results of operations, financial condition,
capital requirements and other factors that our Board may deem relevant.

Because we are a holding company and have no direct operations, we will only be able to pay dividends from our available cash on hand and any funds we
received from our subsidiaries.

Under Delaware law, dividends may be payable only out of surplus, which is calculated as our net assets less our liabilities and our capital, or, if we have no
surplus, out of our net profits for the fiscal year in which the dividend is declared and/or the preceding fiscal year.

See “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Common Stock—We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future and, as a result, the ability of the
holders of our common stock to achieve a return on their investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.”

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The information required by this item will be filed (and is hereby incorporated by reference) by an amendment hereto or pursuant to a definitive proxy
statement pursuant to Regulation 14A that will contain such information.

Stock Performance Graph

The performance graph shall not be deemed "soliciting material" or to be "filed" with the SEC for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise
subject to the liabilities under that Section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any of our filings under the Securities Act or the
Exchange Act.

The following graph and related information shows a comparison of the change in the cumulative total return of our common stock, the Nasdaq Composite
Index and the S&P 500 Information Technology Index, between September 15, 2021 (the date our common stock commenced trading on Nasdaq) and
December 31, 2023. All values assume an initial investment of $100 and reinvestment of any dividends. The comparisons are based
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on historical data and are not indicative of, nor intended to forecast, the future performance of our common stock.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

There were no unregistered sales of equity securities during the year ended December 31, 2023.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

None.

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial
statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis,
including information with respect to our plans and strategy for our business, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You
should read the sections titled “Risk Factors” and “Forward-Looking Statements and Risk Factor Summary” herein for a discussion of important factors that
could cause actual results to differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion
and analysis.

A discussion of our financial condition and results of operations for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2022 is presented below. A discussion of our financial condition and results of operations for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022
compared to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 is included under "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on
February 28, 2023.

Overview

We are a global technology consultancy that integrates strategy, design and engineering to drive digital innovation. We are 10,848 Thoughtworkers strong
across 48 offices in 19 countries. Over the last 30 years, we have delivered extraordinary impact together with our clients by helping them solve complex
business problems with technology as the differentiator.

Our revenues are generated from providing professional services based on the mix and locations of delivery professionals involved, the pricing structure,
which is predominantly time-and-materials, and the type of services, including: enterprise modernization, platforms & cloud; customer experience, product &
design; data & artificial intelligence; DAMO managed services; and digital transformation & operations.

In February 2023, we completed the acquisition of ITOC Pty Ltd ("Itoc"), a leading Amazon Web Services Advanced Consulting Partner and Cloud Managed
Services Provider in Australia. The acquisition expands our capabilities to help modernize and place digital at the center of client operations as they
transition to the cloud. Refer to Note 3, Acquisitions, in the notes to our consolidated financial statements for further detail.

Key Operational and Business Metrics

In addition to the measures presented in our consolidated financial statements, we use the following key operational and business metrics to evaluate our
business, measure our performance, develop financial forecasts and make strategic decisions (in thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Revenues $ 1,126,816 $ 1,296,238 $ 1,069,945 

Revenue Growth Rate as reported (1) (13.1)% 21.1 % 33.2 %

Revenue Growth Rate at constant currency (1) (12.6)% 26.8 % 29.3 %

Net loss $ (68,661) $ (105,393) $ (575)

Net loss margin (6.1)% (8.1)% (0.1)%

Adjusted Net Income (2) $ 37,286 $ 139,911 $ 125,400 

Adjusted EBITDA (3) $ 111,735 $ 256,793 $ 223,247 

Adjusted EBITDA Margin (3) 9.9 % 19.8 % 20.9 %
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(1) Certain of our subsidiaries use functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar and the translation of these foreign currency amounts into the U.S. dollar
can impact the comparability of our revenues between periods. Accordingly, we use Revenue Growth Rate at constant currency as an important
indicator of our underlying performance. Revenue Growth Rate at constant currency is a Non-GAAP measure and is calculated by applying the average
exchange rates in effect during the earlier comparative fiscal period to the later fiscal period.

(2) We use Adjusted Net Income as an important indicator of our performance. See “—Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below for a definition of and
reconciliation of Adjusted Net Income to net loss, the most directly comparable GAAP measure, how we use this measure and an explanation of why we
consider this non-GAAP measure to be helpful for investors.

(3) We also use Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin as important indicators of our performance. See “—Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below
for a definition of and a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net loss, the most directly comparable GAAP measure, how we use Adjusted EBITDA and
Adjusted EBITDA Margin and an explanation of why we consider these non-GAAP measures to be helpful for investors.

Revenue Growth Rate and Revenue Growth Rate at constant currency

For the year ended December 31, 2023, revenues decreased 13.1% over the prior year. The decrease in revenue was due to a more cautionary
macroeconomic environment compared to the prior year, particularly in the IT services market, combined with incremental project start ups, shorter contract
terms, client budget caution and lower headcount, which caused lower revenues for the year ended December 31, 2023. Further, a larger percentage of our
work was performed offshore which has lower bill rates than onshore work. Acquisitions completed in the last twelve months contributed approximately 2%
to revenue growth for the year ended December 31, 2023. Had our consolidated revenues been expressed in constant currency terms using the exchange
rates in effect for the year ended December 31, 2022, we would have reported a decrease in revenues of 12.6% in 2023. The negative impact to revenues
from foreign currencies was due to the appreciation of the U.S. dollar relative to certain principal functional currencies of our subsidiaries.

For more detail regarding our exposure to foreign currency rate fluctuations, see Note 2, Revenue Recognition, to our consolidated financial statements and
“Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.”

Net Loss, Net Loss Margin and Adjusted Net Income

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the $36.7 million decrease in net loss and 2.0 percentage point decrease in net loss margin as compared to the
year ended December 31, 2022 were primarily driven by decreased stock-based compensation expense of $184.9 million, which includes a decrease of
$146.7 million of expense mainly related to IPO grants that are fully vested as of December 31, 2023 and $46.7 million related to the approval of China
SAFE during the first quarter of 2022, partially offset by an increase of $8.5 million of expense primarily related to the annual grant; a decrease in payroll
expense (excluding stock-based compensation) of $26.3 million; partially offset by a $169.4 million decrease in revenue, as discussed above. For more
information, see “—Results of Operations.” We consider net loss margin as the most directly comparable GAAP measure to Adjusted EBITDA Margin.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the decrease in Adjusted Net Income as compared to 2022 of $102.6 million, or (73.4)%, was primarily due to a
decrease in revenue of $169.4 million, as discussed above, partially offset by a decrease in payroll expense (excluding stock-based compensation and
employer payroll related expense on employee equity incentive plan) of $21.2 million and a $46.8 million decrease in income tax expense. Adjusted Net
Income excludes the impact of restructuring charges.

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the $145.1 million, or (56.5)%, decrease in Adjusted EBITDA compared to 2022 was primarily due to the factors
driving a decrease in revenue, as discussed above. For the year ended December 31, 2023, the 990 basis point decrease in Adjusted EBITDA Margin was
driven by a
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decrease in revenue, as noted above, partially offset by a $21.2 million decrease in payroll expense (excluding stock-based compensation and employer
payroll related expense on employee equity incentive plan).

Components of Our Operating Results

We operate and manage our business as one reportable segment. While the Company has offerings in multiple market segments and operates in multiple
countries, the Company’s business operates as one operating segment. Almost all of the Company’s service offerings are delivered and supported on a
global basis. Additionally, most of the Company’s service offerings are deployed in a nearly identical way and the Company’s chief operating decision maker,
who is the Company's Chief Executive Officer, evaluates the Company’s financial information and resources and assesses the performance of these
resources on a consolidated basis.

Revenues

Time-and-Materials Revenues. We generate the majority of our revenues under time-and-materials contracts, which are billed using hourly, daily, or monthly
rates to determine the amounts to be charged directly to the customer. Revenue from time-and-materials contracts is based on the number of hours worked
and at contractually agreed-upon hourly rates and is recognized as those services are rendered as control of the services passes to the customer over time.

Fixed-Price Revenues. Fixed-price contracts include application development arrangements, and with certain contracts, progress towards satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured using input methods as there is a direct correlation between hours incurred and the end deliverable to the customer.
With other contracts, progress towards the satisfaction of the performance obligation is measured using input methods with a direct correlation to resources
consumed and the services provided to the customer. Assumptions, risks, and uncertainties inherent in the estimates used to measure progress could affect
the amount of revenues, receivables, and deferred revenues at each reporting period. Revenues under these contracts are recognized using costs incurred
to date relative to total estimated costs at completion to measure progress toward satisfying performance obligations or based on resources utilized at
contractually agreed-upon fixed rates.

For a detailed discussion of our revenue recognition policy, refer to Note 1, Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Note 2, Revenue
Recognition.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenues consists primarily of personnel and related costs directly associated with professional services, including salaries, bonuses, fringe benefits,
stock-based compensation, project related travel costs, and costs of contracted third-party vendors. Also included in cost of revenues is depreciation
attributable to the portion of our property and equipment utilized in the delivery of services to our clients.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Gross profit represents revenues less cost of revenues. Gross margin represents gross profit as a percentage of revenues.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative ("SG&A") expenses represent expenses associated with promoting and selling our services and general and
administrative functions of our business. These expenses include the costs of salaries, bonuses, fringe benefits, stock-based compensation, severance, bad
debt, travel, legal and accounting services, insurance, facilities (including operating leases), advertising and other promotional activities.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization consist primarily of depreciation of fixed assets, amortization of capitalized software development costs (internal-use software)
and amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets.

39



Table of Contents

Restructuring

Restructuring consists of wage-related expenses, such as employee severance and related benefits, and non-wage related expenses, including costs
related to reducing leased office space, vendor contract cancellations and professional fees.

Other (Expense) Income

Other (expense) income consists of interest expense, impacts from foreign exchange transactions, gains (losses) on the sale of assets, gains related to the
sale and settlement of trade receivables, change in fair value of contingent consideration and the write-off of deferred financing fees.

Income Tax Expense

Determining the consolidated income tax expense, deferred income tax assets and liabilities and any potential related valuation allowances involves
judgment. We consider factors that may contribute, favorably or unfavorably, to the overall annual effective tax rate in the current year as well as the future.
These factors include statutory tax rates and tax law changes in the countries where we operate as well as consideration of any significant or unusual items.
Our income tax expense includes the impact of provisions established for uncertain income tax positions, as well as any related interest and penalties.
These reserves are adjusted given changing facts and circumstances, such as the closing of a tax audit, statute of limitation lapse or the refinement of an
estimate. To the extent the final outcome of an uncertain income tax position differs from the amounts recorded, such differences will impact our income tax
expense in the period in which such determination is made.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth a summary of our consolidated results of operations for the periods indicated (in thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Revenues $ 1,126,816 $ 1,296,238 $ 1,069,945 

Operating expenses:

Cost of revenues (1) 772,800 950,305 669,681 

Selling, general and administrative expenses (1) 331,830 372,761 333,904 

Depreciation and amortization 23,554 20,484 17,599 

Restructuring (1) 18,944 — — 

(Loss) income from operations (20,312) (47,312) 48,761 

Other (expense) income:

Interest expense (26,238) (22,461) (25,456)

Net realized and unrealized foreign currency gain (loss) 3,875 (5,405) (5,469)

Other (expense) income, net (455) 610 (1,671)

Total other expense (22,818) (27,256) (32,596)

(Loss) income before income taxes (43,130) (74,568) 16,165 

Income tax expense 25,531 30,825 16,740 

Net loss $ (68,661) $ (105,393) $ (575)

Effective tax rate (59.2)% (41.3)% 103.6 %
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(1) Includes stock-based compensation as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Cost of revenues $ 38,981 $ 176,046 $ 60,678 

Selling, general and administrative expenses 25,848 73,869 67,624 

Restructuring 197 — — 

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 65,026 $ 249,915 $ 128,302 

Summary Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2023 with the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Revenues

We have a global footprint with the ability to deliver services from multiple geographic regions. While we continue to derive a substantial part of our overall
revenues from existing clients, we maintain relatively low client concentration among our largest clients. We remain focused on acquiring new clients through
programs designed to generate new business demand and position us as a trusted partner, and we have dedicated new business teams working with
marketing using data-driven approaches to focus on client acquisition efforts.

The following table presents our number of clients, number of clients generating greater than $10 million in revenues and net dollar retention rate:

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Number of clients (1) 502 416

Number of clients generating greater than $10 million in revenues 31 35

Net dollar retention rate (2) 87% 109%

(1) We define clients as those with spend in excess of $25,000 within the preceding twelve months.
(2) We utilize the net dollar retention rate to measure revenue growth from our clients. Net dollar retention rate provides visibility into the risks associated
with our revenues and expected growth, and it measures our ability to continually offer and deliver innovative services to our clients. We use this metric to
appropriately manage resources and client retention and growth, such as account management and capability development of our account leadership
teams. The net dollar retention rate is calculated by dividing (a) the current period revenue from existing clients by (b) the prior comparative period revenue
from existing clients. The decrease was due to the revenue drivers as discussed above.

The following table presents the percentage of revenues from new and existing clients:

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Existing clients (1) 93.2% 87.2%

New clients 6.8% 12.8%

(1) For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we define existing clients as clients for whom we have done work and generated revenues in excess
of $25,000 within the preceding fiscal year.

During the three months and year ended December 31, 2023, we contracted with 46 and 156, respectively, new logos with a higher concentration within the
energy, public and health services industry vertical for both periods.
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Revenues by Industry Vertical

The following table presents our revenues by industry vertical and revenues as a percentage of total revenues by industry vertical for the periods indicated
(in thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Energy, public and health services $294,029 26.1% $316,478 24.4%

Technology and business services 279,264 24.8% 360,117 27.8%

Financial services and insurance 197,407 17.5% 221,748 17.1%

Automotive, travel and transportation 179,268 15.9% 161,164 12.4%

Retail and consumer 176,848 15.7% 236,731 18.3%

Total revenues $1,126,816 100.0% $1,296,238 100.0%

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we saw a decrease in revenue in the retail and consumer, technology and business services, financial services
and insurance and energy, public and health services industry verticals of (25.3)%, (22.5)%, (11.0)% and (7.1)%, respectively, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2022. The decreases in these verticals were driven by incremental project start ups, shorter contract terms and client budget caution as
discussed above.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the automotive, travel and transportation industry vertical grew by 11.2% compared to the year ended
December 31, 2022 driven by client engagements for enterprise modernization, platforms and cloud and customer experience, product and design.

Revenues by Customer Location

Our revenues are sourced from four geographic markets: North America, APAC, Europe and LATAM. We present and discuss our revenues by the
geographic location where the revenues are under client contract; however, the delivery of those client contracts could be supported by offshore delivery
locations.

As of December 31, 2023, 9 out of our top 10 clients by revenue relied on Thoughtworks’ delivery from more than one region. We utilize a blended delivery
model, which means we are able to offer a combination of local talent with nearshore/offshore talent, allowing us to maintain close proximity to our clients for
context and local market knowledge, while driving rapid and high-quality delivery at scale.

The following table presents our revenues by customer location and revenues as a percentage of total revenues by customer location for the periods
indicated (in thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

North America $417,571 37.1% $503,948 38.9%

APAC 387,061 34.3% 419,982 32.4%

Europe 280,390 24.9% 315,875 24.4%

LATAM 41,794 3.7% 56,433 4.3%

Total revenues $1,126,816 100.0% $1,296,238 100.0%

For the year ended December 31, 2023, we had a decrease in revenue of (17.1)% in North America, with the United States contributing $402.6 million of our
North America revenues, compared to $474.3 million for the same period in 2022. The largest revenue concentration came from the energy, public and
health services and technology and business services industry verticals.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, we had a decrease in revenue of (7.8)% in APAC where the top revenue contributing customer location country was
Australia with revenues of $116.4 million compared to $148.3 million for the same period in 2022. The largest revenue concentration came from the financial
services and insurance industry vertical.
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For the year ended December 31, 2023, we had a decrease in revenue of (11.2)% in Europe where the top revenue contributing customer location country
was Germany with revenues of $125.3 million compared to $123.4 million for the same period in 2022. The largest revenue concentration came from the
automotive, travel and transportation industry vertical.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, we had a decrease in revenue of (25.9)% in LATAM, with Brazil being our largest customer location. The largest
revenue concentration came from the financial services and insurance and retail and consumer industry verticals.

Revenues by Client Concentration

We have long-standing relationships with many of our clients. We seek to grow revenues from our existing clients by continually increasing the value we
provide and expanding the scope and size of our engagements. Revenues derived from these clients may fluctuate as these accounts mature or upon
beginning or completing multi-year projects. We believe there is significant potential for future growth as we expand our capabilities and offerings within
existing clients. In addition, we remain committed to diversifying our client base and adding new clients to our client mix.

The following table presents revenues contributed by our largest clients by amount and as a percentage of total revenues for the periods indicated (in
thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Top five clients $201,760 17.9% $199,837 15.4%

Top ten clients $310,915 27.6% $320,580 24.7%

Top fifty clients $736,241 65.3% $830,614 64.1%

People Metrics

Number of employees Average revenue per employee (1) Voluntary Attrition

As of Year Ended Year Ended

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

10,848 12,671 $98,000 $108,000 12.0% 12.0%

(1) We define average revenue per employee as total revenues for the period divided by the average number of employees in such period.

The decrease in average revenue per employee compared to the year ended December 31, 2022 was driven by the negative impact to revenues from client
budget caution and onshore/offshore mix. We believe our flat voluntary attrition reflects our ability to retain our employees due to our unique, cultivating
culture, our focus on career development, our intensive training programs and our interesting work opportunities.

Bookings

We use Bookings ("Bookings") as a forward-looking metric that measures the value of new contracts, renewals, extensions and changes to existing
contracts during the fiscal period. We believe Bookings provides a broad measure of useful trend information regarding changes in the volume of our
business. We use Bookings to evaluate the results of our operations, generate future operating plans and assess the performance of our company. However,
Bookings can vary significantly quarter to quarter due to both timing and demand from our clients and thus the conversion of Bookings to revenues is
uncertain. The amount of Bookings involves estimates and judgments and is not a reliable predictor of revenues over time. There is no standard definition or
measurement of Bookings thus our methodology may not be comparable to other companies. Bookings were $1.2 billion and $1.4 billion for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The 14.3% decrease is primarily a result of reduced client budgets reflecting caution around the
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macroeconomic environment and smaller contract sizes which reflect a shift to offshore services, where bill rates are lower compared to onshore work, and,
in certain cases, discounts or pricing adjustments.

Cost of Revenues

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except percentages) 2023 2022 Change % Change

Cost of revenues $772,800 $950,305 $(177,505) (18.7)%

For the year ended December 31, 2023, cost of revenues (including stock-based compensation) decreased (18.7)% compared to 2022. This decrease was
primarily driven by a decrease in stock-based compensation expense of $137.1 million and a decrease in payroll expense (excluding stock-based
compensation) of $29.8 million resulting from a lower headcount.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except percentages) 2023 2022 Change % Change

Gross profit $354,016 $345,933 $8,083 2.3%

Gross margin 31.4% 26.7%

Our gross margin increased by 4.7 percentage points for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to 2022 primarily due to a decrease in stock-based
compensation expense, partially offset by an increase in payroll expense (excluding stock-based compensation), as a percentage of revenues.

SG&A Expenses and SG&A Margin

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except percentages) 2023 2022 Change % Change

SG&A expenses $331,830 $372,761 $(40,931) (11.0)%

SG&A margin 29.4% 28.8%

For the year ended December 31, 2023, SG&A expenses decreased (11.0)% compared to 2022. The decrease was driven by a decrease in stock-based
compensation expense of $48.0 million, partially offset by an increase in payroll expense (excluding stock-based compensation) of $3.5 million. The increase
in SG&A margin for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the year ended December 31, 2022 was primarily driven by increased payroll expense
(excluding stock-based compensation), offset by decreased stock-based compensation expense, as a percentage of revenues.

Depreciation and Amortization

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except percentages) 2023 2022 Change % Change

Depreciation and amortization $23,554 $20,484 $3,070 15.0%

The increase for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to 2022 was primarily due to a $1.4 million increase in intangible amortization related to
acquisitions and a $1.1 million increase in amortization expense related to capitalized software development costs.
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Restructuring

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 Change % Change
(in thousands, except percentages)

Restructuring $18,944 $— $18,944 NM

NM - not meaningful

Restructuring includes wage-related expenses of $17.2 million, such as employee severance and related benefits, of which $7.5 million relates to operations
and $9.7 million relates to professional services, and non-wage related expenses of $1.7 million, including costs related to reducing leased office space,
vendor contract cancellations and professional fees, of which $1.6 million relates to operations and $0.1 million relates to professional services. By the end
of 2023, we achieved $81 million of the annualized savings, positioning us well to continue to drive savings in 2024. For additional information, see Note 14,
Restructuring Actions, in the notes to our consolidated financial statements.

Loss from Operations and Loss from Operations Margin

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except percentages) 2023 2022 Change % Change

Loss from operations $(20,312) $(47,312) $27,000 (57.1)%

Loss from operations margin (1.8)% (3.6)%

The decrease in loss from operations for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to 2022 was primarily driven by a decrease in stock-based
compensation expense of $184.9 million, as previously discussed, and a decrease in payroll expense (excluding stock-based compensation) of
$26.3 million; partially offset by a decrease in revenues of $169.4 million and restructuring costs of $18.9 million. The decrease in loss from operations
margin was driven by decreased stock-based compensation expense, partially offset by payroll expense (excluding stock-based compensation), as a
percentage of revenues.

Interest Expense

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except percentages) 2023 2022 Change % Change

Interest expense $26,238 $22,461 $3,777 16.8%

Interest expense is primarily related to our Term Loan and Revolver. The increase for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to 2022 was primarily
due to the increased interest rate on our borrowings, partially offset by decreased borrowings due to prepayments under our Credit Agreement.

Other Expense (Income), Net

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except percentages) 2023 2022 Change % Change

Other expense (income), net $455 $(610) $1,065 (174.6)%

The change in other expense (income), net for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to 2022 is primarily driven by the $2.3 million gain
recognized in 2022 on the sale and settlement of trade receivables compared to the $0.3 million gain included in 2023 related to the mark to market
adjustment on shares
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received in relation to the aforementioned sale and settlement of trade receivables in 2022. The $2.0 million decrease in the gain noted above was partially
offset by a $0.9 million decrease in the change of the fair value of contingent consideration compared to 2022.

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except percentages) 2023 2022 Change % Change

Income tax expense $25,531 $30,825 $(5,294) (17.2)%

Effective tax rate (59.2)% (41.3)%

The decrease in income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to 2022 was primarily due to the impact of China non-deductible
stock compensation expense, net global intangible low tax income ("GILTI") inclusion, executive compensation expense in compliance with Internal Revenue
Code ("IRC") §162(m), and excess tax deficiencies on stock-based compensation.

The effective tax rate in each period differed from the U.S. statutory tax rate of 21% principally due to U.S. corporate state income taxation and the effect of
foreign operations which reflects the impact of different income tax rates in locations outside the United States, the unfavorable impact of valuation
allowances on deferred tax assets of select foreign operations and excess tax deficiencies on stock-based compensation, the non-deductibility of China
stock compensation expense and executive compensation expense in compliance with IRC §162(m), and the unfavorable impact of capitalized research and
experimental costs under IRC §174 increasing the Company's net GILTI inclusion. The change in the effective tax rate for the year ended December 31,
2023 as compared to the prior year, and the negative effective tax rate for both periods presented, is a result of the aforementioned unique net unfavorable
items when compared to the pre-tax loss.

Foreign Currency Exchange Gains and Losses

See “Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” as well as “Item 1A. Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Global Operations—Our
business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates."

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We define Adjusted Net Income as net loss adjusted for unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss, stock-based compensation expense, amortization of
acquisition-related intangibles, acquisition costs, certain professional fees that are considered unrelated to our ongoing revenue-generating operations,
employer payroll related expense on employee equity incentive plan, final tax assessment for closed operations, tender offer compensation expense that is
considered one-time in nature, IPO-related costs, the change in fair value of contingent consideration, restructuring costs and income tax effects of
adjustments.

We define Adjusted EBITDA as net loss adjusted to exclude income tax expense; interest expense; other expense, net, excluding a gain in 2023 related to
the mark to market adjustment on shares received in relation to the sale and settlement of trade receivables in 2022 and a gain in 2022 from the sale and
settlement of trade receivables; unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss; stock-based compensation expense; depreciation and amortization expense;
acquisition costs; certain professional fees that are considered unrelated to our ongoing revenue-generating operations; employer payroll related expense on
employee equity incentive plan; final tax assessment for closed operations; tender offer compensation expense that is considered one-time in nature; IPO-
related costs; and restructuring costs. Adjusted EBITDA Margin is calculated by dividing Adjusted EBITDA by total revenues.

We use Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA Margin and Adjusted Net Income as measures of operating performance and the operating leverage in our
business. We believe that these non-GAAP financial measures are useful to investors for supplemental period-to-period comparisons of our business and in
understanding and evaluating our operating results for the following reasons:

• Our management uses Adjusted Net Income to assess our overall performance, without regard to items that are considered to be unique or non-
recurring in nature or otherwise unrelated to our ongoing revenue-generating operations, net of the income tax effect of the adjustments;
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• Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin are widely used by investors and securities analysts to measure a company’s operating performance
without regard to the aforementioned adjustments which can vary substantially from company to company depending upon their financing, capital
structures, and the method by which assets were acquired or costs that are unique or non-recurring in nature or otherwise unrelated to our ongoing
revenue-generating operations;

• Our management uses Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin in conjunction with financial measures prepared in
accordance with GAAP for planning purposes, including the preparation of our annual operating budget, as a measure of our core operating results
and the effectiveness of our business strategy, and in evaluating our financial performance; and

• Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin provide consistency and comparability with our past financial performance,
facilitate period-to-period comparisons of our core operating results, and also facilitate comparisons with other peer companies, many of which use
similar non-GAAP financial measures to supplement their GAAP results.

Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin have limitations as analytical tools, and you should not consider these measures in
isolation or as substitutes for analysis of our financial results as reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations are, or may in the future be, as follows:

• Although depreciation and amortization expense is a non-cash charge, the assets being depreciated and amortized may have to be replaced in the
future, and Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin do not reflect cash capital expenditure requirements for such replacements or for new
capital expenditure requirements;

• Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin exclude stock-based compensation expense, which has recently been, and will
continue to be for the foreseeable future, a significant recurring non-cash expense for our business and an important part of our compensation
strategy;

• Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin do not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;
• Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin do not reflect (i) interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal

payments on our debt, which reduces cash available to us; or (ii) accruals or tax payments that may represent a reduction in cash available to us;
• Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin do not reflect transaction costs related to acquisitions; and
• The expenses and other items that we exclude in our calculations of Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin may differ

from the expenses and other items, if any, that other companies may exclude from similarly-titled non-GAAP measures when they report their operating
results, and we may, in the future, exclude other significant, unusual or non-recurring expenses or other items from these financial measures.

Because of these limitations, Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin should be considered along with other financial
performance measures presented in accordance with GAAP.
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The following tables present a reconciliation of Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin to their most directly comparable
financial measure prepared in accordance with GAAP for the periods indicated (in thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Net loss $ (68,661) $ (105,393) $ (575)

Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss (2,271) 10,106 5,028 

Stock-based compensation (a) 64,829 249,915 128,302 

Amortization of acquisition-related intangibles 14,550 13,144 12,046 

Acquisition costs (b) 6,645 4,126 8,524 

Certain professional fees (c) 2,004 2,014 1,991 

Employer payroll related expense on employee equity incentive plan (d) 1,242 6,353 1,154 

Final tax assessment for closed operations (e) — 258 — 

Non-recurring tender offer compensation expense (f) — — 2,715 

IPO-related costs (g) — — 2,713 

Change in fair value of contingent consideration (h) 129 1,027 — 

Restructuring (i) 18,944 — — 

Income tax effects of adjustments (j) (125) (41,639) (36,498)

Adjusted Net Income $ 37,286 $ 139,911 $ 125,400 

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Net loss $ (68,661) $ (105,393) $ (575)

Income tax expense 25,531 30,825 16,740 

Interest expense 26,238 22,461 25,456 

Other expense, net (k) 784 1,682 1,671 

Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss (2,271) 10,106 5,028 

Stock-based compensation (a) 64,829 249,915 128,302 

Depreciation and amortization 36,450 34,446 29,528 

Acquisition costs (b) 6,645 4,126 8,524 

Certain professional fees (c) 2,004 2,014 1,991 

Employer payroll related expense on employee equity incentive plan (d) 1,242 6,353 1,154 

Final tax assessment for closed operations (e) — 258 — 

Non-recurring tender offer compensation expense (f) — — 2,715 

IPO-related costs (g) — — 2,713 

Restructuring (i) 18,944 — — 

Adjusted EBITDA $ 111,735 $ 256,793 $ 223,247 

Net loss margin (6.1)% (8.1)% (0.1)%

Adjusted EBITDA Margin 9.9 % 19.8 % 20.9 %

(a) 2023 excludes $0.2 million related to the restructuring which is included in the restructuring line.
(b) Adjusts for certain professional fees and retention wage expenses related to certain acquisitions.
(c) Adjusts for certain transaction expenses, non-recurring legal expenses, and one-time professional fees.
(d) Adjusts for employer payroll related expense on employee equity incentive plan as these expenses are tied to the exercise or vesting of underlying

equity awards and the price of our common stock at the time of vesting or exercise. As a result, these expenses may vary in any particular period
independent of the financial and operating performance of our business.
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(e) Adjusts for certain tax related expenses related to final tax assessments from closing operations in Uganda, which was completely shut down in 2015.
(f) Adjusts for the additional compensation expense related to the tender offer completed in the first quarter of 2021.
(g) Adjusts for IPO-readiness costs and expenses that do not qualify as equity issuance costs.
(h) Adjusts for the non-cash adjustment to the fair value of contingent consideration.
(i) Adjusts for restructuring costs which include wage-related expenses, such as employee severance and related benefits, and non-wage related

expenses, including costs related to reducing leased office space, vendor contract cancellations and professional fees.
(j) Adjusts for the income tax effects of the foregoing adjusted items, determined under a discrete method consistent with our non-GAAP measures of

profitability.
(k) 2022 excludes a $2.3 million gain related to the sale and settlement of trade receivables and 2023 excludes a $0.3 million gain related to the mark to

market adjustment on shares received in relation to the aforementioned sale and settlement of trade receivables in 2022. The gains were included within
other (expense) income, net in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table summarizes certain key measures of our liquidity and capital resources (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2023 2022
Cash and cash equivalents $ 100,305 $ 194,294 

Availability under Revolver 300,000 300,000 

Borrowings under Revolver — — 

Long-term debt, including current portion (1) 293,185 399,006 

(1) The balance includes deferred financing fees. A reconciliation of gross to net amounts is presented in Note 12, Credit Agreements.

Our cash generated from operations and financing activities has been our primary source of liquidity to fund operations and investments. Our capital
investments focus on our technology solutions, corporate infrastructure and strategic acquisitions to further expand into new business sectors and/or expand
sales in existing sectors. The Company generates sufficient cash flows for working capital and expects to do so for the foreseeable future.

As of December 31, 2023, our principal sources of liquidity were cash and cash equivalents of $100.3 million and $300.0 million of available borrowings
under our Revolver.

In the future, we may enter into arrangements to acquire or invest in complementary businesses, services and technologies, or intellectual property rights. To
fund these acquisitions or investments, we may seek to access the debt or capital markets. Our ability to obtain additional funding will be subject to various
factors, including general market conditions, our operating performance, the market’s perception of our growth potential, lender sentiment and our ability to
incur additional debt in compliance with our contractual restrictions, including those in our Credit Agreement (as defined below).

Our Credit Facilities

Our subsidiaries are party to an amended and restated credit agreement, dated March 26, 2021 (as amended, the “Credit Agreement”), among the
Company, the syndicate lenders thereto and Credit Suisse, AG, Cayman Islands Branch, as administrative agent, which provides for a term loan ("Term
Loan") and revolver ("Revolver"). On December 9, 2022, we amended and restated the credit agreement to (i) increase the amount of revolving credit
commitments from $165.0 million to $300.0 million and (ii) transition the reference rate for the revolving borrowings under the Credit Agreement from LIBOR
to the secured overnight financing rate (“SOFR”) and amend the applicable margins as specified therein. On May 18, 2023, we amended and restated the
credit agreement (the “Third Amendment and Restatement”) to transition the reference rate for the Term Loan borrowings under the Credit Agreement from
LIBOR to SOFR. See Note 12, Credit Agreements,
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for a discussion of the Term Loan and Revolver. As of December 31, 2023, we had $295.3 million outstanding under our Term Loan with an interest rate of
8.0% and no borrowings outstanding under the Revolver.

Borrowings under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by substantially all the Borrowers’ direct and indirect wholly owned material domestic subsidiaries
subject to customary exceptions (the “Guarantors” and together with the Borrowers and Holdings, the “Loan Parties”). The obligations under the Credit
Agreement and the guarantees of the Guarantors are secured by substantially all of the Loan Parties’ assets, subject to customary exceptions and
thresholds.

Borrowings under the Term Loan bear interest at a rate per annum equal to an applicable margin plus either (a) a base rate or (b) SOFR, at our option,
subject to interest rate floors. Borrowings under the Revolver bear interest at a rate per annum equal to an applicable margin plus either (x) a base rate or (y)
SOFR at our option. In addition to paying interest on outstanding borrowings under the Revolver, we are required to pay a commitment fee to the lenders
under the Revolver in respect of unutilized commitments thereunder and customary letter of credit fees. The applicable margins in respect of both the Term
Loan and the Revolver are subject to adjustments based on our first lien leverage ratios and corporate family ratings.

The Credit Agreement requires compliance with certain covenants customary for agreements of this type. As of December 31, 2023, we were in compliance
with our debt covenants.

Cash Flows

The following table shows a summary of our cash flows for the periods indicated (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ 49,064 $ 89,389 $ 118,304 

Investing activities (24,591) (93,945) (70,309)

Financing activities (120,217) (175,125) (140,630)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 1,840 (19,697) (4,622)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents $ (93,904) $ (199,378) $ (97,257)

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2023 was $49.1 million comprised of net loss of $68.7 million, adjusted for
non-cash items including $65.0 million of stock-based compensation expense and $36.5 million of depreciation and amortization. Cash provided by
operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2023 was further benefited by a decrease in trade receivables of $32.7 million, which was driven by
a decrease in revenue partially offset by an increase in days sales outstanding ("DSO"), and a decrease in unbilled receivables of $7.6 million. Cash
provided by operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2023 was negatively impacted by the change in other assets of $11.8 million primarily
resulting from an increase in income taxes receivable and the change in accrued expenses and other liabilities of $7.1 million driven by the payment of tax
installments.

Net cash provided by operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2022 was $89.4 million comprised of net loss of $105.4 million, adjusted for
non-cash items including $250.5 million of stock-based compensation expense and $34.4 million of depreciation and amortization. Cash provided by
operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2022 was negatively impacted by the changes in trade receivables of $61.9 million due to an
increase in DSO and unbilled receivables of $20.7 million.

Cash provided by operating activities can be significantly impacted by the timing of cash receipts from customers and payments to vendors as well as vendor
payment terms.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities in 2023 was $24.6 million driven by the acquisition of Itoc in the first quarter of 2023 and purchases of property and
equipment.
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Net cash used in investing activities in 2022 was $93.9 million driven by the acquisition of Connected in the second quarter of 2022 and purchases of
property and equipment.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities of $120.2 million in 2023 was driven by the repayment of long-term debt of $107.2 million and contingent consideration
payment of $14.0 million.

Net cash used in financing activities of $175.1 million in 2022 was driven by the repayment of long-term debt of $107.2 million and withholding taxes paid
related to the following: net share settlement on equity awards of $45.6 million, tender offer of $15.5 million and dividends previously declared of $10.0
million.

Contractual Obligations and Future Capital Requirements

Contractual Obligations

We recorded an acquisition purchase price liability of $14.0 million for contingent consideration related to the acquisition of Connected in the second quarter
of 2022. The final payout amount of $14.3 million was paid on May 4, 2023.

Refer to Note 3, Acquisitions, and Note 8, Leases, in the notes to our consolidated financial statements for further detail regarding the aforementioned
contingent consideration and additional information related to our lease commitments.

Except as disclosed in “—Our Credit Facilities” and those mentioned above, we did not have other material contractual obligations for cash expenditures.

Future Capital Requirements

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents combined with our expected cash flow from operations will be sufficient to meet our projected
operating and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next twelve months and that we possess the financial flexibility to execute our strategic
objectives, including the ability to make acquisitions and strategic investments in the foreseeable future. However, our ability to generate cash is subject to
our performance, general economic conditions, industry trends and other factors, and due to our global operations, the value of cash generated may be
adversely affected by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. To the extent that existing cash and cash equivalents and operating cash flow are
insufficient to fund our future activities and requirements, we may need to raise additional funds through public or private equity or debt financing. If we incur
new debt, the debt holders would have rights senior to common stockholders to make claims on our assets, and the terms of any debt could restrict our
operations, including our ability to pay dividends on our common stock. If we issue additional equity or convertible debt securities, existing stockholders may
experience dilution, and such new securities could have rights senior to those of our common stock. These factors may make the timing, amount, terms and
conditions of additional financings unattractive. Our inability to raise capital could impede our growth or otherwise require us to forego growth opportunities
and could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. There is no assurance that we would be able to raise
additional funds on favorable terms or at all.

Commitments and Contingencies

Certain conditions may exist as of the date of the consolidated financial statements which may result in a loss to the Company but will only be resolved when
one or more future events occur or fail to occur. Such liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation, fines, penalties and other
sources, are recorded when the Company assesses that it is probable that a future liability has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated.
Recoveries of costs from third parties, which the Company assesses as being probable of realization, are recorded to the extent of related contingent
liabilities accrued. Legal costs incurred in connection with matters relating to contingencies are expensed in the period incurred. The Company records gain
contingencies when realized.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We did not have during any of the periods presented, and we do not currently have, any off-balance sheet financing arrangements or any relationships with
unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, including entities sometimes referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, that were
established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1, Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in the notes to our consolidated financial statements for a discussion of recent
accounting pronouncements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report are prepared in accordance with GAAP. In
preparing the consolidated financial statements, we make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, stockholders’
equity, revenues, expenses and related disclosures. We re-evaluate our estimates on an on-going basis. Our estimates are based on historical experience
and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Because of the uncertainty inherent in these matters, actual
results may differ from these estimates and could differ based upon other assumptions or conditions. The critical accounting policies that reflect our more
significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements include those noted below.

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenues by providing professional services in software development and consulting services to companies across the globe.

We determine revenue recognition through the following steps in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 606:

• identification of the contract, or contracts, with a client;
• identification of the performance obligations in the contract;
• determination of the transaction price;
• allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
• recognition of revenues when, or as, we satisfy a performance obligation.

Revenue is recognized when control of services is passed to a client in an amount of revenue that reflects the consideration we expect to be entitled to in
exchange for those services. Such control may be transferred over time or at a point in time, depending on satisfaction of obligations stipulated by the
contract. We record sales and other taxes collected from clients and remitted to governmental authorities on a net basis.

We generate revenues from a variety of professional service arrangements. Fees for these contracts may be in the form of time-and-materials and fixed
price. We also report gross reimbursable expenses incurred as both revenues and cost of revenues in the consolidated statements of loss and
comprehensive loss.

Revenues are measured based on consideration specified in a contract with a client, which may consist of both fixed and variable components, and the
consideration expected to be received is allocated to each separately identifiable performance obligation based on the performance obligation’s relative
standalone selling price. The standalone selling prices are generally determined based on the prices at which we separately sell the services.

Stock-Based Compensation

We grant equity incentive awards to certain employees and directors. These compensation arrangements are settled in equity, or in certain cases at our
discretion, in cash, at a predetermined price. The equity incentive awards generally vest over a period of one to four years and, in certain cases, vest in full
on a liquidity event
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involving the Company. Stock-based compensation expense is measured at the grant date fair value and amortized over the vesting period of the award
using the straight-line amortization method (or, in the case of performance stock units, the accelerated amortization method is utilized).

Performance Vesting and Time Vesting Options

Through September 17, 2021 (the "IPO Closing Date"), we estimated grant date fair value for stock option awards using a hybrid of the Probability-Weighted
Expected Return Method (“PWERM”) and the Option-Pricing Model (“OPM”) that used assumptions including expected volatility, expected term, and the
expected risk-free rate of return. Prior to the completion of our IPO, we relied, in part, on valuation reports prepared by unrelated third-party valuation firms to
assist us in valuing our share-based awards.

On September 9, 2021, the Board, through unanimous written consent, approved a modification to the Company's 2017 Stock Option Plan (the "2017 Plan")
which, upon completion of the IPO, a sponsor return of 2.8x times sponsor investment was achieved, and the service condition under the Plan that
participants must provide at least 18 months of continuous service following the grant date in order for performance vesting options to vest was waived.
Additionally, the Board also approved accelerated vesting of all remaining, unvested former Class C performance vesting options, after the achievement of
such sponsor return, which resulted in all performance vesting options becoming fully vested upon pricing of the IPO. Unless otherwise prohibited by law in
local jurisdictions, time vesting options will continue to vest according to the Plan. No stock option awards have been granted since the second quarter of
2021. For more information regarding the stock option awards, see Note 10, Stock-Based Compensation, to our consolidated financial statements.

The performance and time vesting options have a contractual term of 10 years from the grant date.

Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”)

In September 2021, the Board approved the 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “Omnibus Plan”). Under the Omnibus Plan, RSUs are awarded to eligible
employees as well as directors. The fair value of the RSUs is based on the market price of our common stock on the date of grant.

Performance Stock Units (“PSUs”)

PSUs are granted to certain executives and employees under the Omnibus Plan, which consist of PSUs with non-market-based performance and time-
based vesting conditions as well as PSUs with market-based performance and time-based vesting conditions. The PSUs subject to non-market-based
performance and time-based vesting conditions are earned based on our achievement of specified adjusted EBITDA targets (the “EBITDA PSUs”). The
PSUs subject to market-based performance and time-based vesting conditions are earned based on our achievement of specified relative total shareholder
return ("rTSR") targets (the “rTSR PSUs”). Both types of PSUs vest over a three-year service period, subject to the participant’s continued employment with
us or our affiliate, as applicable.

The fair value of the EBITDA PSUs is determined using the closing stock price on the grant date. For the EBITDA PSUs, the compensation expense is
recognized based upon the achievement percentage of the performance target and amortized over the service period of the award. The fair value for the
rTSR PSUs is determined using a Monte-Carlo simulation, which is amortized in full over the service period. For the rTSR PSUs, the compensation expense
is not adjusted for the achievement percentage of the performance target. Compensation expense for both types of PSUs is recognized using the
accelerated amortization method.

Business Combinations

We account for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting which requires us to allocate the fair value of purchase consideration to
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on the estimated fair values at the acquisition date. The fair value of the net assets acquired for the
business is determined utilizing expectations and assumptions we believe reasonable, which include the timing and amount of forecasted revenues and cash
flows, expected growth rates, customer attrition rates, the discount rate reflecting the risk of future cash flows and the useful lives for finite-lived assets.
Intangible assets other than goodwill are comprised of finite-lived intangibles and indefinite-lived intangibles. At initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination are recognized at their fair value as of the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, finite-lived intangible assets are carried
at cost less accumulated
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amortization and impairment losses, if any, and are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset, which was determined
based on management’s estimate of the period over which the asset will contribute to our future cash flows.

The excess of the purchase consideration transferred over the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. As additional
information is obtained about the assets and liabilities of the acquisition during the measurement period, not to exceed one year from the date of acquisition,
we may record adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed with an offset to goodwill. After the measurement period, any adjustments are
recorded in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss. We review goodwill for impairment annually or whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. We assess goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level. In conducting
our annual goodwill impairment test, we first review qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the asset is less
than its carrying amount. If factors indicate that the fair value of the asset is less than its carrying amount, we perform a quantitative impairment assessment
of the asset, analyzing the expected present value of future cash flows to quantify the amount of impairment, if any. We perform our annual impairment tests
in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year. We assess the impairment of intangible assets whenever events or changing circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Some business combinations may include a contingent consideration agreement. We determine the fair value of the contingent consideration liability using a
Monte Carlo Simulation, which involves a simulation of future revenues and earnings during the earn-out period using management's best estimates. The
liability is remeasured to fair value at each reporting date with adjustments recorded within other (expense) income, net in the consolidated statements of
loss and comprehensive loss.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to certain market risks in the ordinary course of our business. These risks primarily result from changes in concentration of credit, interest
rates and foreign currency exchange rates. In addition, our international operations are subject to risks related to differing economic conditions, civil unrest,
political instability or uncertainty, military activities, broad-based sanctions, differing tax structures, and other regulations and restrictions. Refer to Note 1,
Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, for discussion related to concentration of credit risk.

Interest Rate Risk

We are primarily exposed to changes in interest rates with respect to our cost of borrowing under our Credit Agreement. We monitor our cost of borrowing
under our credit facilities, taking into account our funding requirements and our expectations for interest rates in the future. In 2023, a hypothetical 100 basis
point increase or decrease in interest rates would have resulted in a $2.9 million increase or $3.4 million decrease, respectively, in our interest expense.

Foreign Currency Risk

We operate in several countries across the world. Our international sales are primarily denominated in foreign currencies, and any unfavorable movement in
the exchange rate between U.S. dollars and the currencies in which we conduct sales in foreign countries could have an adverse impact on our revenues. A
portion of our operating expenses are incurred outside the United States and are denominated in foreign currencies, which are also subject to fluctuations
due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. In addition, our suppliers incur many costs, including labor and supply costs, in other currencies. While
we are not currently contractually obligated to pay increased costs due to changes in exchange rates, to the extent that exchange rates move unfavorably for
our suppliers, they may seek to pass these additional costs on to us, which could have a material impact on our gross margins. Our operating results and
cash flows are, therefore, subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. However, we believe that the exposure to foreign
currency fluctuation from operating expenses is relatively small at this time as the related costs do not constitute a significant portion of our total expenses.
We have generally not entered into derivatives or hedging transactions, as our exposure to foreign currency exchange rates has historically been partially
hedged as our foreign currency denominated inflows have covered our foreign currency denominated expenses. However, we may enter into derivative or
hedging transactions in the future if our exposure to foreign currency should become more significant.
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In 2023, our revenues denominated and recorded in currencies other than U.S. dollars amounted to 65% of our total revenues. A hypothetical 10% increase
or decrease in the value of the U.S. dollar against the principal foreign currencies in which our revenues are measured (namely, the Australian dollar,
Brazilian Real, British Pound, Canadian Dollar, Chilean Peso, Chinese Yuan, Euro, Indian Rupee and Singapore Dollar) would have caused our revenues to
decrease or increase, respectively, by approximately $72.4 million.

Inflation Risk

We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. If our costs become subject to
significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset such higher costs through price increases. Our inability or failure to do so could harm our
business, financial condition and operating results.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Thoughtworks Holding, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Thoughtworks Holding, Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the
related consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, changes in redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity and cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”).
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2023 and
2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated February 27, 2024 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing
procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond
to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits
also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required
to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the
critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
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Revenue Recognition for Fixed-Price Contracts
Description of the Matter As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company generates revenue from a

variety of professional service arrangements. Fees for these contracts may be in the form of time-and-
materials or fixed-price revenues.

  
Fixed-price contracts include application development arrangements, where progress towards satisfaction
of the performance obligation is measured using costs incurred to date relative to total estimated costs at
completion. Assumptions, risks and uncertainties inherent in the estimates used to measure progress for
in-process fixed price contracts could affect the amount and timing of revenues, receivables and deferred
revenues at each reporting period.

  
Auditing the Company's revenue for in-process fixed-price contracts was challenging given the significant
audit effort including the evaluation of assumptions used to determine the accuracy of total estimated costs
upon completion.

 How We Addressed the Matter in Our Audit We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of internal
controls over the Company’s processes to determine the total estimated costs for in-process fixed-price
contracts, including management’s review of the underlying calculation performed to recognize revenue for
such in-process fixed-price contracts and the look-back analysis performed subsequent to period-end to
evaluate any changes in the total estimated costs.

  
To test the Company’s accounting for the in-process fixed-price contract revenue recognized, we
performed audit procedures that included, among others, testing the accuracy and completeness of the
actual costs incurred through year-end. We performed a look-back analysis subsequent to year-end to
evaluate any changes in the total estimated costs. We compared the Company’s original or prior period
estimate of total contract costs to be incurred to the actual costs incurred for completed contracts to assess
the Company’s ability to accurately estimate costs. We interviewed operational personnel of the Company
to evaluate progress to date and the estimate of remaining costs to be incurred, including the amount of
time and cost to complete, for a sample of customer contracts. We also assessed the appropriateness of
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2017.
Chicago, Illinois
February 27, 2024
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Thoughtworks Holding, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Thoughtworks Holding, Inc.’s (the Company’s) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework)
(the COSO criteria). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2023, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, changes in
redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, the
related notes and our report dated February 27, 2024 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the
PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Chicago, Illinois
February 27, 2024
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THOUGHTWORKS HOLDING, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 100,305 $ 194,294 

Trade receivables, net of allowance of $9,550 and $9,531, respectively 167,942 201,695 

Unbilled receivables 115,150 122,499 

Prepaid expenses 19,692 19,353 

Other current assets 25,269 18,849 

Total current assets 428,358 556,690 

Property and equipment, net 26,046 38,798 

Right-of-use assets 41,771 43,123 

Intangibles and other assets:

Goodwill 424,565 405,017

Trademark 273,000 273,000

Customer relationships, net 114,186 124,047

Other non-current assets 19,310 21,175 

Total assets $ 1,327,236 $ 1,461,850 

Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 2,767 $ 5,248 

Long-term debt, current 7,150 7,150 

Income taxes payable 5,106 22,781 

Accrued compensation 88,712 85,477 

Deferred revenue 18,090 5,167 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 22,154 37,753 

Lease liabilities, current 15,301 15,994 

Total current liabilities 159,280 179,570 

Lease liabilities, non-current 29,791 29,885 

Long-term debt, less current portion 286,035 391,856 

Deferred tax liabilities 54,907 62,555 

Other long-term liabilities 24,093 19,762 

Total liabilities 554,106 683,628 

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ equity:

Convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized, zero issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively — — 

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 1,000,000,000 shares authorized, 372,876,082 and 366,306,970
issued, 322,407,385 and 315,681,987 outstanding at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
respectively 373 366 

Treasury stock, 50,468,697 and 50,624,983 shares at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
respectively (622,988) (624,934)

Additional paid-in capital 1,627,491 1,565,514 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (38,166) (39,210)

Retained deficit (193,580) (123,514)

Total stockholders' equity 773,130 778,222 

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 1,327,236 $ 1,461,850 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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THOUGHTWORKS HOLDING, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Revenues $ 1,126,816 $ 1,296,238 $ 1,069,945 

Operating expenses:

Cost of revenues 772,800 950,305 669,681 

Selling, general and administrative expenses 331,830 372,761 333,904 

Depreciation and amortization 23,554 20,484 17,599 

Restructuring 18,944 — — 

Total operating expenses 1,147,128 1,343,550 1,021,184 

(Loss) income from operations (20,312) (47,312) 48,761 

Other (expense) income:

Interest expense (26,238) (22,461) (25,456)

Net realized and unrealized foreign currency gain (loss) 3,875 (5,405) (5,469)

Other (expense) income, net (455) 610 (1,671)

Total other expense (22,818) (27,256) (32,596)

(Loss) income before income taxes (43,130) (74,568) 16,165 

Income tax expense 25,531 30,825 16,740 

Net loss $ (68,661) $ (105,393) $ (575)

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Foreign currency translation adjustments 1,044 (28,366) (9,270)

Comprehensive loss $ (67,617) $ (133,759) $ (9,845)

Net loss per common share:
Basic loss per common share $ (0.22) $ (0.34) $ (0.24)

Diluted loss per common share $ (0.22) $ (0.34) $ (0.24)

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 317,718,424 310,911,526 254,271,997 

Diluted 317,718,424 310,911,526 254,271,997 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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THOUGHTWORKS HOLDING, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS'

EQUITY
(In thousands, except share data)

Redeemable,
Convertible Preferred

Stock Common Stock Treasury
Additional

 Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Retained
Earnings
(Deficit)Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Total

Balance as of December 31, 2020 23,493,546 $ 322,800 278,322,716 $ 279 572,711 $ (1,608) $ 379,335 $ (1,574) $ 108,338 $ 484,770 

Net loss — — — — — — — — (575) (575)

Other comprehensive loss, net of
tax — — — — — — — (9,270) — (9,270)

Issuance of common stock upon
initial public offering, net of
issuance costs of $30.3 million — — 16,429,964 16 — — 314,700 — — 314,716 

Issuance of redeemable convertible
preferred stock, net of issuance
costs of $11.8 million 35,996,412 503,222 — — — — — — — — 

Conversion of redeemable
convertible preferred stock to
common stock (59,489,958) (826,022) 59,489,958 60 — — 825,962 — — 826,022 

Issuance of common stock on
exercise of options, net of
withholding taxes — — 1,169,090 1 — — (852) — — (851)

Issuance of common stock — — 133,313 — — — 1,873 — — 1,873 

Dividends — — — — — — (279,191) — (45,821) (325,012)

Tender Offer — — (50,412,860) — 50,412,860 (627,816) (10,391) — (79,222) (717,429)

Stock-based compensation
expense — — — — — — 127,713 — — 127,713 

Balance as of December 31, 2021 — $ — 305,132,181 $ 356 50,985,571 $ (629,424) $ 1,359,149 $ (10,844) $ (17,280) $ 701,957 

Net loss — — — — — — — — (105,393) (105,393)

Other comprehensive loss, net of
tax — — — — — — — (28,366) — (28,366)

Issuance of common stock for
equity incentive awards, net of
withholding taxes — — 10,189,218 10 — — (40,086) — — (40,076)

Reissuance of treasury shares for
equity incentive awards — — 360,588 — (360,588) 4,490 (4,054) — — 436 

Stock-based compensation
expense — — — — — — 250,505 — — 250,505 

Cumulative effect related to
adoption of ASU 2016-13 — — — — — — — — (841) (841)

Balance as of December 31, 2022 — $ — 315,681,987 $ 366 50,624,983 $ (624,934) $ 1,565,514 $ (39,210) $ (123,514) $ 778,222 

Net loss — — — — — — — — (68,661) (68,661)

Other comprehensive income, net
of tax — — — — — — — 1,044 — 1,044 

Issuance of common stock for
equity incentive awards, net of
withholding taxes — — 6,569,112 7 — (1,103) — — (1,096)

Reissuance of treasury shares for
equity incentive awards — — 156,286 — (156,286) 1,946 (1,946) — (1,405) (1,405)

Stock-based compensation
expense — — — — — — 65,026 — — 65,026 

Balance as of December 31, 2023 — $ — 322,407,385 $ 373 50,468,697 $ (622,988) $ 1,627,491 $ (38,166) $ (193,580) $ 773,130 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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THOUGHTWORKS HOLDING, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (68,661) $ (105,393) $ (575)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization expense 36,450 34,446 29,528 

Bad debt expense (recovery) 4,606 2,002 (601)

Deferred income tax benefit (8,351) (19,425) (22,369)

Stock-based compensation expense 65,026 250,505 127,713 

Unrealized foreign currency exchange (gain)/loss (2,271) 10,106 5,028 

Non-cash lease expense on right-of-use assets 18,407 18,597 — 

Other operating activities, net 3,715 3,300 3,642 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Trade receivables 32,661 (61,877) (32,139)

Unbilled receivables 7,582 (20,711) (16,733)

Prepaid expenses (265) (3,567) (6,542)

Other assets (11,841) 2,657 (31,111)

Lease liabilities (18,269) (16,721) — 

Accounts payable (2,597) 144 309 

Accrued expenses and other liabilities (7,128) (4,674) 62,154 

Net cash provided by operating activities 49,064 89,389 118,304 

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment (8,953) (24,505) (26,068)

Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets 351 571 518 

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (15,989) (70,011) (44,759)

Net cash used in investing activities (24,591) (93,945) (70,309)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from initial public offering, net of issuance costs and underwriting discounts — — 314,716 

Proceeds from issuance of Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock, net of
issuance costs — — 380,994 

Proceeds from issuance of Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock, net of
issuance costs — — 122,228 

Payments of obligations of long-term debt (107,150) (107,150) (336,709)

Payments of debt issuance costs (99) (3,635) (7,098)

Proceeds from borrowings on long-term debt — — 401,285 

Proceeds from issuance of common stock on exercise of options, net of employee tax
withholding 6,564 6,766 (851)

Shares and options purchased under tender offer — — (701,960)

Proceeds from issuance of common stock — — 1,873 

Dividends paid — — (315,003)

Withholding taxes paid on tender offer — (15,469) — 

Withholding taxes paid on dividends previously declared — (10,009) — 

Withholding taxes paid related to net share settlement of equity awards (5,621) (45,643) — 

Payment of contingent consideration (13,996) — — 

Other financing activities, net 85 15 (105)

Net cash used in financing activities (120,217) (175,125) (140,630)
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THOUGHTWORKS HOLDING, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 1,840 (19,697) (4,622)

Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (93,904) (199,378) (97,257)

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of the period 195,564 394,942 492,199 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of the period $ 101,660 $ 195,564 $ 394,942 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid $ 24,824 $ 20,984 $ 23,611 

Income taxes paid $ 50,250 $ 30,283 $ 33,344 

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Withholding taxes payable included within accrued expenses $ — $ — $ 25,956 

Withholding taxes payable included within accrued compensation $ 3,444 $ 1,020 $ — 

Option costs receivable included within other current assets $ — $ 257 $ — 

Conversion of convertible preferred stock to common stock $ — $ — $ 826,022 

Net settlement on exercise of shares $ — $ — $ 3,611 

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 100,305 $ 194,294 $ 368,209 

Restricted cash included in other current assets — — 25,478 

Restricted cash included in other non-current assets 1,355 1,270 1,255 

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 101,660 $ 195,564 $ 394,942 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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THOUGHTWORKS HOLDING, INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1 – Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Thoughtworks Holding, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, the “Company”) develops, implements, and services complex enterprise application software and
provides business technology consulting. The Company conducts business in Australia, Brazil, Canada, Chile, China, Ecuador, Finland, Germany, Hong
Kong, India, Italy, the Netherlands, Romania, Singapore, Spain, Switzerland, Thailand, the United Kingdom, the United States and Vietnam. Thoughtworks
Holding, Inc. is the ultimate parent holding company of Thoughtworks, Inc. among other subsidiaries.

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Thoughtworks Holding, Inc. and its subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Certain amounts in the prior period consolidated financial statements and notes have been reclassified to conform to the 2023 presentation. These
reclassifications had no effect on results of operations previously reported.

Preparation of Financial Statements and Use of Estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements is in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”) and
applicable rules and regulations of the SEC. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the reporting periods. On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates its estimates, including those related to allowance for credit losses, valuation and
impairment of goodwill and long-lived assets, income taxes, accrued bonus, contingencies, stock-based compensation and litigation costs. The Company
bases its estimates on current expectations and historical experience and on other assumptions that its management believes are reasonable under the
circumstances. These estimates form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities when those values are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results can differ from those estimates, and such differences may be material to the consolidated financial statements in
the future. In management’s opinion, all adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements
have been included, and all adjustments are of a normal and recurring nature.

Segments

The Company operates as one operating segment. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise for which separate financial information
is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), in deciding how to allocate resources and assess performance.

While the Company has offerings in multiple modern digital businesses and operates in multiple countries, the Company’s business operates in one
operating segment because most of the Company's service offerings are delivered and supported on a global basis and are deployed in a nearly identical
way. The Company’s CODM evaluates the Company’s financial information, allocates resources and assesses the performance of these resources on a
consolidated basis.

Long-Lived Assets

The North America geographic region encompasses the Company’s country of domicile (United States) and Canada, of which long-lived assets include
property and equipment, net of depreciation, and lease right-of-use ("ROU") assets which are principally held within the United States. Canadian long-lived
assets were determined to be immaterial given the amount was less than 10% of the Company's long-lived assets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. The
Company holds material long-lived assets in the foreign geographic locations noted in the table below.
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The following table presents long-lived assets by location (in thousands):
As of December 31,

2023 2022

United States $ 14,582 21.5 % $ 18,205 22.2 %

Germany 13,052 19.2 % 13,606 16.6 %

India 10,793 15.9 % 14,457 17.6 %

China 10,616 15.7 % 12,160 14.9 %

All other (1) 18,774 27.7 % 23,493 28.7 %

Total long-lived assets $ 67,817 100.0 % $ 81,921 100.0 %

(1) All other foreign geographic locations hold long-lived assets of less than 10% of the Company's consolidated total.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenues when control of services is passed to a customer in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to
be entitled to in exchange for those services. Such control may be transferred over time or at a point in time, depending on satisfaction of obligations
stipulated by the contract. The Company records sales and other taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities on a net basis.

The Company generates revenue from a variety of professional service arrangements. Fees for these contracts may be in the form of time-and-materials
and fixed price. The Company also reports gross reimbursable expenses incurred as both revenue and cost of revenues in the consolidated statements of
loss and comprehensive loss.

Revenue is measured based on consideration specified in a contract with a customer, which may consist of both fixed and variable components, and the
consideration expected to be received is allocated to each separately identifiable performance obligation based on the performance obligation’s relative
standalone selling price. The standalone selling prices are generally determined based on the prices at which the Company separately sells the services.

Contracts may include variable consideration, which usually takes the form of volume-based discounts, service level credits, price concessions, or
incentives. To the extent that variable consideration is not constrained, the Company includes the expected amount within the total transaction price and
updates its assumptions over the duration of the contract. Determining the estimated amount of such variable consideration involves assumptions and
judgment that can have an impact on the amount of revenues reported. The amount of variable consideration is estimated utilizing the expected value or
most likely amount method, depending on the facts and circumstances relative to the contract.

Time-and-Materials Revenues

The Company generates the majority of its revenues under time-and-materials contracts, which are billed using hourly, daily, or monthly rates to determine
the amounts to be charged directly to the customer. Revenue from time-and-materials contracts is based on the number of hours worked and at contractually
agreed-upon hourly rates and is recognized as those services are rendered as control of the services passes to the customer over time.

Fixed-Price Revenues

Fixed-price contracts include application development arrangements, and with certain contracts, progress towards satisfaction of the performance obligation
is measured using input methods as there is a direct correlation between hours incurred and the end deliverable to the customer. With other contracts,
progress towards the satisfaction of the performance obligation is measured using input methods with a direct correlation to resources consumed and the
services provided to the customer. Assumptions, risks, and uncertainties inherent in the estimates used to measure progress could affect the amount of
revenues, receivables, and deferred revenues at each reporting period. Revenues under these contracts are recognized
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using costs incurred to date relative to total estimated costs at completion to measure progress toward satisfying performance obligations or based on
resources utilized at contractually agreed-upon fixed rates.

Principal vs Agent Consideration

From time to time, the Company may enter into arrangements with third-party suppliers to sell services. In such cases, the Company evaluates whether it is
the principal (i.e., reports revenues on a gross basis) or the agent (i.e., reports revenues on a net basis). In doing so, the Company first evaluates whether it
has control of the service before it is transferred to the customer. If the Company controls the service before it is transferred to the customer, the Company is
the principal; if not, the Company is the agent. Determining whether the Company controls the service before it is transferred to the customer may require
judgment.

Contract Balances

A contract asset is a right to consideration that is conditional upon factors other than the passage of time. Contract assets primarily relate to unbilled
amounts on fixed-price contracts, where the right to consideration is conditional on the satisfaction of performance obligations that are measured based on
hours incurred and the end deliverable to the customer. Contract assets are recorded when services have been provided but the Company does not have an
unconditional right to receive consideration. Professional services performed on or prior to the balance sheet date, but invoiced thereafter, are reflected in
unbilled receivables.

Contract liabilities, or deferred revenue, consist of advance payments from clients and billings in excess of revenues recognized. The Company classifies
deferred revenue as current on the consolidated balance sheet and is recognized as revenue as the Company performs under the contract. These balances
are generally short-term in nature and are recognized as revenue within one year.

Costs to Obtain a Customer Contract

The Company incurs certain incremental costs to obtain a contract that the Company expects to recover. The Company applies a practical expedient and
recognizes the incremental costs of obtaining contracts as an expense when incurred if the amortization period of the assets that the Company otherwise
would have recognized is one year or less. The Company capitalizes incremental costs of obtaining contracts where the contract term is greater than one
year. These costs primarily relate to commissions paid to the account executives and are included in SG&A expenses in the consolidated statements of
(loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income for contracts one year or less and other current assets and other non-current assets on the consolidated
balance sheets for contracts greater than one year.

Costs capitalized are amortized on a straight-line basis over the period of benefit. Amortization of capitalized costs to obtain contracts is included in SG&A
expenses in the consolidated statements of (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income. The Company determined the period of benefit by taking into
consideration standard contract terms, renewals and amendments, if applicable. The capitalized amounts are recoverable through future revenue streams
under all non-cancelable customer contracts. The Company periodically evaluates whether there have been any changes in its business, the market
conditions in which it operates or other events which would indicate that its amortization period should be changed or if there are potential indicators of
impairment.

The following table is a summary of the Company’s costs to obtain contracts and related amortization where the amortization period of the assets is greater
than one year (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Balance at beginning of period $ 1,588 $ 2,039 $ — 

Costs to obtain contracts capitalized 905 811 2,318 

Amortization of capitalized costs (1,685) (1,265) (277)

Changes due to exchange rates 68 3 (2)

Balance at end of period $ 876 $ 1,588 $ 2,039 
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Cost of Revenues

Consists primarily of personnel and related costs directly associated with professional services, including salaries, bonuses, fringe benefits, stock-based
compensation, project related travel costs, and costs of contracted third-party vendors. Also included in cost of revenues is depreciation attributable to the
portion of our property and equipment utilized in the delivery of services to our clients.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Consists of expenses associated with promoting and selling the Company’s services and general and administrative functions of the business. These
expenses include the costs of salaries, bonuses, fringe benefits, commissions, stock-based compensation, severance, bad debt, travel, legal and accounting
services, insurance, facilities including operating leases, advertising and other promotional activities.

Advertising costs consist of marketing, advertising through print and other media, professional event sponsorship, and public relations. These costs are
expensed as incurred. Advertising costs totaled $5.0 million, $4.1 million and $2.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021,
respectively, and are included in SG&A expenses in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss.

Other (Expense) Income

Other (expense) income consists of interest expense, impacts from foreign exchange transactions, gains (losses) on the sale of assets, gains related to the
sale and settlement of trade receivables, change in fair value of contingent consideration and the write-off of deferred financing fees.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments and deposits that are readily converted into cash, with maturities of three months or less.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash is included with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the beginning-of-period and end-of-period total amounts shown on the
statement of cash flows. Restricted cash is restricted as to withdrawal or use. The Company has restricted cash held on deposit at various financial
institutions to secure bank guarantees of amounts related to government requirements and for collateral for a corporate credit card.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Credit Losses

Accounts receivable are uncollateralized customer obligations due under normal trade terms. Payment terms with customers are generally 30 to 90 days
from the invoice date. Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount net of an allowance for credit loss. The Company analyzes its historical
credit loss experience and considers current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts in developing the expected credit loss rates. Interest is not
generally accrued on outstanding balances as the balances are considered short-term in nature.
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Activity related to the Company’s allowance for credit losses is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Allowance for credit losses, beginning balance $ (9,531) $ (8,916) $ (10,385)

Impact of accounting standard adoption (1) — (841) — 

Current period provision (4,606) (2,002) (281)

Write-offs charged against allowance 4,848 2,351 882 

Recoveries of amounts previously written off (96) — — 

Changes due to exchange rates (165) (123) 868 

Allowance for credit losses, ending balance $ (9,550) $ (9,531) $ (8,916)

(1) The Company adopted ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, in
the first quarter of 2022.

Business Combinations

The Company accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting which requires it to allocate the fair value of purchase
consideration to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on the estimated fair values at the acquisition date. The fair value of the net assets
acquired for the business is determined utilizing expectations and assumptions believed reasonable by management. The excess of the purchase
consideration transferred over the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. As additional information is obtained about
the assets and liabilities of the acquisition during the measurement period, not to exceed one year from the date of acquisition, the Company may record
adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed with an offset to goodwill. After the measurement period, any adjustments are recorded in the
consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.

Some business combinations may include a contingent consideration agreement. The Company determines the fair value of the contingent consideration
liability using a Monte Carlo Simulation. The liability is remeasured to fair value at each reporting date with adjustments recorded within other income
(expense), net in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss.

Government Assistance

The Company has historically received government subsidies in the form of cash in China and Singapore related to expenses such as rent, wages, training
benefits and taxes. The subsidies are recorded against the related expense within SG&A expense or cost of revenues in the consolidated statements of loss
and comprehensive loss. The Company recorded $1.3 million and $1.3 million to cost of revenues and $1.3 million and $0.7 million to SG&A expense for the
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the respective assets. The estimated useful lives, by asset class, are as follows:

Office furniture and equipment 7 years

Computer equipment 3 years

Software, including internal-use software 3 to 5 years

Automobiles 7 years

Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the terms of the related leases.
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The Company reviews long-lived assets, including property and equipment and finite-lived intangible assets, for realizability on an ongoing basis. Changes in
depreciation, generally accelerated depreciation, are determined and recorded when estimates of the remaining useful lives or residual values of long-term
assets change. The Company also reviews for impairment when conditions exist that indicate the carrying amount of the asset group may not be fully
recoverable. In those circumstances, the Company performs an undiscounted operating cash flow analysis to determine if an impairment exists. Any
impairment loss is calculated as the excess of the asset’s carrying value over its estimated fair value. Fair value is estimated based on the discounted cash
flows for the asset group over the remaining useful life or based on the expected cash proceeds for the asset less costs of disposal.

Internal-Use Software

In accordance with ASC 350-40, Internal-Use Software, certain costs incurred in the planning and evaluation stage of internal-use computer software are
expensed as incurred. Certain costs incurred during the application development stage are capitalized and included in property and equipment. Capitalized
costs are depreciated over the expected economic useful life of three to five years using the straight-line method.

Capitalized internal-use software asset depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $5.8 million, $4.7 million and $2.2
million, respectively, and is included in depreciation and amortization in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss. As of December 31,
2023 and 2022, the net book value of internal-use software was $5.9 million and $6.5 million, respectively.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair value of the net assets acquired in a business combination. When the Company acquires a business, the
purchase price is allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values as of the acquisition date. During the
measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, adjustments to the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed may be
recorded, with the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period or final determination of the fair value of assets acquired
and liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments are recorded to the consolidated statement of operations.

The Company performs an annual impairment review of goodwill in its fiscal fourth quarter and additional impairment reviews when events and
circumstances indicate it is more likely than not that an impairment may have occurred. The Company assesses goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit
level.

Based on the results of the annual impairment analysis, the Company determined no impairment existed for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022
as the fair value exceeded the carrying amount.

Other Intangible Assets

In accordance with ASC 350, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other, the Company amortizes its finite-lived intangible assets over their respective estimated
useful lives. The Company reviews both indefinite-lived intangibles and finite-lived intangibles for impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they may be impaired. Impairment indicators could include significant under-performance relative to the historical
or projected future operating results, significant changes in the manner of use of assets, significant negative industry or economic trends or significant
changes in the Company’s market capitalization relative to net book value. Any changes in key assumptions used by the Company, including those set forth
above, could result in an impairment charge and such a charge could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated statements of loss and
comprehensive loss. The Company’s other intangible assets consist of an indefinite-lived trademark and finite-lived customer relationships. Customer
relationships have an estimated useful life of four to fifteen years and are being amortized using the straight-line method.

Based on the results of the annual impairment analysis, the Company determined no impairment existed for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022
as the fair value exceeded the carrying amount.
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Income Taxes

The Company is subject to both the United States of America (U.S.) and foreign income taxes. A current tax asset or liability is recognized for the estimated
taxes payable or refundable on tax returns for the year.

Deferred income taxes are recorded to reflect the tax consequences on future years of the difference between the tax bases of assets and liabilities for
income taxes and for financial reporting purposes using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which differences are expected to reverse. The Company
nets the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities from temporary differences arising within the same tax jurisdiction and presents the net asset or
liability as long term.

The Company assesses the need to account for deferred taxes on unremitted earnings of its foreign subsidiaries on an individual country basis according to
management’s assertions regarding repatriation or permanent investment of each country’s accumulated earnings.

A valuation allowance is established when necessary to reduce deferred income tax assets to the amounts expected to be realized.

The Company classifies interest and penalties associated with tax liabilities as income tax expense in the consolidated statements of loss and
comprehensive loss.

The Company provides for tax expense related to Global Intangible Low-Tax Income ("GILTI") in the year the tax is incurred.

The Company’s provision for income taxes includes the impact of provisions established for uncertain income tax positions, as well as any related interest
and penalties. These reserves are adjusted given changing facts and circumstances, such as the closing of a tax audit, statute of limitation lapse or the
refinement of an estimate. To the extent the final outcome of an uncertain income tax position differs from the amounts recorded, such differences will impact
the provision for income taxes in the period in which such determination is made.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive loss consists solely of foreign currency translation adjustments.

Foreign Currency

Assets and liabilities of consolidated foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar are translated into U.S. dollars at period-end
exchange rates and revenues and expenses are translated into U.S. dollars at average exchange rates for the applicable period. The adjustment resulting
from translating the financial statements of such foreign subsidiaries into U.S. dollars is reflected as a cumulative translation adjustment and reported as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive loss.

For consolidated foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency is the U.S. dollar, transactions and balances denominated in the local currency are foreign
currency transactions. Foreign currency transactions and balances related to non-monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured to the functional currency
of the subsidiary at historical exchange rates while monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured to the functional currency of the subsidiary at period-end
exchange rates. Foreign currency exchange gains or losses from remeasurement are included in income in the period in which they occur.

Commitments and Contingencies

Certain conditions may exist as of the date of the consolidated financial statements which may result in a loss to the Company but will only be resolved when
one or more future events occur or fail to occur. Such liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation, fines, penalties, and other
sources, are recorded when the Company assesses that it is probable that a future liability has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated.
Recoveries of costs from third parties, which the Company assesses as being probable of realization, are recorded to the extent of related contingent
liabilities accrued.
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Legal costs incurred in connection with matters relating to contingencies are expensed in the period incurred. The Company records gain contingencies
when realized.

Deferred Financing Fees

Deferred financing fees represent third-party debt issuance costs associated with the related debt facility. Deferred financing fees associated with the
Company’s debt agreements are treated as a discount on the outstanding debt balance and amortized over the term of the respective debt facility, using the
effective interest rate method and reported as a component of interest expense. Debt discounts on the Company’s debt are reflected as a direct deduction
from the carrying amount of the long-term portion of the related debt liability.

The Company recorded interest expense as it relates to deferred financing fees of $2.5 million, $1.6 million and $1.6 million for the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company determines the fair values of its financial instruments based on the fair value hierarchy. ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement, includes a fair
value hierarchy that is intended to increase consistency and comparability in fair value measurements and related disclosures. The fair value hierarchy is
based on observable or unobservable inputs to valuation techniques that are used to measure fair value. Observable inputs reflect assumptions market
participants would use in pricing an asset or liability based on market data obtained from independent sources while unobservable inputs reflect a reporting
entity’s pricing based upon its own market assumptions.

The fair value hierarchy consists of the following three levels:

• Level 1: Inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
• Level 2: Inputs are quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in an active market, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets

that are not active and inputs other than quoted prices that are observable and market-corroborated inputs, which are derived principally from or
corroborated by observable market data.

• Level 3: Inputs that are derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or value drivers are unobservable.

The fair value of certain assets, such as nonfinancial assets, primarily long-lived assets, goodwill, intangible assets and certain other assets, are recognized
or disclosed in connection with impairment evaluations. All non-recurring valuations use significant unobservable inputs and therefore fall under Level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy.

The carrying amounts of financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximated fair value as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, because of the relatively short maturity of these instruments. Additionally, the Company estimates the fair value of the Term
Loan, discussed in Note 12, Credit Agreements, using current market yields. These current market yields are considered Level 2 inputs. The fair value of the
Term Loan was $294.0 million and $392.0 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for employee and Director equity-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation – Stock Compensation.
Accordingly, compensation expense is based on the grant date fair value of those awards and is recognized over the requisite service period for the
respective award. The Company’s equity-based awards granted to employees include service-based stock option awards, RSUs and PSUs, both market and
non-market based.

The Company grants EBITDA PSUs and rTSR PSUs to certain executives and employees under the Omnibus Plan. The EBITDA PSUs are earned based
on the Company’s achievement of specified adjusted EBITDA targets. The rTSR PSUs are earned based on the Company's achievement of specified rTSR
targets. Both
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types of PSUs vest over a three-year service period, subject to the participant’s continued employment with us or our affiliate, as applicable.
The fair value of the options, RSUs, and EBITDA PSUs is determined using the grant date stock price of the Company’s common stock. The fair value for
the rTSR PSUs is determined using a Monte-Carlo simulation. Compensation expense for awards solely subject to time-based vesting conditions (i.e.,
options and RSUs), will be recognized over their requisite service period (typically one to four years) on a straight-line amortization basis. Compensation
expense for PSUs is recognized over their requisite service period on an accelerated amortization basis, from the date of grant through the last day of the
requisite service period. The expense for the EBITDA PSUs is adjusted based on an estimate of awards ultimately expected to vest. The expense for the
rTSR PSUs awards will be fully recognized over the service period, regardless if the targets are met. The Company records forfeitures as they occur. The
compensation expense is recognized in the Company’s consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss.

At the time of grant, the Company takes into consideration the timing of the equity award and evaluates for conditions that could result in the award being
considered spring loaded awards. The Company did not grant equity awards that would be considered spring loaded awards in 2023.

Refer to Note 10, Stock-Based Compensation, for more information on equity-based awards.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In October 2021, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2021-08, which amends ASC 805 to
require acquiring entities to apply ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), to recognize and measure contract assets and
contract liabilities in a business combination. The guidance is effective for public entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim
periods within those fiscal years. Entities should apply the ASU’s provisions prospectively to business combinations occurring on or after the effective date of
the amendments. The Company adopted the standard in the first quarter of 2023. The adoption did not have a material impact on the Company's
consolidated financial statements.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial
Reporting, which provides temporary optional expedients and exceptions for applying generally accepted accounting principles to contracts, hedging
relationships, and other transactions to ease the financial reporting burdens related to the expected market transition from London Interbank Offer Rate
("LIBOR") and other interbank offered rates to alternative reference rates. The optional amendments are effective as of March 12, 2020 through December
31, 2024, and upon adoption may be applied prospectively through December 31, 2024. The Company elected to utilize the temporary optional expedients in
connection with the amendment of our credit agreement, which transitioned the Term Loan from LIBOR to the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”)
on May 18, 2023. Refer to Note 12, Credit Agreements. The adoption did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which is intended to
improve reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses. The guidance is effective
for public entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early
adoption is permitted. The guidance should be applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented in the financial statements. Upon transition, the segment
expense categories and amounts disclosed in the prior periods should be based on the significant segment expense categories identified and disclosed in
the period of adoption. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this ASU on the consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, which requires public business
entities to provide annual disclosure of specific categories in the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid disaggregated by jurisdiction. The guidance is
effective for public entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. The ASU applies on a
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prospective basis, however, retrospective application is permitted. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this ASU on the consolidated financial
statements.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Other Risks and Uncertainties

Revenue generated from the Company's operations outside of the United States for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was 66%, 63%
and 65%, respectively.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, approximately 75% and 69%, respectively, of trade accounts receivable and unbilled accounts receivable was due from
customers located outside the United States. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had net fixed assets of $18.7 million and $30.0 million,
respectively, outside the United States.

Note 2 – Revenue Recognition

The Company disaggregates revenues from contracts with customers by geographic customer location, industry vertical and revenue contract types.
Geographic customer location is pertinent to understanding the Company's revenues, as the Company generates its revenues from providing professional
services to customers in various regions across the world. The Company groups customers into one of five industry verticals. Revenue contract types are
differentiated by the type of pricing structure for customer contracts, which is predominantly time-and-materials, but also includes fixed price contracts.

Disaggregation of Revenues

The following table presents the disaggregation of the Company’s revenues by customer location (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

North America (1) $ 417,571 $ 503,948 $ 396,491 

APAC (2) 387,061 419,982 358,596 

Europe (3) 280,390 315,875 267,121 

LATAM 41,794 56,433 47,737 

Total revenues $ 1,126,816 $ 1,296,238 $ 1,069,945 

(1) For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the United States represented 35.7%, or $402.6 million; 36.6%, or $474.3 million; and 34.8%,
or $372.8 million, respectively, of the Company’s total revenues. Canadian operations were determined to be immaterial given the revenues as a
percentage of total North America revenues was less than 10% for each of the years.

(2) For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, Australia represented 10.3%, or $116.4 million, 11.4%, or $148.3 million, and 10.9%, or
$116.5 million, respectively, of the Company's total revenues.

(3) For the year ended December 31, 2023, revenues in the United Kingdom as a percentage of the Company's total revenues was less than 10%. For the
years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the United Kingdom represented 10.2%, or $132.6 million; and 10.8%, or $115.2 million, respectively, of the
Company’s total revenues. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2021, revenues in Germany represented 11.1%, or $125.3 million, and 10.6%,
or $113.8 million, respectively, of the Company’s total revenues. For the year ended December 31, 2022, revenues in Germany as a percentage of the
Company's total revenues was less than 10%.

Other foreign countries were determined to be immaterial given the revenues as a percentage of the Company’s total revenues was less than 10% for the
years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.
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The following table presents the disaggregation of the Company’s revenues by industry vertical (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Energy, public and health services $ 294,029 $ 316,478 $ 275,279 

Technology and business services 279,264 360,117 288,709 

Financial services and insurance 197,407 221,748 170,492 

Automotive, travel and transportation 179,268 161,164 132,272 

Retail and consumer 176,848 236,731 203,193 

Total revenues $ 1,126,816 $ 1,296,238 $ 1,069,945 

The following table presents the disaggregation of the Company’s revenues by contract type (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Time-and-materials $ 895,939 $ 1,085,533 $ 872,271 

Fixed-price 230,877 210,705 197,674 

Total revenues $ 1,126,816 $ 1,296,238 $ 1,069,945 

Contract Balances

The following table is a summary of the Company’s contract assets and contract liabilities (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2023 2022

Contract assets included in unbilled receivables $ 29,981 $ 39,941 

Contract liabilities included in deferred revenue $ 18,090 $ 5,167 

Contract assets primarily relate to unbilled amounts on fixed-price contracts, where the right to consideration is conditional on the satisfaction of performance
obligations that are measured based on hours incurred and the end deliverable to the customer. Contract assets are recorded when services have been
provided but the Company does not have an unconditional right to receive consideration. Professional services performed on or prior to the balance sheet
date, but invoiced thereafter, are reflected in unbilled receivables.

Contract liabilities represent amounts collected from the Company’s customers for revenues not yet earned. Such amounts are anticipated to be recorded as
revenues when services are performed in subsequent periods. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized $5.0 million and
$13.7 million, respectively, of revenues that were included in contract liabilities at the prior year end.

Transaction Price Allocated to Remaining Performance Obligations

The Company does not have material future performance obligations that extend beyond one year. Accordingly, the Company has applied the optional
exemption for contracts that have an original expected duration of one year or less.

Note 3 – Acquisitions

On February 1, 2023, the Company completed the acquisition of Itoc, a leading Amazon Web Services Advanced Consulting Partner and Cloud Managed
Services Provider in Australia, in an all-cash transaction for a gross purchase price of $17.8 million, or $16.0 million net of cash acquired of $1.8 million. Itoc
is now wholly
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owned by the Company. The acquisition expands Thoughtworks’ capabilities to help modernize and place digital at the center of client operations as they
transition to the cloud.

The Company accounted for the acquisition under ASC 805, Business Combinations. The goodwill recognized in connection with the acquisition reflects the
benefits expected to be derived from certain operational synergies. The fair value of the net assets acquired for the business was determined using Level 3
inputs, for which little or no market data exists, requiring the Company to develop assumptions regarding future cash flow projections. The results of
operations of the acquired business have been included in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss from the acquisition date. Pro forma
results of operations for the acquisition are not presented because the pro forma effects were not material to the Company's consolidated statements of loss
and comprehensive loss.

Aggregate acquisition-related costs related to Itoc of $4.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 were included within SG&A expenses in the
consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss.

The Company's final allocation of the fair value of underlying assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date is as follows (in thousands):
Total

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,788 

Trade receivables, net of allowance 1,251 

Customer relationships, net (1) 3,500 

Goodwill 13,766 

Accounts payable (110)

Accrued compensation (363)

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (1,162)

Income taxes payable (178)

Lease liabilities, current (173)

Deferred tax liabilities (1,050)

Other assets/liabilities, net 508 

Total gross purchase price $ 17,777 

(1) The weighted average amortization period is four years.

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The changes in fair value allocated to
goodwill, tangible and intangible assets are not deductible for tax purposes.

In connection with the acquisition of Connected Lab Inc. ("Connected") in the second quarter of 2022, the Company recorded a liability of $14.0 million of
contingent consideration, which is included within the total purchase price and classified within accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2022. The present value of the contingent consideration liability was determined using a Monte Carlo
Simulation that calculated the average present value of the earnout payment. The fair value measurement of the earnout includes a performance metric
which is an unobservable Level 3 input. The contingent consideration is payable in cash dependent upon achievement of the performance metric. The
liability was remeasured to fair value at each reporting date with adjustments recorded within other (expense) income, net in the consolidated statements of
loss and comprehensive loss, and the final payout amount of $14.3 million was paid on May 4, 2023.
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The following table presents the change in the contingent consideration liability (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Balance at beginning of period $ 14,255 $ — 

Additions in the period — 13,996 

Payments in the period (14,344) — 

Change in fair value 129 1,027 

Change due to exchange rates (40) (768)

Balance at end of period $ — $ 14,255 

Note 4 – Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The following is a summary of the changes in the carrying value of goodwill (in thousands):

Total

Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ 346,719 

Additions due to acquisitions 71,700 

Changes due to exchange rates (13,402)

Balance as of December 31, 2022 405,017 

Additions due to acquisitions 13,766 

Changes due to exchange rates 5,782 

Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 424,565 

The following is a summary of other intangible assets (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2023 2022

Customer relationships $ 196,947 $ 193,447 

Less accumulated amortization (73,893) (59,369)

Customer relationships, net 123,054 134,078 

Trademark 273,000 273,000 

Total other intangible assets, after amortization 396,054 407,078 

Changes due to exchange rates (8,868) (10,031)

Other intangible assets, net $ 387,186 $ 397,047 

Other than an indefinite-lived trademark, the Company’s intangible assets have finite lives and, as such, are subject to amortization. The weighted average
remaining useful life of the Company’s finite-lived intangible assets was 8.1 years and 9.2 years as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
Amortization expense related to these intangible assets was $14.5 million, $13.1 million and $12.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021, respectively.
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As of December 31, 2023, estimated amortization expense for the next five years and thereafter is as follows (in thousands):

Total
2024 $ 15,510 

2025 15,510 

2026 15,510 

2027 14,708 

2028 14,635 

Thereafter 47,181 

$ 123,054 

Note 5 – Income Taxes

(Loss)/Income Before Provision for Income Taxes

(Loss)/income before provision for income taxes based on geographic location is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
(Loss)/income before provision for income taxes:

United States $ 49 $ (48,578) $ (27,630)

Foreign (43,179) (25,990) 43,795 

Total $ (43,130) $ (74,568) $ 16,165 

Provision for Income Taxes

The provision/(benefit) for income taxes is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Current:

Federal $ 6,517 $ 32,746 $ 9,839 

State 3,229 9,259 5,071 

Foreign 24,136 8,245 24,199 

Total current 33,882 50,250 39,109 

Deferred:

Federal (4,207) (15,379) (9,088)

State (947) (3,228) (2,457)

Foreign (3,197) (818) (10,824)

Total deferred (8,351) (19,425) (22,369)

Total income tax expense $ 25,531 $ 30,825 $ 16,740 
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Effective Tax Rate Reconciliation

A reconciliation of the Company’s provision for income taxes to income taxes computed at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate of 21% is as follows (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Provision for income taxes at federal statutory rate $ (9,058) $ (15,659) $ 3,395 

Increase/(decrease) in taxes resulting from:

Non deductible expenses 810 4,713 3,008 

Research and development and foreign tax credits (9,289) (9,419) (16,311)

Effect of foreign taxes and foreign exchange rates 1,102 81 5,695 

GILTI and related international adjustments 1,667 12,528 8,972 

§162(m) limitation on executive compensation 1,146 2,759 7,396 

Stock compensation excess tax deficiencies/(benefits) 16,747 2,739 (8,206)

China non-deductible stock compensation expense 2,916 15,329 — 

US state income taxes, net of federal tax benefit 673 3,811 1,072 

Change in deferred tax valuation allowance 18,005 11,919 10,060 

U.K. rate change 513 (313) 855 

Adjustments of prior year estimates and other (3,152) (1,044) (2,330)

Adjustments associated with income tax uncertainties 3,451 3,381 3,134 

Total income tax expense $ 25,531 $ 30,825 $ 16,740 

Deferred Income Taxes

The components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities include the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2023 2022
Deferred tax assets:

Accrued expenses $ 36,129 $ 23,572 

Goodwill 379 850 

Net operating loss carryforwards 40,632 20,409 

Research and development and foreign tax credit carryforwards 1,423 1,350 

Allowance for doubtful accounts 2,606 2,772 

Fixed assets 2,519 2,526 

Stock-based compensation 10,222 22,533 

Business interest 11,898 9,685 

Other assets 2,128 4,790 

Total deferred tax assets 107,936 88,487 

Total valuation allowance (47,625) (28,510)

Total deferred tax assets $ 60,311 $ 59,977 
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As of December 31,

2023 2022
Deferred tax liabilities:

Unremitted earnings of subsidiaries and unrealized translation gains $ (2,634) $ (2,793)

Prepaid expenses (3,652) (3,545)

Fixed assets (362) (649)

Deferred revenue (445) (460)

Customer relationships (30,693) (32,844)

Trademark (73,028) (73,028)

Internally developed software (1,415) (1,565)

Other liabilities (378) (192)

Total deferred tax liabilities (112,607) (115,076)

Total deferred tax liabilities, net $ (52,296) $ (55,099)

Management believes that it is more likely than not that certain deferred tax assets will not be realized. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company
established a full valuation allowance for deferred tax assets in select non-US jurisdictions of approximately $30.3 million and $14.5 million, respectively. The
Company established a valuation allowance of approximately $16.4 million and $13.1 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, for a separate
company U.S. federal net operating loss carryforward and separate company U.S. federal limitation of business interest. The Company established a
valuation allowance of approximately $1.0 million and $1.0 million for certain foreign tax credits at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had separate company U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards of $21.6 million and $14.1 million,
respectively. The U.S. federal net operating loss carryforward period is indefinite. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had U.S. state net
operating loss carryforward benefits of $0.1 million and $0.1 million, respectively. The majority of U.S. state net operating loss carryforwards have expiration
periods that range from 10 to 20 years.

At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had foreign net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $146.0 million and $68.2 million, respectively.
For material APAC jurisdictions, the net operating loss carryforward period is 5 years, and for all other material jurisdictions, the net operating loss
carryforward period is indefinite.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company does not assert permanent reinvestment on previously taxed foreign earnings with the exception of India,
where the Company is permanently reinvested. Deferred tax liabilities of $1.8 million and $2.1 million, respectively, have been accrued on the foreign
withholding taxes due upon repatriation. At December 31, 2023 and 2022 a deferred tax asset of $1.5 million and $3.3 million, respectively, has been
accrued and recorded to other comprehensive income for cumulative foreign currency translation on previously-taxed earnings and profits of the Company’s
controlled foreign corporations. Additional tax implications of future repatriations were considered and deemed immaterial.

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

As of December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Company recorded $17.8 million, $14.5 million and $11.3 million, respectively, of unrecognized tax benefits,
which if recognized, would favorably affect the Company’s effective tax rate.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Balance, beginning of year $ 14,990 $ 11,609 $ 8,123 

Additions for tax positions related to the current year 1,025 — 2,068 

Additions for tax positions related to prior years 7,388 3,424 1,923 

Reductions for tax positions related to prior years (23) (43) (505)

Statute of limitations expirations (1,520) — — 

Settlements with tax authorities (3,419) — — 

Balance, end of year $ 18,441 $ 14,990 $ 11,609 

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022
and 2021, the income tax expense/(benefit) recognized for interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax (expense)/benefits was $0.7 million,
$0.4 million and $0.3 million, respectively. At December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Company had cumulative liabilities for penalties and interest related to
unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $2.7 million, $2.0 million and $1.6 million, respectively. There were no tax positions for which it was reasonably
possible that unrecognized tax benefits will significantly increase or decrease within twelve months of the reporting date.

The Company files tax returns in the U.S. federal, various U.S. states, and various foreign jurisdictions. With few exceptions, the Company is no longer
subject to U.S. federal or state income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2020. The Company’s India subsidiary is no longer subject to
income tax examinations by tax authorities in India for years before 2005. For the remaining foreign tax jurisdictions, with few exceptions, the Company is no
longer subject to income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2017.

Note 6 – Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2023 2022

Automobiles $ 59 $ 5 

Computer equipment 45,749 46,300 

Software, including internal-use 22,277 19,170 

Leasehold improvements 24,200 22,245 

Office furniture and equipment 6,407 6,561 

98,692 94,281 

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (72,646) (55,483)

Property and equipment, net $ 26,046 $ 38,798 

Depreciation and amortization expense for property and equipment was $21.9 million, $21.3 million and $17.5 million for the years ended December 31,
2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Note 7 – Loss Per Common Share

Basic loss per common share is computed by dividing the net loss allocated to common shareholders by the weighted average common shares outstanding
for the period.

Diluted loss per common share is computed by giving effect to all potential shares of common stock, including outstanding stock options, unvested RSUs
and unvested PSUs, to the extent the shares are dilutive. PSU shares are not included in dilution during the performance period. Once the performance
period is
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complete, the PSU shares are included in dilution during the remaining service period, to the extent they are dilutive. Basic and diluted loss per common
share are the same for all periods presented as the inclusion of all potential shares of common stock outstanding would have been anti-dilutive. The dilutive
effect of potentially dilutive securities is reflected in diluted earnings per common share by application of the treasury stock method.

The components of basic and diluted loss per common share are as follows (in thousands, except share and per share data):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Numerator:

Net loss $ (68,661) $ (105,393) $ (575)

Preferred stock dividends — — (59,642)

Net loss allocated to common stockholders $ (68,661) $ (105,393) $ (60,217)

Denominator:

Weighted average shares outstanding – Basic and diluted 317,718,424 310,911,526 254,271,997 

Basic and diluted loss per common share $ (0.22) $ (0.34) $ (0.24)

The following potentially dilutive securities were excluded from the computation of diluted loss per common share because the impact of including them
would have been anti-dilutive:

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Employee stock options, RSUs and performance stock units ("PSUs") 22,182,607 26,802,540 23,435,860 

    

Note 8 – Leases

The Company leases facilities (office space and corporate apartments) and equipment (IT equipment) under various non-cancelable operating leases that
expire through September 2032, some of which include one or more options to extend the leases, generally at rates to be determined in accordance with the
agreements. The Company's facility leases generally provide for periodic rent increases and may contain escalation clauses and renewal options. The
Company's lease terms include options to extend the lease if they are reasonably certain of being exercised.

The Company recognizes operating lease expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term and variable lease payments are expensed as incurred.
Lease costs are primarily recorded within SG&A expenses in the Company's consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss. As of December 31,
2023 and 2022, the Company's finance leases were immaterial.

The Company determines if a contract contains a lease at lease inception. If the borrowing rate implicit in the lease is not determinable, the Company uses
its incremental borrowing rate ("IBR") based on information available at lease commencement including prevailing financial market conditions to determine
the present value of future lease payments. The Company has elected the option to combine lease and non-lease components as a single component for
the Company's entire population of lease assets.

Operating lease assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date. Operating lease liabilities represent the present value of lease
payments not yet paid. Operating lease assets represent the right to use an underlying asset and are based upon the operating lease liabilities adjusted for
prepayments or accrued lease payments, initial direct costs, and lease incentives. The Company has elected not to apply the recognition requirements to
short-term leases of 12 months or less and instead recognizes lease payments as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company’s
lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants. Leased assets are presented net of accumulated
amortization. Variable lease payment amounts that cannot be determined at the
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commencement of the lease, such as increases in lease payments based on changes in index rates or usage, are not included in the ROU assets or
liabilities; instead, these are expensed as incurred and recorded as variable lease expense.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had additional operating leases that have not yet commenced of $2.7 million. These leases will commence in 2024
and have lease terms ranging from 5 to 6 years.

The following table presents total lease cost (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022
Operating lease cost $ 21,275 $ 19,818 

Variable lease cost 4,026 2,908 

Short-term lease cost 621 614 

Total lease cost $ 25,922 $ 23,340 

The following table presents supplemental cash flow information (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities $ 21,466 $ 19,779 

ROU assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities $ 16,344 $ 21,819 

Non-cash net decrease due to lease modifications:

Operating lease ROU assets $ (2,326) $ — 

Operating lease liabilities $ (1,850) $ — 

The following table presents average lease terms and discount rates:
As of December 31,

2023 2022
Weighted-average remaining operating lease term (years) 4.2 4.7

Weighted average operating lease discount rate 5.9 % 5.3 %

As of December 31, 2023, the aggregate future lease payments under all operating leases are as follows (in thousands):
Operating

2024 $ 17,411 

2025 12,123 

2026 8,094 

2027 4,377 

2028 2,736 

Thereafter 5,908 

Total lease payments 50,649 

Less: imputed interest 5,567 

Present value of lease liabilities $ 45,082 
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ASC 840 Disclosures

Prior to the adoption of Topic 842, total rent expense for all operating leases for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $19.4 million.

Note 9 – Stockholders' Equity

Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

In September 2021, upon the closing of the Company's IPO, all outstanding shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock were converted into an
aggregate of 1,365,058 shares (pre-43.6-for-1 stock split) of common stock.

Further, in connection with the IPO, the Company’s amended and restated certificate of incorporation became effective, which authorized the issuance of
100,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock with a par value of $0.001 per share with rights and preferences, including voting rights, designated
from time to time by the Board of Directors.

Common Stock

In connection with the IPO, all classes of shares of the Company's common stock then outstanding were converted into 5,259,163 shares (pre-43.6-for-1
stock split) of common stock on a one-to-one basis. As a result, the securities of the Company are represented by shares of common stock with a par value
of $0.001 per share. Each share of common stock is entitled to one vote. With respect to payment of dividends and distribution of assets upon liquidation,
dissolution or winding up of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, all shares of common stock will participate pro rata in such payment whenever
funds are legally available and when declared by the Board, subject to the prior rights of holders of all classes of stock outstanding.

As of December 31, 2023, there were 1,000,000,000 shares of common stock authorized and 322,407,385 shares of common stock outstanding.

Note 10 – Stock-Based Compensation

Equity Incentive Plans

On October 12, 2017, the Company approved the 2017 Plan for the purpose of providing an incentive compensation structure to participants. Under the
2017 Plan, the Company may make awards to such present and future officers, directors, employees, consultants and advisors of the Company as may be
selected at the sole discretion of the Board. The option awards gave the participant the right to purchase the Company's former Class C common stock for a
prespecified exercise price. As a result of the IPO, the Company no longer grants awards under the 2017 Plan, and all previously awarded options can now
be exercised for only the Company's current common stock when vested and exercisable.

In September 2021, the Board approved the Omnibus Plan to assist the Company in attracting, retaining, motivating, and rewarding certain employees,
officers, directors, and consultants of the Company and its Affiliates and promoting the creation of long-term value for stockholders, which became effective
in connection with the IPO. A total of 77,304,732 shares of the Company’s common stock have been reserved for issuance under the Omnibus Plan.
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The following is a summary of the components of stock-based compensation expense for the periods indicated (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Cost of revenues $ 38,981 $ 176,046 $ 60,678 

Selling, general and administrative expenses 25,848 73,869 67,624 

Restructuring 197 — — 

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 65,026 $ 249,915 $ 128,302 

The income tax expense/(benefit) recognized related to stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was
$20.9 million, $20.6 million and $(0.8) million, respectively.

Stock Options

Under the 2017 Plan, eligible employees received non-qualified stock options as a portion of their total compensation. The options vest on a graded time
vesting schedule (“Time Vesting Options”) over a vesting term of four years and a contractual term of 10 years, with 37.5% vesting on the 18-month
anniversary and 6.25% vesting every three months for the remainder of the 48-month period. Upon a change of control, 100% of the time-vesting options will
vest immediately. Any unvested options will be forfeited upon termination of employment.

The following is a summary of performance and time vesting stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2023 (in thousands, except share and per
share data):

Number of Stock
Options

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Aggregate
 Intrinsic Value

Weighted-
 Average

 Remaining
 Contractual
 Term (years)

Balance at December 31, 2022 21,607,562 $ 3.83 

Granted — — 

Forfeited (579,649) 10.88 

Exercised (2,432,182) 2.70 

Cancelled — — 

Expired — — 

Balance at December 31, 2023 18,595,731 $ 3.76 $ 36,016 4.5

Exercisable at December 31, 2023 18,213,108 $ 3.60 $ 36,016 4.5

As of December 31, 2023, total compensation cost related to Time Vesting Options not yet recognized was $3.0 million, which will be recognized over a
weighted-average period of 1.2 years. Unless otherwise prohibited by law in local jurisdictions, Time Vesting Options will continue to vest according to the
2017 Plan and the applicable award agreements.

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $9.2 million, $29.6 million and $24.9 million,
respectively. The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted during the year ended December 31, 2021 was $10.32. No options were granted
during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.
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The following table summarizes the weighted-average assumptions used in estimating the fair value of stock options granted to employees:
Year Ended December 31,

2021 (1)

Risk-free interest rate 0.1 %

Dividend yield — %

Expected volatility 55.0 %

Expected term (years) 1

(1) The risk-free interest rate is based on the rates of U.S. Treasury securities with a maturity similar to the term to liquidity, continuously compounded. The
expected equity volatility is estimated based on an analysis of guideline public companies’ historical volatility. As these stock options were awarded prior
to the IPO, the expected term was estimated based on management’s assumptions of time to a liquidity event.

Restricted Stock Units

In September 2021, the Board approved the Omnibus Plan. Under the Omnibus Plan, RSUs are awarded to eligible employees and entitle the grantee to
receive shares of common stock at the end of a vesting period. Unvested RSUs as of December 31, 2023 have varying vesting schedules, with the majority
of shares vesting evenly over four years. Throughout the vesting period shareholders are subject to the market risk on the value of their shares.

The following is a summary of RSU activity for the year ended December 31, 2023:

Number of RSUs
Weighted Average Grant

Date Fair Value
Unvested balance at December 31, 2022 13,013,946 $ 17.37 

Granted 8,323,470 4.04 

Forfeited (1,995,186) 16.68 

Vested (1) (6,005,401) 20.03 

Unvested balance at December 31, 2023 13,336,829 $ 7.96 

(1) Includes 1.7 million shares that were net settled when released and returned to the share pool for future grants.

The total fair value of RSUs vested during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $32.4 million and $189.6 million, respectively. No RSUs
vested during the year ended December 31, 2021.

As of December 31, 2023, total compensation cost related to all RSUs not yet recognized was $99.7 million, which will be recognized over a weighted-
average period of 2.7 years.

Performance Stock Units

The Company grants PSUs to certain executives and employees under the Omnibus Plan, which include awards with a performance and time-based vesting
as well as awards with market-based performance vesting components. The performance and time-based PSUs, or non-market-based PSUs, are subject to
the Company’s achievement of specified profit targets. The market-based awards are tied to the Company's performance against relative total shareholder
return ("rTSR") targets. Both types of PSUs vest at the end of a three-year service period.
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The following is a summary of PSU activity for the year ended December 31, 2023:

Number of PSUs
Weighted Average Grant

Date Fair Value
Unvested balance at December 31, 2022 76,697 $ 20.11 

Granted (1) 737,483 8.44 

Adjustment for PSUs expected to vest as of current period end (718,483) 8.21 

Forfeited (7,565) 12.33 

Vested — — 

Unvested balance at December 31, 2023 88,132 $ 20.11 

(1) Reflects shares granted at 100%.

For compensation expense purposes, the fair value of the non-market-based PSUs was determined using the closing stock price on the grant date, and the
fair value for the market-based PSUs was determined using a Monte-Carlo simulation.

As of December 31, 2023, total compensation cost related to PSUs not yet recognized was $4.6 million. The unamortized expense is anticipated to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.7 years.

Note 11 – Benefit Plans

The Company sponsors a 401(k) plan for substantially all U.S. employees. Employees are allowed to make contributions to the plan through withholdings of
their salary. The plan provides for the Company to make a discretionary matching contribution. Contributions to the plan for the years ended December 31,
2023, 2022 and 2021, totaled $3.8 million, $4.1 million and $3.1 million, respectively. The Company also maintains similar defined contribution plans in the
United Kingdom, Canada, Spain, Italy, Singapore, and Thailand. Total employer contributions under these plans for the years ended December 31, 2023,
2022 and 2021 were $7.2 million, $6.6 million and $5.4 million, respectively.

Note 12 – Credit Agreements

The Company entered into a Senior Secured Credit Facilities (the “Term Loan”), dated October 12, 2017, most recently amended as of May 18, 2023,
among the Company, the syndicate lenders thereto and Credit Suisse, AG, Cayman Islands Branch, as administrative agent, to finance, in part, the
acquisition of all of the outstanding common stock of the Company. The Term Loan and the Revolver, together with any subsequent amendments, are
collectively referred to as the Credit Agreement.

On March 26, 2021, the Company amended and restated its credit agreement (the “Amendment and Restatement”) to increase the term loan facility to a
total of $715.0 million. Also, as part of the facility, the aggregate revolving credit facility was increased from $85.0 million to $165.0 million.

On December 9, 2022, the Company amended and restated its credit agreement (the “Second Amendment and Restatement”) to (i) increase the amount of
revolving credit commitments from $165.0 million to $300.0 million and (ii) transition the reference rate for the revolving borrowings under the Credit
Agreement from LIBOR to SOFR and amend the applicable margins as specified therein.

On May 18, 2023, the Company amended and restated its credit agreement (the “Third Amendment and Restatement”) to transition the reference rate for
the Term Loan borrowings under the Credit Agreement from LIBOR to SOFR.

Borrowings under the Term Loan bear interest at a rate per annum equal to an applicable margin based on the Company’s leverage ratio, plus either (a) a
base rate or (b) the SOFR rate, at the Company's option, subject to interest rate floors.
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Borrowings under the Revolver bear interest at a rate per annum equal to an applicable margin based on the Company’s leverage ratio, plus either (a) a
base rate or (b) the SOFR rate at the Company's option. In addition to paying interest on outstanding borrowings under the Revolver, the Company is
required to pay a commitment fee to the lenders under the Revolver in respect of unutilized commitments thereunder and customary letter of credit fees.

All obligations of the Company under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities provided by any lender party to the Senior Secured Credit Facilities or any of its
affiliates and certain other persons are unconditionally guaranteed by a wholly owned subsidiary of Thoughtworks Holding, Inc., and each existing and
subsequently acquired or organized direct or indirect wholly owned domestic restricted subsidiary of the Company, with customary exceptions including,
among other things, where providing such guarantees is not permitted by law, regulation or contract or would result in material adverse tax consequences.
All obligations under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities provided by any lender party to the Senior Secured Credit Facilities or any of its affiliates and
certain other persons, and the guarantees of such obligations, are secured, subject to permitted liens and other exceptions, as outlined in the Senior
Secured Credit Facilities.

The Term Loans and borrowings under our Revolver contain a number of financial and non-financial covenants that, among other things, restrict, subject to
certain exceptions, the Company’s ability and the ability of the Company’s restricted subsidiaries to engage in certain activities, such as incur indebtedness
or permit to exist any lien on any property or asset now owned or hereafter acquired, as specified in the debt facility.

The Credit Agreement requires compliance with certain covenants customary for agreements of this type. As of December 31, 2023, the Company was in
compliance with its debt covenants.

The Company incurred and capitalized deferred financing fees, or third-party debt issuance costs, of $0.1 million and $3.6 million related to the restated
credit agreement for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The debt issuance costs are recorded as reductions of the outstanding
long-term indebtedness. The Term Loan is paid in equal quarterly installments in aggregate annual amounts equal to 1% of the original principal amount of
the Term Loan.

On February 24, 2023, the Company made a voluntary prepayment of $100.0 million on outstanding amounts owed on the Term Loan. As a result of the
prepayment, the Company wrote off $0.9 million of deferred financing fees, which is reflected in other (expense) income, net in the consolidated statements
of loss and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2023.

The following table presents the Company's outstanding debt and borrowing capacity (in thousands):
As of December 31,

2023 2022
Availability under revolving credit facility (due March 26, 2026) $ 300,000 $ 300,000 

Borrowings under revolving credit facility — — 

Long-term debt (due March 24, 2028), including current portion (1) 293,185 399,006 

Interest rate 8.0 % 6.9 %

(1) The balance includes deferred financing fees. A reconciliation of gross to net amounts is presented below.

The carrying value of the Company’s credit facilities (including current maturities) is as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2023 2022

Long-term debt, less current portion $ 288,188 $ 395,338 

Capitalized deferred financing fees (2,153) (3,482)

Long-term debt 286,035 391,856 

Current portion of long-term debt 7,150 7,150 

Total debt carrying value $ 293,185 $ 399,006 
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As of December 31, 2023, the Company’s future principal cash payments for the Term Loan are as follows (in thousands):
Total

2024 $ 7,150 

2025 7,150 

2026 7,150 

2027 7,150 

2028 266,738 

Total future principal cash payments $ 295,338 

Note 13 – Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

The following is a summary of the Company’s accrued expenses and other current liabilities (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2023 2022
Contingent consideration $ — $ 14,255 

Value-added tax and sales tax payable 4,821 7,526 

Restructuring 3,503 — 

Other accrued expenses 13,830 15,972 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 22,154 $ 37,753 

Note 14 – Restructuring Actions

On August 8, 2023, the Company announced that its Board of Directors approved and committed to a structural reorganization (the "Reorganization") on
August 7, 2023 that will (i) move its operational functions from a geographic to a centralized model, (ii) create a new organizational home for the majority of
its client facing workforce, our Digital Engineering Center, and (iii) evolve its regional market structure. The majority of the actions were taken in the third
quarter of 2023, and the Company expects actions to be completed by the end of the third quarter of 2024.

Thoughtworks expects to incur total pre-tax cash charges of approximately $20 million to $25 million (the “Total Charges”), of which $18.9 million was
recognized in 2023. The expected Total Charges include $18 million to $22 million in wage-related expenses, such as employee severance and related
benefits, and $2 million to $3 million in non-wage related expenses, including costs related to reducing leased office space, vendor contract cancellations,
professional fees and other reorganization costs.

The total costs related to the Reorganization are reported in restructuring in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss. The liability as of
December 31, 2023 is reflected in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. The table below summarizes the
activities related to the restructuring for the year ended December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Wage-related expenses Non-wage related expenses Total

Liability as of December 31, 2022 $ — $ — $ — 

Charges 17,244 1,700 18,944 

Payments (13,913) (684) (14,597)

Non-cash items (1) (197) (647) (844)

Liability as of December 31, 2023 $ 3,134 $ 369 $ 3,503 
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(1) Wage-related expenses includes stock-based compensation expense. Non-wage related expenses includes charges related to reducing leased office
space.

Note 15 – Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The following table summarizes the changes in accumulated balance for each component of accumulated other comprehensive loss (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021
Foreign currency translation:

Beginning balance $ (39,210) $ (10,844) $ (1,574)

Foreign currency translation gain/(loss) 2,859 (31,569) (8,221)

Income tax (expense) benefit (1,815) 3,203 (1,049)

Foreign currency translation, net of tax 1,044 (28,366) (9,270)

Ending balance (38,166) (39,210) (10,844)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss $ (38,166) $ (39,210) $ (10,844)

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the design and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act), as of the end of the period
covered by this Annual Report.

Based on such evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that as of such date, our disclosure controls and
procedures are designed to, and are effective to, provide assurance at a reasonable level that the information we are required to disclose in reports that we
file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and that
such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15(d)-15(f) under the Exchange Act). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the guidelines set forth by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013). Based on the evaluation, our
management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2023. Our management's assessment of the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered
public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.
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Remediation of Previously Reported Material Weaknesses

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility
that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

As disclosed in Part I, Item 4 Controls and Procedures in our Amended Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended June 30, 2023 and
September 30, 2023 filed with the SEC on February 26, 2024, a material weakness in internal control over financial reporting was identified in prior periods
which was the result of the misclassification of cash flows related to the payment of contingent consideration within the condensed consolidated statement of
cash flows. As a result, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer re-evaluated the disclosure controls and procedures and concluded that
our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of June 30, 2023 and September 30, 2023 due to the material weakness in internal control over
financial reporting as described above.

In order to remediate the material weakness, during the quarter ended December 31, 2023, we designed and executed controls to review the classification of
discrete, non-routine transactions within the statement of cash flows. We tested the new and enhanced controls as of December 31, 2023 and management
has concluded, through its testing, that the control is operating effectively and the material weakness has been remediated as of December 31, 2023.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Other than the changes noted above, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (identified in management's evaluation pursuant
to Rules 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2023 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures

In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, management recognizes that any controls
and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition,
the design of disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that
management is required to apply judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to their costs. A control system, no matter
how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Over time,
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of
the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Item 9B. Other Information

Insider Trading Arrangements and Policies

Our directors and executive officers (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) may purchase or sell shares of our common stock
in the market from time to time, including pursuant to equity trading plans adopted in accordance with Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act and in
compliance with guidelines specified by the Company’s insider trading policy. During the three months ended December 31, 2023, none of our directors or
executive officers of the Company adopted, terminated or modified a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement or non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement (as such
terms are defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K of the Securities Act of 1933).

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item will be filed (and is hereby incorporated by reference) by an amendment hereto or pursuant to a definitive proxy
statement pursuant to Regulation 14A that will contain such information.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item will be filed (and is hereby incorporated by reference) by an amendment hereto or pursuant to a definitive proxy
statement pursuant to Regulation 14A that will contain such information.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

The information required by this item will be filed (and is hereby incorporated by reference) by an amendment hereto or pursuant to a definitive proxy
statement pursuant to Regulation 14A that will contain such information.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this item will be filed (and is hereby incorporated by reference) by an amendment hereto or pursuant to a definitive proxy
statement pursuant to Regulation 14A that will contain such information.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this item will be filed (and is hereby incorporated by reference) by an amendment hereto or pursuant to a definitive proxy
statement pursuant to Regulation 14A that will contain such information.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

1. Financial Statements. Our consolidated financial statements are listed in the “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” under Part II, Item 8 of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

2. Financial Statement Schedules. The financial statement schedules have been omitted as they are either not applicable or the required information
is otherwise included.

3. Exhibits. The exhibits included below are filed or furnished as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or are incorporated herein by reference.

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number Description Form File No. Filing Date

Exhibit
Number

3.1 Fourth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation 8-K 001-40812 September 20, 2021 3.1

3.2 Third Amended and Restated Bylaws 8-K 001-40812 September 20, 2021 3.2

4.1 Description of Securities 10-K 001-40812 March 8, 2022 4.1

4.2 Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement S-1/A 333-258985 August 25, 2021 4.1

4.3 Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Registration Rights
Agreement

S-1/A 333-258985 August 25, 2021 4.2

10.1 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of March 26, 2021 S-1/A 333-258985 August 25, 2021 10.1

10.2+ Thoughtworks Holding, Inc. 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan S-8 333-259702 September 21, 2021 10.1

10.3+ Thoughtworks Holding, Inc. 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan S-8 333-259702 September 21, 2021 10.2

10.4+ Form of Thoughtworks U.K. Share Incentive Plan S-8 333-259702 September 21, 2021 10.3

10.5+ Turing Holding Corp. (n/k/a Thoughtworks Holding, Inc.) 2017 Stock
Option Plan

S-8 333-259702 September 21, 2021 10.4

10.6+ Form of Stock Option Agreement S-8 333-259702 September 21, 2021 10.5

10.7+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement 10-Q 001-40812 November 15, 2021 10.11

10.8+ Form of Performance Share Unit Agreement 10-Q 001-40812 August 15, 2022 10.1

10.9+ Form of Performance Share Unit Agreement, as amended 10-Q 001-40812 May 9, 2023 10.1

10.10+ Form of Indemnification Agreement S-1/A 333-258985 August 25, 2021 10.5

10.11+ Form of Thoughtworks Holding, Inc. Executive Severance Plan S-1/A 333-258985 August 25, 2021 10.11

10.12+ Employment Agreement, dated as of October 12, 2017, by and between
Thoughtworks, Inc. and Guo Xiao

S-1/A 333-258985 August 25, 2021 10.7

10.13+ Employment Agreement, dated as of October 12, 2017, by and between
Thoughtworks, Inc. and Dr. Rebecca Parsons

S-1/A 333-258985 August 25, 2021 10.8

10.14+ Employment Agreement, dated as of October 19, 2017, by and between
Thoughtworks, Ltd and Christopher Murphy

S-1/A 333-258985 August 25, 2021 10.9
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None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: February 27, 2024

THOUGHTWORKS HOLDING, INC.

By: /s/ Guo Xiao

Guo Xiao

Chief Executive Officer and Director

(Principal Executive Officer)
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Guo Xiao and Erin Cummins, and each one of them, as his or her true and lawful
attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in their name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities, to
sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection
therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do
and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might
or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them, or his or her substitute or substitutes, may
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof. Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has
been signed by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities as of February 27, 2024.

Signature Title

/s/ Guo Xiao Chief Executive Officer and Director

Guo Xiao (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Erin Cummins Chief Financial Officer

Erin Cummins (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Ian Davis Chairman of the Board of Directors

Ian Davis

/s/ Robert Brennan Director

Robert Brennan

/s/ Jane Chwick Director

Jane Chwick

/s/ Rohan Haldea Director

Rohan Haldea

/s/ Gina Loften Director

Gina Loften

/s/ Salim Nathoo Director

Salim Nathoo

/s/ William Parrett Director

William Parrett

/s/ Roxanne Taylor Director

Roxanne Taylor
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Exhibit 10.20
 
 

EXECUTION VERSION

THOUGHTWORKS, INC. EMPLOYMENT
AGREEMENT

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is dated as of October 12, 2017 by and between
THOUGHTWORKS, INC., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and Ramona Mateiu (“Executive”).

WHEREAS, the Company has employed Executive and desires to continue to employ Executive on the
terms and conditions as set forth herein;

WHEREAS, the Executive desires to continue to be employed by the Company on the terms and conditions
set forth herein.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual covenants herein and for other good and
valuable consideration, the parties agree as follows:

1. Term of Agreement. This Agreement shall be contingent upon and shall become effective only upon the
occurrence of the Effective Date. For purposes of this Agreement, the “Effective Date” is the date on which the
acquisition of the Company is consummated pursuant to that Agreement and Plan of Merger, by and among Turing
Acquisition LLC, Turing Merger Sub Inc., Thoughtworks, Inc. and Shareholder Representative Services LLC,
dated as of August 18, 2017, as it may be amended from time to time. In the event the Effective Date does not
occur, this Agreement shall be void and have no effect with respect to either party hereto. Executive’s employment
pursuant to this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall continue until the third anniversary
thereof; provided, that on such third anniversary of the Effective Date and each annual anniversary thereafter (in
each case, a “Renewal Date”), the Agreement shall be extended automatically for an additional one year unless
either party provides written notice at least 30 days’ prior to the applicable Renewal Date of its intention not to
extend the term of the Agreement. The period of time between the Effective Date and the termination of
Executive’s employment hereunder shall be referred to herein as the “Employment Term.”

2. Duties. During the Employment Term, Executive shall have the authorities, titles, and duties as may be
assigned by the Company from time to time. On the Effective Date, Executive’s title will be General Counsel.
Executive will devote Executive’s full business time and best efforts to the performance of Executive’s duties and
will not engage in any other business, profession or occupation for compensation or otherwise that would conflict
or interfere in any material respect with Executive’s duties under this Agreement.

3. Base Salary. During the Employment Term, the Company shall pay Executive a base salary (as in effect
from time to time, the “Base Salary”) in accordance with the regular payroll practices of the Company and subject
to applicable tax and other withholdings. The Base Salary as of the Effective Date shall be at an annual rate of
$300,000.

4. Variable Compensation. During the Employment Term, Executive may be eligible to receive an annual
cash bonus based on performance objectives and conditions established by the Company from time to time.
Executive acknowledges and agrees that, in connection with the establishment of such bonus plan, (i) the
Company, after consultation with the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, may reduce Executive’s Base Salary
below the rate then in effect, provided the
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sum of the Base Salary, as reduced, plus the annual bonus payable at the “target” level of performance is
substantially comparable to the rate of Base Salary prior to such reduction, and (ii) neither any such reduction of
Base Salary nor any failure by Executive to achieve the “target” level of performance necessary to receive the
“target” bonus under such bonus plan will constitute “Good Reason” pursuant to this Agreement.

5. Employee Benefits. During the Employment Term, Executive shall be entitled to participate in the
employee benefit plans that the Company maintains or contributes to for the benefit of its employees generally (the
“Benefit Plans”), subject to satisfying the applicable eligibility requirements and except to the extent such plans are
duplicative of the benefits otherwise provided pursuant to this Agreement. The Company reserves the right to
modify or terminate its Benefit Plans at any time. The Company shall reimburse Executive, within thirty (30) days
following submission by Executive to the Company of appropriate supporting documentation, for all business
expenses incurred by Executive in accordance with Company policy.

6. Termination. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the provisions of this Section 6
shall exclusively govern Executive’s rights upon termination of employment with the Company and its affiliates
(such date of termination, the “Termination Date”).

(a) Accrued Amounts. Upon termination of Executive’s employment for any reason,
Executive shall be entitled to receive from the Company (i) any earned but unpaid Base Salary through the
Termination Date, and any portion of the annual incentive bonus earned and payable in accordance with the bonus
plan then in effect under Section 4 above; (ii) reimbursement, within thirty (30) days following submission by
Executive to the Company of appropriate supporting documentation, for any unreimbursed business expenses
incurred by Executive in accordance with Company policy prior to the Termination Date, and (iii) vested and
accrued Employee Benefits, if any, as to which Executive may be entitled under the terms of the Company’s
Benefit Plans (such amounts, collectively, the “Accrued Amounts”).

(b) Qualifying Termination Under Company Severance Plan. If, upon termination of
Executive’s employment for any reason, Executive qualifies for severance benefits under the terms and conditions
of the Thoughtworks, Inc. Severance Pay Plan for Employees and its Annex - Severance Benefits and Change in
Control Benefits for Executives (collectively, the “Severance Plan”), then the Company shall have no obligation to
provide any further compensation or benefits under this Agreement other than the Accrued Amounts. The
payments and benefits provided under the Severance Plan shall be in lieu of any termination or severance payments
or benefits for which Executive may be eligible under any of the other plans, policies or programs of the Company
or under the Worker Adjustment Retraining Notification Act of 1988 or any similar state statute or regulation.

(c) Qualifying Termination Outside of Company Severance Plan. If, during the Employment
Term, (i) the Company terminates Executive’s employment without Cause (other than by reason of Executive’s
death or Disability), or Executive resigns for Good Reason, and (ii) Executive does not qualify for severance
benefits under the Severance Plan, then Executive shall be entitled to receive:
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(i) the Accrued Amounts; and

(ii) subject to Executive’s execution and non-revocation of a general release of claims
in favor of the Company as provided in Section 6(e) and Executive’s continued compliance with the provisions of
Section 7 and Section 8 hereof, continued payment of the Base Salary at the rate in effect on the Effective Date, or,
if higher, the Base Salary at the rate in effect on the Termination Date, for 18 months following the Termination
Date (the “Severance Period”), payable in regular installments in accordance with the Company’s regular payroll
practices and subject to applicable tax and other withholdings. The payments and benefits provided under this
Section 6(c) shall be in lieu of any termination or severance payments or benefits for which Executive may be
eligible under any of the other plans, policies or programs of the Company or under the Worker Adjustment
Retraining Notification Act of 1988 or any similar state statute or regulation. For avoidance of doubt, if Executive
terminates employment as a result of the Company’s election not to renew the Agreement pursuant Section 1
hereof, such termination shall be considered a termination without Cause.

(d) Other Terminations of Employment. Following Executive’s termination of employment
for any reason not described in Sections 6(b) and 6(c) above, the Company shall have no obligation to provide any
further compensation or benefits under this Agreement other than the Accrued Amounts.

(e) Release. Any and all amounts payable and benefits or additional rights provided pursuant
to Section 6(c) of this Agreement shall only be payable if Executive delivers to the Company and does not revoke a
general release of claims in favor of the Company in substantially the form attached on Exhibit A hereto. Such
release must be executed and delivered (and no longer subject to revocation, if applicable) within sixty (60) days
following the Termination Date.

(f)Interaction with Severance Plan. If Executive is to receive severance pay under Section 6(b)
above in accordance with the Company’s Severance Plan and the related Annex governing benefits for Executives
(collectively, the “Executive Severance Plan”), then, notwithstanding any provisions of the Executive Severance
Plan to the contrary:

(i)For purposes of calculating Executive’s benefits under the Executive Severance Plan,
“Base Compensation” under that Plan shall be the Executive’s rate of Base Salary in effect on the Effective Date of
this Agreement or, if greater, on the Termination Date;

(ii) The release attached hereto as Exhibit A shall serve as the operative release as
required under the Executive Severance Plan and shall supersede any form of release contained in such Executive
Severance Plan; and

(iii) The definition of “Good Reason” in this Agreement shall control over any
different definition in the Executive Severance Plan for purposes of applying that Plan to Executive.

(g) Definitions.    For the purposes of this Agreement, the following terms are defined as
follows:
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(i)“Cause” shall mean (A) Executive’s material and repeated failure to perform his or her
duties (other than any such failure resulting from incapacity due to physical or mental illness); (B) Executive’s
material and repeated failure to comply with any valid and legal directive of the board of directors of the Company
or the person to whom Executive reports; (C) Executive’s engagement in dishonesty, illegal conduct or gross
misconduct, or acts of gross negligence, which in each case would reasonably be expected to be materially
injurious to the Company or its subsidiaries or controlled affiliates; (D) Executive’s embezzlement,
misappropriation or fraud, whether or not related to Executive’s employment with the Company;
(E) Executive’s conviction of or plea of guilty or nolo contendere to a crime that constitutes a felony (or state law
equivalent) or a crime that constitutes a misdemeanor involving moral turpitude; (F) Executive’s violation of a
material policy of the Company, which in each case would reasonably be expected to be materially injurious to the
Company or its subsidiaries or controlled affiliates; or (G) Executive’s violation of the restrictive covenants set
forth in Section 7 or Section 8 of this Agreement or any other applicable restrictive covenants between Executive
and the Company or any of its subsidiaries or controlled affiliates, or this Agreement. With respect to any acts
otherwise constituting Cause under subparagraph (A), (B) or (F) of this definition, Executive shall have thirty (30)
days from the delivery of written notice by the Company within which to cure such acts.

(ii) “Disability” shall mean Executive’s physical or mental illness, injury or infirmity
which is reasonably likely to prevent and/or prevents Executive from performing his essential job functions for a
period of an aggregate of one hundred eighty (180) calendar days out of any consecutive twelve (12) month period.
Any question as to the existence of the Disability of Executive as to which Executive and the Company cannot
agree shall be determined in writing by a qualified independent physician mutually acceptable to Executive and the
Company. If Executive and the Company cannot agree as to a qualified independent physician, each shall appoint
such a physician and those two physicians shall select a third who shall make such determination in writing. The
determination of Disability made in writing to the Company and Executive shall be final and conclusive for all
purposes of the Agreement.

(iii) “Good Reason” shall mean, during the period following the Effective Date and
prior to a Change in Control (as defined in the Severance Plan), either (A) a change to Executive’s principal work
location without Executive’s written consent to a location more than 50 miles from Executive’s principal work
location prior to the change; or (B) a material reduction in Executive’s target cash compensation (including both
base salary and incentive compensation), provided that neither changes in the allocation between base salary and
incentive compensation as contemplated by Section 4 nor any failure to achieve “target” bonus levels shall be
deemed a material reduction or otherwise constitute Good Reason for any reason in connection with this
Agreement. A reduction in Executive’s target cash compensation shall be “material” for purposes of this
Agreement if the sum of Base Salary plus target incentive compensation is less than 80% of Executive’s target cash
compensation for the immediately prior calendar year. Any such reduction shall constitute Good Reason effective
on the date Executive is notified that his target cash compensation has been reduced below such 80% level.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Executive cannot terminate his or her employment for Good Reason unless he or
she has provided written notice to the Company explaining in sufficient detail the existence and grounds
constituting Good Reason within 30 days of the initial existence of such grounds and the Company has had at least
30 days from the date on which such notice is provided to cure such
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circumstances, if curable. If Executive does not terminate his or her employment for Good Reason within 90 days
after the first occurrence of the applicable grounds, then Executive will be deemed to have waived his or her right
to terminate for Good Reason with respect to such grounds.

(h) Other Positions. Upon termination of Executive’s employment for any reason, Executive
shall promptly resign from any other position as an officer, director or fiduciary of any direct or indirect subsidiary
of the Company or other Company-related entity.

7. Restrictive Covenants. Executive acknowledges and recognizes the highly competitive nature of the
businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries and controlled affiliates and accordingly agrees to the following:

(a) Noncompetition. Executive acknowledges that (i) Executive performs services of an
important nature for the Company and any of its subsidiaries and controlled affiliates, and that Executive’s
performance of such services to a competing business may result in irreparable harm to the Company and its
subsidiaries and controlled affiliates, (ii) Executive is a member of the executive and management personnel of the
Company and its subsidiaries and controlled affiliates, (iii) Executive has had and will continue to have access to
Confidential Information (as defined below) and trade secrets which, if disclosed, would unfairly and
inappropriately assist in competition against the Company or any of its subsidiaries and controlled affiliates, (iv) in
the course of Executive’s employment by a competitor, Executive could use or disclose such Confidential
Information and trade secrets, (v) the Company and its subsidiaries and controlled affiliates have substantial
relationships with their customers and Executive has had and will continue to have access to these customers, and
(vi) Executive has generated and will continue to generate goodwill for the Company and its subsidiaries and
controlled affiliates in the course of Executive’s employment. Accordingly, during the Employment Term and for
12 months following the Termination Date, or during such longer period (not to exceed 18 months) that Executive
is receiving severance benefits under the Severance Plan or Section 6(c) above, Executive agrees that Executive
will not, directly or indirectly, own, manage, operate, control, be employed by (whether as an employee,
consultant, independent contractor or otherwise, and whether or not for compensation) or render services to any
person, in whatever form, engaged in a Competing Business in any locale of any country in which the Company or
its subsidiaries and controlled affiliates conduct business. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein shall
prohibit Executive from being a passive owner of not more than four and ninety nine one hundredths percent
(4.99%) of the equity securities of a publicly traded corporation engaged in a business that is in competition with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and controlled affiliates, so long as Executive has no active participation in
the business of such corporation. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Competing Business” shall mean (x)
any business that (A) is engaged primarily in the design and/or delivery of customized software solutions to third
party customers and/or (B) is engaged primarily in the provision of information technology consulting services to
third party customers (that, is in each case, is competitive with the Company or its Subsidiaries), and/or (y) for the
avoidance of doubt, any of the following (including any Affiliates thereof, any successor entities thereto and any
businesses or divisions divested therefrom): Accenture PLC*, Aricent Inc., Boston Consulting Group*, Deloitte &
Touche LLP*, Ciklum ApS, CapGemini SE, CGI Group Inc., Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation, DXC
Technology Company, Elephant Ventures, LLC, EPAM Systems, Inc., Equal Experts Inc., Globant LLC, HCL
Technologies Limited, Hexaware Technologies Limited, International Business Machines Corp.,
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Infosys Limited, iSoftStone Holdings Limited, KPMG US LLP*, McKinsey & Company*, Mindtree Limited,
NearForm Ltd, Ness Technologies Inc., Persistent Systems Ltd., Perficient, Inc., PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP*,
Sapient Corporation, SoftServe, Inc., Symphony Teleca Corporation, Tech Mahindra Limited, RazorFish, LLC,
Three Pillar Global, Inc., VanceInfo Technologies Inc., Wipro Limited, Xebia Nederland B.V. For the avoidance of
doubt, Competing Business shall not include software product companies that offer customized solutions for such
products and are not competitive with the Company or its Subsidiaries with respect to provision of information
technology services to third party customers.1 As used herein, “competitive with the Company or its Subsidiaries”
means the provision of the same or similar solutions or services of the Company or its Subsidiaries.

(b) Nonsolicitation; Noninterference.

(i)During the Employment Term and for 18 months following the Termination Date,
Executive agrees that Executive shall not, except in the furtherance of Executive’s duties with the Company or its
affiliates, directly or indirectly, individually or on behalf of any other person, (A) solicit, aid or induce any
customer of the Company or any of its affiliates to purchase goods or services then sold by the Company or any of
its affiliates from another person or assist or aid any other persons or entity in identifying or soliciting any such
customer, or (B) interfere, or aid or induce any other person or entity in interfering, with the relationship between
the Company or any of its affiliates and any of their respective vendors, customers, joint venturers, licensees or
licensors.

(ii) During the Employment Term and for 18 months following the Termination Date,
Executive agrees that Executive shall not, except in the furtherance of Executive’s duties with the Company or any
of its affiliates, directly or indirectly, individually or on behalf of any other person, solicit, aid or induce any
employee, consultant, representative or agent of the Company or any of its affiliates (or any employee, consultant,
representative or agent who has left the employment or retention of the Company or any of its affiliates for less
than nine months) (a “Covered Person”) to leave such employment or retention or to accept employment with or
render services to or with any other person unaffiliated with the Company or hire or retain any such employee,
consultant, representative or agent or any Covered Person, or take any action to materially assist or aid any other
person in identifying, hiring or soliciting any such employee, consultant, representative or agent or any Covered
Person.

(c) Severability. It is expressly understood and agreed that although Executive and the
Company consider the restrictions contained in this Section 7 to be reasonable, if a final judicial determination is
made by a court of competent jurisdiction that the time or territory or any other restriction contained in this
Agreement is an unenforceable restriction against Executive, the provisions of this Agreement shall not be
rendered void but shall be deemed amended to apply as to such maximum time and territory and to such maximum
extent as such court may judicially determine or indicate to be enforceable. Alternatively, if any court of competent
jurisdiction finds that any restriction contained in this Agreement is unenforceable, and such restriction cannot

1 Entities identified with an asterisk (*) are limited to the divisions of such business that are competitive with the Company or its
subsidiaries.
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be amended so as to make it enforceable, such finding shall not affect the enforceability of any of the other
restrictions contained herein.

(d) Survival. The provisions of this Section 7 shall survive the termination of this Agreement
and Executive’s employment for any reason.

8. Other Restrictive Covenants and Related Provisions.

(a) Confidentiality. During the course of Executive’s employment with the Company,
Executive has had and will continue to have access to Confidential Information. For purposes of this Agreement,
“Confidential Information” means all data, information, ideas, concepts, discoveries, trade secrets, inventions
(whether or not patentable or reduced to practice), innovations, improvements, know-how, developments,
techniques, methods, processes, treatments, drawings, sketches, specifications, designs, plans, patterns, models,
plans and strategies, and all other confidential or proprietary information in any form or medium (whether merely
remembered or embodied in a tangible or intangible form or medium) whether now or hereafter existing, relating to
or arising from the past, current or potential business, activities and/or operations of the Company or any of its
affiliates, including, without limitation, any such information relating to or concerning finances, sales, marketing,
advertising, transition, promotions, pricing, personnel, customers, suppliers, vendors, raw partners and/or
competitors. Executive agrees that Executive shall not, directly or indirectly, use, make available, sell, disclose or
otherwise communicate to any person any Confidential Information, or other confidential or proprietary
information received from third parties subject to a duty on the Company’s and its affiliates’ part to maintain the
confidentiality of such information, and to use such information only for certain limited purposes, in each case
which shall have been obtained by Executive during Executive’s employment by the Company. The foregoing shall
not apply to information that (i) was known to the public prior to its disclosure to Executive; (ii) becomes generally
known to the public subsequent to disclosure to Executive through no wrongful act of Executive or any
representative of Executive; or (iii) Executive is required to disclose such information by applicable law, regulation
or legal process (provided that Executive provides the Company with prior notice of the contemplated disclosure
and cooperates with the Company at its expense in seeking a protective order or other appropriate protection of
such information).

(b) Return of Company Property. On or prior to the Termination Date, Executive shall return
all property belonging to the Company or its affiliates (including, but not limited to, any Company-provided
laptops, computers, cell phones, wireless electronic mail devices or other equipment, or documents and property
belonging to the Company).

(c) Intellectual Property.

(i)If Executive has created, invented, designed, developed, contributed to or improved any
works of authorship, inventions, intellectual property, materials, documents or other work product (including
without limitation, research, reports, software, databases, systems, applications, presentations, textual works,
content, or audiovisual materials), other than to the extent that (A) no equipment, supplies, facility, trade secrets,
Confidential Information, research or other information of the Company was used during its creation, (B) such item
was developed entirely on the Executive’s own time, and (C) such item did not result directly from any work
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performed by Executive for the Company (“Works”), either alone or with third parties, prior to Executive’s
employment by the Company, that are relevant to or implicated by such employment (“Prior Works”), Executive
hereby grants the Company a perpetual, non-exclusive, royalty-free, worldwide, assignable, sublicensable license
under all rights and intellectual property rights (including rights under patent, industrial property, copyright,
trademark, trade secret, unfair competition and related laws) therein for all purposes in connection with the
Company’s current and future business. For the avoidance of doubt, the subject of waivers granted under the
Company’s “Policy on Outside Activities” dated February 2012, as may be amended from time to time, prior to or
after the Effective Date shall not be considered “Works” hereunder.

(ii) If Executive creates, invents, designs, develops, contributes to or improves any
Works, either alone or with third parties, at any time during Executive’s employment by the Company and within
the scope of such employment and/or with the use of any Company resources (“Company Works”), Executive shall
promptly and fully disclose such works to the Company and hereby irrevocably assigns, transfers and conveys, to
the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, all rights and intellectual property rights therein (including rights
under patent, industrial property, copyright, trademark, trade secret, unfair competition and related laws) to the
Company to the extent ownership of any such rights does not vest originally in the Company.

(iii) Executive agrees to keep and maintain adequate and current written records (in the
form of notes, sketches, drawings, and any other form or media requested by the Company) of all Company Works.
The records will be available to and remain the sole property and intellectual property of the Company at all times.

(iv) Executive shall take all requested actions and execute all requested documents
(including any licenses or assignments required by a government contract) at the Company’s expense (but without
further remuneration) to assist the Company in validating, maintaining, protecting, enforcing, perfecting, recording,
patenting or registering any of the Company’s rights in the Company Works. If the Company is unable for any
other reason to secure Executive’s signature on any document for this purpose, then Executive hereby irrevocably
designates and appoints the Company and its duly authorized officers and agents as Executive’s agent and attorney-
in-fact, to act for and on Executive’s behalf to execute any documents and to do all other lawfully permitted acts in
connection with the foregoing.

(v) Executive shall not improperly use for the benefit of, bring to any premises of,
divulge, disclose, communicate, reveal, transfer or provide access to, or share with the Company any confidential,
proprietary or non-public information or intellectual property relating to a former employer or other third party
without the prior written permission of such third party. Executive hereby indemnifies, holds harmless and agrees
to defend the Company and its officers, directors, partners, employees, agents and representatives from any breach
of the foregoing covenant. Executive shall comply with all relevant policies and guidelines of the Company,
including regarding the protection of confidential information and intellectual property and potential conflicts of
interest. Executive acknowledges that the Company may amend any such policies and guidelines from time to
time, and that Executive remains at all times bound by their most current version.
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(d) Non-Disparagement. Neither the Company nor Executive shall make any oral or written
statement about the other party which is intended or reasonably likely to disparage the other party, or otherwise
degrade the other party’s reputation in the general business community. The foregoing shall not be violated by
truthful statements in response to legal process, required governmental testimony or filings, or administrative or
arbitral proceedings (including, without limitation, depositions in connection with such proceedings). The
provisions of this Section 8(d) shall survive the termination of Executive’s employment for any reason.

(e) Whistleblower Protection. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, no
provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted so as to impede Executive (or any other individual) from reporting
possible violations of federal law or regulation to any governmental agency or entity, including but not limited to
the Department of Justice, the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Congress, and any agency Inspector
General, or making other disclosures under the whistleblower provisions of federal law or regulation. Executive
does not need the prior authorization of the Company to make any such reports or disclosures and Executive shall
not be not required to notify the Company that such reports or disclosures have been made.

(f)Trade Secrets. 18 U.S.C. § 1833(b) provides: “An individual shall not be held criminally or
civilly liable under any Federal or State trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that (A) is made (i) in
confidence to a Federal, State, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney; and (ii)
solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (B) is made in a complaint or
other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal.” Nothing in this Agreement
is intended to conflict with 18 U.S.C. § 1833(b) or create liability for disclosures of trade secrets that are expressly
allowed by 18 U.S.C. § 1833(b). Accordingly, Executive and the Company and its affiliates have the right to
disclose in confidence trade secrets to federal, state, and local government officials, or to an attorney, for the sole
purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law. Executive and the Company and its affiliates
also have the right to disclose trade secrets in a document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, but only if the
filing is made under seal and protected from public disclosure.

(g) Protected Activity. Executive understands that nothing in this Agreement shall in any way
limit or prohibit Executive from engaging for a lawful purpose in any Protected Activity. For purposes of this
Agreement, “Protected Activity” shall mean filing a charge, complaint, or report with, or otherwise communicating
with, cooperating with or participating in any investigation or proceeding that may be conducted by, any federal,
state or local government agency or commission, including the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, and the National
Labor Relations Board (“Government Agencies”). Executive understands that in connection with such Protected
Activity, Executive is permitted to disclose documents or other information as permitted by law, and without giving
notice to, or receiving authorization from, the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Executive agrees to take
all reasonable precautions to prevent any unauthorized use or disclosure of any information that may constitute
Confidential Information to any parties other than the relevant Government Agencies. Executive further
understands that Protected Activity does not include the disclosure of any Company attorney-client

9



privileged communications, and that any such disclosure without the Company’s written consent shall constitute a
material breach of this Agreement.

9. Specific Performance; Tolling. Executive acknowledges and agrees that the Company’s remedies at law
for a breach or threatened breach of any of the provisions of Section 7 or Section 8 would be inadequate and the
Company would suffer irreparable damages as a result of such breach or threatened breach. In recognition of this
fact, Executive agrees that, in the event of such a breach or threatened breach, in addition to any remedies at law,
the Company, without posting any bond, shall be entitled to cease making any payments or providing any benefit
otherwise required by this Agreement and obtain equitable relief in the form of specific performance, temporary
restraining order, temporary or permanent injunction or any other equitable remedy which may then be available.
In the event of any violation of the provisions of Section 7 or Section 8, Executive acknowledges and agrees that
the post-termination restrictions contained in Section 7 or Section 8 shall be extended by a period of time equal to
the period of such violation, it being the intention of the parties hereto that the running of the applicable post-
termination restriction period shall be tolled during any period of such violation. Executive agrees that, before
providing services, whether as an employee or consultant, to any entity during the period of time that Executive is
subject to the constraints in Sections 7 and 8 hereof, Executive will provide a copy of this Agreement (including,
without limitation, Section 7) to such entity. Executive further covenants that Executive will not challenge the
reasonableness or enforceability of any of the covenants set forth in Section 7 and Section 8 hereof, and that
Executive will reimburse the Company and its affiliates for all costs (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) incurred
in connection with any action to enforce any of the provisions of Section 7 and Section 8 hereof if either Company
and/or its affiliates prevails on any material issue involved in such dispute or if Executive challenges the
reasonableness or enforceability of any of the provisions of Section 7 and Section 8 hereof; provided, that in the
event that Executive prevails on any material issue involved in such dispute, the Company will reimburse
Executive for all costs (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) incurred in connection with any action to enforce any
of the provisions of Section 7 and Section 8 hereof.

10. Miscellaneous.

(a) Governing Law. This Agreement, and any disputes arising herefrom or related hereto,
shall be governed by, construed and interpreted in all respects, in accordance with the substantive and procedural
laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to conflicts of laws principles thereof.

(b) Entire Agreement/Amendments. This Agreement contains the entire understanding of the
parties with respect to the employment of Executive by the Company and supersedes all prior and
contemporaneous understandings, agreements, term sheets, representations and warranties with respect to the
employment of Executive by the Company. There are no restrictions, agreements, promises, warranties, covenants
or undertakings between the parties with respect to the subject matter herein other than those expressly set forth
herein. This Agreement may not be altered, modified, or amended except by written instrument signed by the
parties hereto.
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(c) No Waiver. The failure of a party to insist upon strict adherence to any term of this
Agreement on any occasion shall not be considered a waiver of such party’s rights or deprive such party of the
right thereafter to insist upon strict adherence to that term or any other term of this Agreement.

(d) Severability. In the event that any one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall
be or become invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality and enforceability of the
remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby.

(e) Dispute Resolution; Jury Trial Waiver. Each of the parties agrees that any dispute between
the parties shall be resolved only in the courts of the State of Delaware or the United States District Court for the
District of Delaware and the appellate courts having jurisdiction of appeals in such courts. In that context, and
without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each of the parties hereto irrevocably and unconditionally (a)
submits in any proceeding relating to this Agreement or Executive’s employment by the Company or any Company
affiliate, or for the recognition and enforcement of any judgment in respect thereof (a “Proceeding”), to the
exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Delaware, the court of the United States of America for the
District of Delaware, and appellate courts having jurisdiction of appeals from any of the foregoing, and agrees that
all claims in respect of any such Proceeding shall be heard and determined in such Delaware State court or, to the
extent permitted by law, in such federal court,
(b) consents that any such Proceeding may and shall be brought in such courts and waives any objection that
Executive or the Company may now or thereafter have to the venue or jurisdiction of any such Proceeding in any
such court or that such Proceeding was brought in an inconvenient court and agrees not to plead or claim the same,
(c) WAIVES ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY PROCEEDING (WHETHER BASED ON
CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE) ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR
EXECUTIVE’S EMPLOYMENT BY THE COMPANY OR EXECUTIVE’S OR THE COMPANY’S
PERFORMANCE UNDER, OR ENFORCEMENT OF, THIS AGREEMENT, (d) agrees that
service of process in any such Proceeding may be effected by mailing a copy of such process by registered or
certified mail (or any substantially similar form of mail), postage prepaid, to such party at Executive’s or the
Company’s address as provided in Section 10(h) hereof, and (e) agrees that nothing in this Agreement shall affect
the right to effect service of process in any other manner permitted by the laws of the State of Delaware.

(f) Compliance with Section 409A of the Code.

(i)The intent of the parties is that payments and benefits under this Agreement comply with
Internal Revenue Code Section 409A and the regulations and guidance promulgated thereunder (collectively “Code
Section 409A”) and, accordingly, to the maximum extent permitted, this Agreement shall be interpreted to be in
compliance therewith. To the extent that any provision hereof is modified in order to comply with Code Section
409A, such modification shall be made in good faith and shall, to the maximum extent reasonably possible,
maintain the original intent and economic benefit to Executive and the Company of the applicable provision
without violating the provisions of Code Section 409A.

(ii) A termination of employment shall not be deemed to have occurred for purposes
of any provision of this Agreement providing for the payment of any amounts or
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benefits upon or following a termination of employment unless such termination is also a “separation from service”
within the meaning of Code Section 409A and, for purposes of any such provision of this Agreement, references to
a “termination,” “termination of employment”, “Termination Date” or like terms shall mean “separation from
service.” If Executive is deemed on the Termination Date to be a “specified employee” within the meaning of that
term under Code Section 409A(a)(2)(B), then with regard to any payment or the provision of any benefit that is
considered deferred compensation under Code Section 409A payable on account of a “separation from service,”
such payment or benefit shall be made or provided at the date which is the earlier of (A) the expiration of the six
(6)-month period measured from the date of such “separation from service” of Executive, and (B) the date of
Executive’s death, to the extent required under Code Section 409A. Upon the expiration of the foregoing delay
period, all payments and benefits delayed pursuant to this Section 10(f) (whether they would have otherwise been
payable in a single sum or in installments in the absence of such delay) shall be paid or reimbursed to Executive in
a lump sum, and any remaining payments and benefits due under this Agreement shall be paid or provided in
accordance with the normal payment dates specified for them herein.

(iii) To the extent the payment of any amount described in Section 6 of this Agreement
constitutes “nonqualified deferred compensation” for purposes of Code Section 409A and is subject to the release
requirements of Section 6(e), then any payment scheduled to occur during the first 60 days following the
Termination Date shall not be paid until the first regularly scheduled pay period following the 60th day following
such termination and shall include payment of any amount that was otherwise scheduled to be paid prior thereto.

(iv) To the extent that reimbursements or other in-kind benefits under this Agreement
constitute “nonqualified deferred compensation” for purposes of Code Section 409A, (A) all expenses or other
reimbursements hereunder shall be made on or prior to the last day of the taxable year following the taxable year in
which such expenses were incurred by Executive, (B) any right to reimbursement or in-kind benefits shall not be
subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit, and (C) no such reimbursement, expenses eligible for
reimbursement, or in-kind benefits provided in any taxable year shall in any way affect the expenses eligible for
reimbursement, or in-kind benefits to be provided, in any other taxable year.

(v) For purposes of Code Section 409A, Executive’s right to receive any installment
payments pursuant to this Agreement shall be treated as a right to receive a series of separate and distinct
payments. Whenever a payment under this Agreement specifies a payment period with reference to a number of
days, the actual date of payment within the specified period shall be within the sole discretion of the Company.

(vi) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, in no event
shall any payment under this Agreement that constitutes “nonqualified deferred compensation” for purposes of
Code Section 409A be subject to offset by any other amount unless otherwise permitted by Code Section 409A.

(g) Assignment; Successors; Binding Agreement. Except as otherwise provided herein, this
Agreement shall bind Executive, the Company and its respective successors and permitted assigns and inure to the
benefit of and be enforceable by Executive, the Company and each of their respective successors and permitted
assigns. The Company shall have the right
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to assign, transfer or convey this Agreement to its affiliated companies, successor entities, or assignees or
transferees of substantially all of the Company’s business activities, operations or assets. Upon such assignment,
the rights and obligations of the Company hereunder shall become the rights and obligations of such affiliate or
successor person or entity. This Agreement, and all of Executive’s rights and duties hereunder, shall not be
assignable or delegable by Executive without the Company’s prior written consent. Any purported assignment or
delegation by Executive in violation of the foregoing shall be null and void ab initio and of no force and effect.

(h) Notice. For purposes of this Agreement, notices and all other communications provided
for in this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given (i) on the date of delivery, if
delivered by hand, (ii) on the date of transmission, if delivered by confirmed facsimile or electronic mail, (iii) on
the first business day following the date of deposit, if delivered by guaranteed overnight delivery service, or (iv) on
the fourth business day following the date delivered or mailed by United States registered or certified mail, return
receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed as follows:

If to Executive:

At the address (or to the facsimile number) shown in the books and
records of the Company.

If to the Company:

Thoughtworks, Inc. 200 E. Randolph
Street Chicago, IL 60601 Attn: General
Counsel

(i)Executive Representation. Executive hereby represents to the Company that (i) Executive has
been provided with sufficient opportunity to review this Agreement and has been advised by the Company to
conduct such review with an attorney of his choice and (ii) the execution and delivery of this Agreement by
Executive and the Company and the performance by Executive of Executive’s duties hereunder shall not constitute
a breach of, or otherwise contravene, the terms of any employment agreement or other agreement or policy to
which Executive is a party or otherwise bound.

(j)Cooperation. Executive shall provide Executive’s reasonable cooperation in connection with any
action or proceeding (or any appeal from any action or proceeding) which relates to events occurring during
Executive’s employment hereunder. This provision shall survive any termination of this Agreement or Executive’s
employment.

(k) Withholding Taxes. The Company may withhold from any amounts payable under this
Agreement such Federal, state and local taxes as may be required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law or
regulation.
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(l)Counterparts. This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of which shall be an original,
with the same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument.

[Signatures on following page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.

THOUGHTWORKS, INC.

By: /s/ Ramona Mateiu
Name: Title:

 
[Signature Page to ThoughtWorks, Inc. Employment Agreement]



EXHIBIT A
Release

For and in consideration of the payments and other benefits due to Ramona Mateiu (“Executive”) under Section 6
of the Employment Agreement between Executive and Thoughtworks, Inc., a Delaware Corporation (the
“Company”), dated as of October 12, 2017 (as may be amended, the “Employment Agreement”), and for other
good and valuable consideration:

1. Except as provided in Paragraph 4 below Executive hereby knowingly and voluntarily agrees (for
Executive, Executive’s spouse and child or children (if any), Executive’s heirs, beneficiaries, devisees, executors,
administrators, attorneys, insurers, personal representatives, successors and assigns) to forever release and
discharge (the “Release”) the Company or any of its divisions, affiliates, subsidiaries, parents, branches,
predecessors, successors, assigns, and, with respect to such entities, their officers, directors, trustees, employees,
agents, shareholders, administrators, general or limited partners, representatives, attorneys and fiduciaries, past,
present and future (the “Released Parties”) from any and all claims, suits, controversies, actions, causes of action,
cross-claims, counter-claims, demands, debts, compensatory damages, liquidated damages, punitive or exemplary
damages, other damages, claims for costs and attorneys’ fees, or liabilities of any nature whatsoever in law and in
equity, both past and present, suspected or claimed against the Company and/or any of the Released Parties that
Executive, Executive’s spouse, or any of Executive’s heirs, executors, administrators or assigns, ever had, now
have, or hereafter may have against the Released Parties, by reason of any matter, cause, or thing whatsoever, from
the beginning of Executive’s initial dealings with the Company to the date of this Release, whether known or
unknown to Executive, by reason of facts which have occurred on or prior to the date that Executive has signed this
Release (including, without limitation, any and all allegations, claims or violation relating to the foregoing under
federal, state or local laws pertaining to employment, including, without limitation, the Age Discrimination in
Employment Act of 1967, as amended (including the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act), Title VII of the Civil
Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. Section 2000e et. seq., the Fair Labor Standards Act, as amended, the
Equal Pay Act of 1963, as amended, 29
U.S.C. Section 201 et. seq., the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended, 42 U.S.C. Section 12101 et.
seq. the Reconstruction Era Civil Rights Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. Section 1981 et. seq., the Rehabilitation Act
of 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C. Section 701 et. seq., the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, 29 U.S.C. Section
2601 et. seq., Worker Adjustment Retraining and Notification Act; the Employee Retirement Income Security Act
of 1974, all Executive Order Programs, and any and all federal, state and local laws, regulations and counterparts
regarding civil or human rights law, employment discrimination and/or federal, state or local laws of any type or
description regarding employment, including but not limited to any claims arising from or derivative of Executive’s
employment with the Released Parties, as well as any and all such claims under any public policy, contract or tort,
or under common law; or arising under any policies, practices or procedures of the Company; or any claim for
wrongful discharge, breach of contract, infliction of emotional distress, defamation; or any claim for costs, fees, or
other expenses, including attorneys’ fees incurred in these matters) (all of the foregoing collectively referred to
herein as the “Claims”). Executive understands and intends that this Release constitutes a general release of all
claims and that no reference herein to a specific form of claim, statute or type of relief is intended to limit the scope
of this Release. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Executive acknowledges that Executive may hereafter discover
Claims or facts in
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addition to or different than those which Executive now knows or believes to exist with respect to the subject
matter of the released Claims above and which, if known or suspected at the time of entering into this Release, may
have materially affected this General Release and my decision to enter into it.

2. Executive understands that any benefits, payments or benefits granted under Sections 6(b) and 6(c)(ii) of
the Employment Agreement represent, in part, consideration for signing this Release and are not salary, wages or
benefits to which Executive was already entitled. Executive understands and agrees that Executive will not receive
the payments and benefits specified in Sections 6(b) and 6(c)(ii) of the Employment Agreement unless Executive
executes and does not revoke this Release within the time period permitted hereafter or breach this Release. Such
payments and benefits will not be considered compensation for purposes of any employee benefit plan, program,
policy or arrangement maintained or hereafter established by the Company or its affiliates.

3. Executive further represents that Executive has made no assignment or transfer of any right, claim,
demand, cause of action, or other matter covered by Paragraph 1 above.

4. Executive agrees that this Release does not waive or release any rights or claims that Executive may have
under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 which arise after the date Executive executes this
Release. Executive acknowledges and agrees that Executive’s separation from employment with the Company in
compliance with the terms of the Employment Agreement shall not serve as the basis for any claim or action
(including, without limitation, any claim under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967).

5. Executive agrees that Executive hereby waives all rights to sue or obtain equitable, remedial or punitive
relief from any or all Released Parties of any kind whatsoever, including, without limitation, reinstatement, back
pay, front pay, and any form of injunctive relief. Furthermore, Executive agrees that Executive will forfeit all
amounts payable by the Company pursuant to Sections 6(b) and 6(c)(ii) of the Employment Agreement if
Executive challenges the validity of this Release. Executive also agrees that if Executive violates this Release by
suing the Company or the other Released Parties, Executive will pay all costs and expenses of defending against
the suit incurred by the Released Parties, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, and return all payments received by
Executive pursuant to Sections 6(b) and 6(c)(ii) of the Employment Agreement on or after the termination of my
employment.

6. In signing this Release, Executive acknowledges and intends that it shall be effective as a bar to each and
every one of the Claims hereinabove mentioned or implied. Executive expressly consents that this Release shall be
given full force and effect according to each and all of its express terms and provisions, including those relating to
unknown and unsuspected Claims (notwithstanding any state or local statute that expressly limits the effectiveness
of a general release of unknown, unsuspected and unanticipated Claims), if any, as well as those relating to any
other Claims hereinabove mentioned or implied. Executive acknowledges and agrees that this waiver is an essential
and material term of this Release and that without such waiver the Company would not have agreed to the terms of
the Employment Agreement. Executive further agrees that in the event that Executive should bring a Claim seeking
damages against the Company, or in the event that Executive should seek to recover against the
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Company in any Claim brought by a governmental agency on his behalf, this Release shall serve as a complete
defense to such Claims to the maximum extent permitted by law. Executive further agrees that Executive is not
aware of any pending claim, or of any facts that could give rise to a claim, of the type described in Paragraph 1 as
of the execution of this Release.

7. Executive agrees that this Release and the Employment Agreement are confidential and agrees not to
disclose any information regarding the terms of this Release or the Employment Agreement, except to my
immediate family and any tax, legal or other counsel that Executive has consulted regarding the meaning or effect
hereof or as required by law, and Executive will instruct each of the foregoing not to disclose the same to anyone.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, any non-disclosure provision in this Release does not prohibit or restrict Executive
(or his attorney) from responding to any inquiry about this Release or its underlying facts and circumstances by the
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA), or any other
self-regulatory organization or governmental entity.

8. Executive hereby acknowledges that Section 7, Section 8, and Section 9 of the Employment Agreement
shall survive my execution of this General Release.

9. Whenever possible, each provision of this Release shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective
and valid under applicable law, but if any provision of this Release is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in
any respect under any applicable law or rule in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall
not affect any other provision or any other jurisdiction, but this Release shall be reformed, construed and enforced
in such jurisdiction as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein. This
Release constitutes the complete and entire agreement and understanding among the parties, and supersedes any
and all prior or contemporaneous agreements, commitments, understandings or arrangements, whether written or
oral, between or among any of the parties, in each case concerning the subject matter hereof.

10. Executive has read this Release carefully, acknowledges that Executive understands all of the
terms of this Release and is giving up important rights, has been given at least [twenty-one (21)][forty-five (45)]
days from the date of Executive’s receipt of this Release to consider all of its terms (and any changes made since
such receipt are not material or were made at Executive’s request and will not restart the required [twenty-one (21)]
[forty-five (45)]-day period) and has been advised to consult with an attorney and any other advisors of Executive’s
choice prior to executing this Release, and Executive fully understands that by signing below Executive is
voluntarily giving up any right which Executive may have to sue or bring any other claims against the Released
Parties. Executive also understands that Executive has a period of seven (7) calendar days after signing this Release
within which to revoke the Employment Agreement in a writing and actually deliver such revocation to the
Company. This Release shall not be effective or enforceable until after such seven (7)-day revocation period has
expired, and the Company shall not be obligated to make any payments or provide any other benefits to Executive
pursuant to the Employment Agreement until seven (7) days have passed since Executive’s signing and delivery to
the Company of this Release without Executive’s signature having been revoked other than any accrued obligations
or other benefits payable pursuant to the terms of the Company’s normal payroll practices or employee benefit
plans. Finally, Executive has not been forced or pressured in any manner whatsoever to sign this Release, and
Executive
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agrees to all of its terms voluntarily and has signed this Release knowingly and voluntarily with the advice of any
counsel retained to advise Executive with respect to it.

11. Notwithstanding anything else herein to the contrary, Executive acknowledges that Executive is
not waiving and is not being required to waive (i) any right under any compensation or employee benefit plan,
program or arrangement (including, without limitation, obligations to Executive under any stock option, stock
award or agreements or obligations under any pension, deferred compensation or retention plan) provided by the
Affiliated Entities where Executive’s compensation or benefits are intended to continue or Executive is to be
provided with compensation or benefits, in accordance with the express written terms of such plan, program or
arrangement, beyond the date of Executive’s termination; (ii) rights to indemnification or liability insurance
coverage Executive may have under the by-laws of the Company or applicable law; (iii) Executive’s rights under
Section 6 of the Employment Agreement; (iv) Executive’s rights under the Turing Holding Corp. Stockholders
Agreement, dated as of the Effective Date, by and among Executive and the other stockholders a party thereto; or
(v) any right that cannot be waived under law, including the right to file an administrative charge or participate in
an administrative investigation or proceeding or any rights established under Section 7 of the National Labor
Relations Act; provided, however, that Executive disclaims and waives any right to share or participate in any
monetary award resulting from the prosecution of such charge or investigation or proceeding.

This Release is subject to Section 10 of the Employment Agreement. This Release is final and binding and
may not be changed or modified except in a writing signed by all parties.

EXECUTIVE

Ramona Mateiu
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Exhibit 10.21
 
 

EXECUTION VERSION

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is dated as of October 12, 2017 by and between
ThoughtWorks Technologies (India) Private Limited, a company incorporated in India under the Companies Act, 1956,
and having its registered office at ACR Mansion G + 3floors, 147/F, 8th Main, 3rd Block Koramangala, Bangalore-
560034, India (hereinafter referred to as the “Company”), and Sudhir Tiwari (“Executive”).

WHEREAS, the Company has employed Executive and desires to continue to employ Executive on the terms and
conditions as set forth herein;

WHEREAS, the Executive desires to continue to be employed by the Company on the terms and conditions set
forth herein.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual covenants herein and for other good and
valuable consideration, the parties agree as follows:

1. Term of Agreement. This Agreement shall be contingent upon and shall become effective only upon the
occurrence of the Effective Date. For purposes of this Agreement, the “Effective Date” is the date on which the
acquisition of the Company is consummated pursuant to that Agreement and Plan of Merger, by and among Turing
Acquisition LLC, Turing Merger Sub Inc., Thoughtworks, Inc. (“Parent”) and Shareholder Representative Services LLC,
dated as of August 18, 2017, as it may be amended from time to time. In the event the Effective Date does not occur, this
Agreement shall be void and have no effect with respect to either party hereto. Executive’s employment pursuant to this
Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall continue until the third anniversary thereof; provided, that on
such third anniversary of the Effective Date and each annual anniversary thereafter (in each case, a “Renewal Date”), the
Agreement shall be extended automatically, subject to applicable laws, for an additional one year unless either party
provides written notice at least 30 days’ prior to the applicable Renewal Date of its intention not to extend the term of the
Agreement. The period of time between the Effective Date and the termination of Executive’s employment hereunder
shall be referred to herein as the “Employment Term.” The Company, the Parent, and its respective subsidiaries and
affiliates, collectively, shall be referred to as the “Company Group.”

2. Duties.

(i) During the Employment Term, Executive shall have the authorities, titles, and duties as may be
assigned by the Company from time to time. On the Effective Date, Executive’s title will be Managing Director - India.
Executive will devote Executive’s full business time and best efforts to the performance of Executive’s duties and will
not engage in any other business, profession or occupation for compensation or otherwise that would conflict or interfere
in any material respect with Executive’s duties under this Agreement.

(ii) The working hours, leaves and holidays of the Executive will be as per the internal policies of the
Company in this regard, and in accordance with applicable laws, as may be amended from time to time.
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3. Base Salary. During the Employment Term, the Company shall pay Executive a base salary (as in effect
from time to time, the “Base Salary”) in accordance with the regular payroll practices of the Company and subject to
applicable tax and other withholdings. The Base Salary as of the Effective Date shall be at an annual rate of 18,000,000
INR.

4. Variable Compensation. During the Employment Term, Executive may be eligible to receive an annual
cash bonus based on performance objectives and conditions established by the Company from time to time. Executive
acknowledges and agrees that, in connection with the establishment of such bonus plan, (i) the Company, after
consultation with the Parent’s Chief Executive Officer, may reduce Executive’s Base Salary below the rate then in effect,
provided the sum of the Base Salary, as reduced, plus the annual bonus payable at the “target” level of performance is
substantially comparable to the rate of Base Salary prior to such reduction, and (ii) neither any such reduction of Base
Salary nor any failure by Executive to achieve the “target” level of performance necessary to receive the “target” bonus
under such bonus plan will constitute “Good Reason” pursuant to this Agreement.

5. Employee Benefits. During the Employment Term, Executive shall be entitled to participate in the
employee benefit plans that the Company maintains or contributes to for the benefit of its employees generally (the
“Benefit Plans”), subject to satisfying the applicable eligibility requirements and except to the extent such plans are
duplicative of the benefits otherwise provided pursuant to this Agreement. The Company reserves the right to modify or
terminate its Benefit Plans at any time. The Company shall reimburse Executive, within thirty (30) days following
submission by Executive to the Company of appropriate supporting documentation, for all business expenses incurred by
Executive in accordance with Company policy.

6. Termination. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the provisions of this Section 6
shall exclusively govern Executive’s rights upon termination of employment with the Company Group (such date of
termination, the “Termination Date”).

(a) Accrued Amounts. Upon termination of Executive’s employment for any reason, Executive shall
be entitled to prior written notice of 30 days’ termination and to receive from the Company (i) any earned but unpaid
Base Salary through the Termination Date, and any portion of the annual incentive bonus earned and payable in
accordance with the bonus plan then in effect under Section 4 above; (ii) reimbursement, within thirty (30) days
following submission by Executive to the Company of appropriate supporting documentation, for any unreimbursed
business expenses properly incurred by Executive in accordance with Company policy prior to the Termination Date, and
(iii) vested and accrued Employee Benefits, if any, as to which Executive may be entitled under the terms of the
Company’s Benefit Plans and applicable laws (including but not limited to leave encashment for accrued but unavailed
leave and gratuity) (such amounts, collectively, the “Accrued Amounts”).

(b) Qualifying Termination Under Company Group Severance Plan. If, upon termination of
Executive’s employment for any reason, Executive qualifies for severance benefits under the terms and conditions of the
Thoughtworks, Inc. Severance Pay Plan for Employees and its Annex - Severance Benefits and Change in Control
Benefits for Executives (collectively, the “Severance Plan”), then the Company shall have no obligation to provide any
further compensation or benefits under this Agreement other than the Accrued Amounts. The payments
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and benefits provided under the Severance Plan shall be in lieu of any termination or severance payments or benefits for
which Executive may be eligible under any of the other plans, policies or programs of the Company or under the or any
similar state statute or regulation.

(c) Qualifying Termination Outside of Company Group Severance Plan. If, during the Employment
Term, (i) the Company terminates Executive’s employment without Cause (other than by reason of Executive’s death or
Disability), or Executive resigns for Good Reason, and (ii) Executive does not qualify for severance benefits under the
Severance Plan, then Executive shall be entitled to receive:

(i) the Accrued Amounts; and

(ii) subject to Executive’s execution of a general release of claims in favor of the Company
Group as provided in Section 6(e) and Executive’s continued compliance with the provisions of Section 7 and Section 8
hereof, continued payment of the Base Salary at the rate in effect on the Effective Date or, if higher, the Base Salary at
the rate in effect on the Termination Date, for 12 months following the Termination Date (the “Severance Period”),
payable in regular installments in accordance with the Company’s regular payroll practices and subject to applicable tax
and other withholdings. The payments and benefits provided under this Section 6(c) shall be in lieu of any termination or
severance payments or benefits for which Executive may be eligible under any of the other plans, policies or programs of
the Company or under the Worker Adjustment Retraining Notification Act of 1988 or any similar state statute or
regulation. For avoidance of doubt, if Executive terminates employment as a result of the Company’s election not to
renew the Agreement pursuant Section 1 hereof, such termination shall be considered a termination without Cause.

(d) Other Terminations of Employment. Following Executive’s termination of employment for any
reason not described in Sections 6(b) and 6(c) above, the Company shall have no obligation to provide any further
compensation or benefits under this Agreement other than the Accrued Amounts.

(e) Release. Any and all amounts payable and benefits or additional rights provided pursuant to
Section 6(c) of this Agreement shall only be payable if Executive delivers to the Company a general release of claims in
favor of the Company Group in substantially the form attached on Exhibit A hereto. Such release must be executed and
delivered within sixty (60) days following the Termination Date.

(f) Interaction with Severance Plan. If Executive is to receive severance pay under Section 6(b)
above in accordance with the Company Group’s Severance Plan and the related Annex governing benefits for Executives
(collectively, the “Executive Severance Plan”), then, notwithstanding any provisions of the Executive Severance Plan to
the contrary:

(i) For purposes of calculating Executive’s benefits under the Executive Severance Plan,
“Base Compensation” under that Plan shall be the Executive’s rate of Base Salary in effect on the Effective Date of this
Agreement or, if greater, on the Termination Date;
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(ii) The release attached hereto as Exhibit A shall serve as the operative release as required
under the Executive Severance Plan and shall supersede any form of release contained in such Executive Severance Plan;
and

(iii) The definition of “Good Reason” in this Agreement shall control over any different
definition in the Executive Severance Plan for purposes of applying that Plan to Executive.

(g) Definitions.    For the purposes of this Agreement, the following terms are defined as follows:

(i) “Cause” shall mean (A) Executive’s material and repeated failure to perform his or her
duties (other than any such failure resulting from incapacity due to physical or mental illness); (B) Executive’s material
and repeated failure to comply with any valid and legal directive of the board of directors of the Company or the person to
whom Executive reports; (C) Executive’s engagement in dishonesty, illegal conduct or gross misconduct, or acts of gross
negligence, which in each case would reasonably be expected to be materially injurious to the Company Group; (D)
Executive’s embezzlement, misappropriation or fraud, whether or not related to Executive’s employment with the
Company; (E) Executive’s conviction of or plea of guilty or nolo contendere to a crime that constitutes a felony (or state
law equivalent) or a crime that constitutes a misdemeanor involving moral turpitude; (F) Executive’s violation of a
material policy of the Company, which in each case would reasonably be expected to be materially injurious to the
Company Group; or (G) Executive’s violation of the restrictive covenants set forth in Section 7 or Section 8 of this
Agreement or any other applicable restrictive covenants between Executive and the Company Group, or this Agreement.
With respect to any acts otherwise constituting Cause under subparagraph (A), (B) or (F) of this definition, Executive
shall have thirty (30) days from the delivery of written notice by the Company within which to cure such acts.

(ii) “Disability” shall mean Executive’s physical or mental illness, injury or infirmity which is
reasonably likely to prevent and/or prevents Executive from performing his essential job functions for a period of an
aggregate of one hundred eighty (180) calendar days out of any consecutive twelve (12) month period. Any question as to
the existence of the Disability of Executive as to which Executive and the Company cannot agree shall be determined in
writing by a qualified independent physician mutually acceptable to Executive and the Company. If Executive and the
Company cannot agree as to a qualified independent physician, each shall appoint such a physician and those two
physicians shall select a third who shall make such determination in writing. The determination of Disability made in
writing to the Company and Executive shall be final and conclusive for all purposes of the Agreement.

(iii) “Good Reason” shall mean, during the period following the Effective Date and prior to a
Change in Control (as defined in the Severance Plan), either (A) a change to Executive’s principal work location without
Executive’s written consent to a location more than 50 miles from Executive’s principal work location prior to the
change; or (B) a material reduction in the Executive’s target cash compensation (including both base salary and incentive
compensation), provided that neither changes in the allocation between base salary and incentive compensation as
contemplated by Section 4 nor any failure to achieve “target” bonus levels shall be deemed a material reduction or
otherwise constitute Good Reason for any reason in connection
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with this Agreement. A reduction in Executive’s target cash compensation shall be “material” for purposes of this
Agreement if the sum of Base Salary plus target incentive compensation is less than 80% of Executive’s target cash
compensation for the immediately prior calendar year. Any such reduction shall constitute Good Reason effective on the
date Executive is notified that his target cash compensation has been reduced below such 80% level. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, Executive cannot terminate his or her employment for Good Reason unless he or she has provided written
notice to the Company explaining in sufficient detail the existence and grounds constituting Good Reason within 30 days
of the initial existence of such grounds and the Company has had at least 30 days from the date on which such notice is
provided to cure such circumstances, if curable. If Executive does not terminate his or her employment for Good Reason
within 90 days after the first occurrence of the applicable grounds, then Executive will be deemed to have waived his or
her right to terminate for Good Reason with respect to such grounds.

(h) Other Positions. Upon termination of Executive’s employment for any reason, Executive shall
promptly resign from any other position as an officer, director or fiduciary of any direct or indirect subsidiary of the
Company Group.

7. Restrictive Covenants. Executive acknowledges and recognizes the highly competitive nature of the
businesses of the Company Group and accordingly agrees to the following:

(a) Noncompetition. Executive acknowledges that (i) Executive performs services of an important
nature for the Company, and that Executive’s performance of such services to a competing business may result in
irreparable harm to the Company Group, (ii) Executive is a member of the executive and management personnel of the
Company Group, (iii) Executive has had and will continue to have access to Confidential Information (as defined below)
and trade secrets which, if disclosed, would unfairly and inappropriately assist in competition against the Company
Group, (iv) in the course of Executive’s employment by a competitor, Executive could use or disclose such Confidential
Information and trade secrets, (v) members of the Company Group have substantial relationships with their customers
and Executive has had and will continue to have access to these customers, and (vi) Executive has generated and will
continue to generate goodwill for the Company Group in the course of Executive’s employment. Accordingly, during the
Employment Term and for 12 months following the Termination Date, or during such longer period (not to exceed 18
months) that Executive is receiving severance benefits under the Severance Plan or Section 6(c) above, Executive agrees
that Executive will not, directly or indirectly, own, manage, operate, control, be employed by (whether as an employee,
consultant, independent contractor or otherwise, and whether or not for compensation) or render services to any person,
in whatever form, engaged in a Competing Business in any locale of any country in which the Company Group conducts
business. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein shall prohibit Executive from being a passive owner of not more
than four and ninety nine one hundredths percent (4.99%) of the equity securities of a publicly traded corporation
engaged in a business that is in competition with the Company Group, so long as Executive has no active participation in
the business of such corporation. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Competing Business” shall mean (x) any
business that (A) is engaged primarily in the design and/or delivery of customized software solutions to third party
customers and/or (B) is engaged primarily in the provision of information technology consulting services to third party
customers (that is in each case competitive with the Company Group), and/or (y) for the avoidance of doubt,
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any of the following (including any affiliates thereof, any successor entities thereto and any businesses or divisions
divested therefrom): Accenture PLC*, Aricent Inc., Boston Consulting Group*, Deloitte & Touche LLP*, Ciklum ApS,
CapGemini SE, CGI Group Inc., Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation, DXC Technology Company, Elephant
Ventures, LLC, EPAM Systems, Inc., Equal Experts Inc., Globant LLC, HCL Technologies Limited, Hexaware
Technologies Limited, International Business Machines Corp., Infosys Limited, iSoftStone Holdings Limited, KPMG US
LLP*, McKinsey & Company*, Mindtree Limited, NearForm Ltd, Ness Technologies Inc., Persistent Systems Ltd.,
Perficient, Inc., PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP*, Sapient Corporation, SoftServe, Inc., Symphony Teleca Corporation,
Tech Mahindra Limited, RazorFish, LLC, Three Pillar Global, Inc., VanceInfo Technologies Inc., Wipro Limited, Xebia
Nederland B.V.1 For the avoidance of doubt, Competing Business shall not include software product companies that offer
customized solutions for such products and are not competitive with the Company or its Subsidiaries with respect to
provision of information technology services to third party customers. As used herein, “competitive with the Company or
its Subsidiaries” means the provision of the same or similar solutions or services of the Company or its Subsidiaries.

(b) Nonsolicitation; Noninterference.

(i) During the Employment Term and for 18 months following the Termination Date,
Executive agrees that Executive shall not, except in the furtherance of Executive’s duties with the Company, directly or
indirectly, individually or on behalf of any other person, (A) solicit, aid or induce any customer of the Company Group to
purchase goods or services then sold by the Company Group from another person or assist or aid any other persons or
entity in identifying or soliciting any such customer, or (B) interfere, or aid or induce any other person or entity in
interfering, with the relationship between the Company Group and any of their respective vendors, customers, joint
venturers, licensees or licensors.

(ii) During the Employment Term and for 18 months following the Termination Date,
Executive agrees that Executive shall not, except in the furtherance of Executive’s duties with the Company Group,
directly or indirectly, individually or on behalf of any other person, solicit, aid or induce any employee, consultant,
representative or agent of the Company Group (or any employee, consultant, representative or agent who has left the
employment or retention of the Company Group for less than nine months) (a “Covered Person”) to leave such
employment or retention or to accept employment with or render services to or with any other person unaffiliated with
the Company Group or hire or retain any such employee, consultant, representative or agent or any Covered Person, or
take any action to materially assist or aid any other person in identifying, hiring or soliciting any such employee,
consultant, representative or agent or any Covered Person.

(c) Severability. It is expressly understood and agreed that although Executive and the Company
consider the restrictions contained in this Section 7 to be reasonable, if a final judicial determination is made by a court of
competent jurisdiction that the time or territory or any other restriction contained in this Agreement is an unenforceable
restriction against Executive, the provisions of this Agreement shall not be rendered void but shall be deemed amended to
apply as

1 Entities identified with an asterisk (*) are limited to the divisions of such business that are competitive with the Company or its subsidiaries.
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to such maximum time and territory and to such maximum extent as such court may judicially determine or indicate to be
enforceable. Alternatively, if any court of competent jurisdiction finds that any restriction contained in this Agreement is
unenforceable, and such restriction cannot be amended so as to make it enforceable, such finding shall not affect the
enforceability of any of the other restrictions contained herein.

(d) Survival. The provisions of this Section 7 shall survive the termination of this Agreement and
Executive’s employment for any reason.

8. Other Restrictive Covenants and Related Provisions.

(a) Confidentiality. During the course of Executive’s employment with the Company, Executive has
had and will continue to have access to Confidential Information. For purposes of this Agreement, “Confidential
Information” means all data, information, ideas, concepts, discoveries, trade secrets, inventions (whether or not
patentable or reduced to practice), innovations, improvements, know-how, developments, techniques, methods, processes,
treatments, drawings, sketches, specifications, designs, plans, patterns, models, plans and strategies, and all other
confidential or proprietary information in any form or medium (whether merely remembered or embodied in a tangible or
intangible form or medium) whether now or hereafter existing, relating to or arising from the past, current or potential
business, activities and/or operations of the Company Group, including, without limitation, any such information relating
to or concerning finances, sales, marketing, advertising, transition, promotions, pricing, personnel, customers, suppliers,
vendors, raw partners and/or competitors. Executive agrees that Executive shall not, directly or indirectly, use, make
available, sell, disclose or otherwise communicate to any person any Confidential Information, or other confidential or
proprietary information received from third parties subject to a duty on the Company Group’s part to maintain the
confidentiality of such information, and to use such information only for certain limited purposes, in each case which
shall have been obtained by Executive during Executive’s employment by the Company. The foregoing shall not apply to
information that (i) was known to the public prior to its disclosure to Executive; (ii) becomes generally known to the
public subsequent to disclosure to Executive through no wrongful act of Executive or any representative of Executive; or
(iii) Executive is required to disclose such information by applicable law, regulation or legal process (provided that
Executive provides the Company Group with prior notice of the contemplated disclosure and cooperates with the
Company Group at its expense in seeking a protective order or other appropriate protection of such information).

(b) Return of Company Property. On or prior to the Termination Date, Executive shall return all
property belonging to the Company Group (including, but not limited to, any Company-provided laptops, computers, cell
phones, wireless electronic mail devices or other equipment, or documents and property belonging to the Company
Group).

(c) Intellectual Property.

(i) If Executive has created, invented, designed, developed, contributed to or improved any
works of authorship, inventions, intellectual property, materials, documents or other work product (including without
limitation, research, reports, software, databases, systems, applications, presentations, textual works, content, or
audiovisual materials), other than to the
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extent that (A) no equipment, supplies, facility, trade secrets, Confidential Information, research or other information of
the Company Group was used during its creation, (B) such item was developed entirely on the Executive’s own time, and
(C) such item did not result directly from any work performed by Executive for the Company Group (“Works”), either
alone or with third parties, prior to Executive’s employment by the Company Group, that are relevant to or implicated by
such employment (“Prior Works”), Executive hereby grants the Company Group a perpetual, non-exclusive, royalty-free,
worldwide, assignable, sublicensable license under all rights and intellectual property rights (including rights under
patent, industrial property, copyright, trademark, trade secret, unfair competition and related laws) therein for all purposes
in connection with the Company’s current and future business. For the avoidance of doubt, the subject of waivers granted
under the Company Group’s “Policy on Outside Activities” dated February 2012, as may be amended from time to time,
prior to or after the Effective Date shall not be considered “Works” hereunder.

(ii) The Executive agrees that all services provided under this Agreement shall constitute
‘work for hire’ at the instance of the Company Group in accordance with (Indian) Copyrights Act, 1957, as amended
from time to time. Therefore, if Executive creates, invents, designs, develops, contributes to or improves any Works,
either alone or with third parties, at any time during Executive’s employment by the Company Group and within the
scope of such employment and/or with the use of any Company Group resources (“Company Works”), Executive shall
promptly and fully disclose such works to the Company Group and hereby irrevocably assigns, transfers and conveys, to
the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, all rights and intellectual property rights therein (including rights under
patent, industrial property, copyright, trademark, trade secret, unfair competition and related laws) to the Company Group
to the extent ownership of any such rights does not vest originally in the Company Group.

(iii) Executive agrees to keep and maintain adequate and current written records (in the form
of notes, sketches, drawings, and any other form or media requested by the Company) of all Company Works. The
records will be available to and remain the sole property and intellectual property of the Company Group at all times.

(iv) Executive shall take all requested actions and execute all requested documents (including
any licenses or assignments required by a government contract) at the Company Group’s expense (but without further
remuneration) to assist the Company Group in validating, maintaining, protecting, enforcing, perfecting, recording,
patenting or registering any of the Company Group’s rights in the Company Works. If the Company Group is unable for
any other reason to secure Executive’s signature on any document for this purpose, then Executive hereby irrevocably
designates and appoints the Company Group and its duly authorized officers and agents as Executive’s agent and
attorney-in-fact, to act for and on Executive’s behalf to execute any documents and to do all other lawfully permitted acts
in connection with the foregoing.

(v) Executive shall not improperly use for the benefit of, bring to any premises of, divulge,
disclose, communicate, reveal, transfer or provide access to, or share with the Company any confidential, proprietary or
non-public information or intellectual property relating to a former employer or other third party without the prior written
permission of such third party. Executive hereby indemnifies, holds harmless and agrees to defend the Company and its
officers, directors, partners, employees, agents and representatives from any breach of the
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foregoing covenant. Executive shall comply with all relevant policies and guidelines of the Company, including
regarding the protection of confidential information and intellectual property and potential conflicts of interest. Executive
acknowledges that the Company may amend any such policies and guidelines from time to time, and that Executive
remains at all times bound by their most current version.

(d) Non-Disparagement. Neither the Company nor Executive shall make any oral or written statement
about the other party which is intended or reasonably likely to disparage the other party, or otherwise degrade the other
party’s reputation in the general business community. The foregoing shall not be violated by truthful statements in
response to legal process, required governmental testimony or filings, or administrative or arbitral proceedings
(including, without limitation, depositions in connection with such proceedings). The provisions of this Section 8(d) shall
survive the termination of Executive’s employment for any reason.

(e) Whistleblower Protection. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, no
provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted so as to impede Executive (or any other individual) from reporting
possible violations of applicable law or regulation to any governmental agency or entity, including but not limited to the
Department of Justice, the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Congress, and any agency Inspector General, and
the relevant regulators in India, including in the Registrar of Companies, Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Serious Fraud
Investigation Office and Reserve Bank of India, or making other disclosures under the whistleblower provisions of
federal law or regulation. Executive does not need the prior authorization of the Company to make any such reports or
disclosures and Executive shall not be not required to notify the Company that such reports or disclosures have been
made.

(f) Trade Secrets. 18 U.S.C. § 1833(b) provides: “An individual shall not be held criminally or civilly
liable under any Federal or State trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that (A) is made (i) in confidence to a
Federal, State, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney; and (ii) solely for the purpose
of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (B) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a
lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal.” Nothing in this Agreement is intended to conflict with 18
U.S.C. § 1833(b) or create liability for disclosures of trade secrets that are expressly allowed by 18 U.S.C. § 1833(b).
Accordingly, Executive and the Company Group have the right to disclose in confidence trade secrets to federal, state,
and local government officials, or to an attorney, for the sole purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation
of law. Executive and the Company Group also have the right to disclose trade secrets in a document filed in a lawsuit or
other proceeding, but only if the filing is made under seal and protected from public disclosure.

(g) Protected Activity. Executive understands that nothing in this Agreement shall in any way limit or
prohibit Executive from engaging for a lawful purpose in any Protected Activity. For purposes of this Agreement,
“Protected Activity” shall mean filing a charge, complaint, or report with, or otherwise communicating with, cooperating
with or participating in any investigation or proceeding that may be conducted by, any central, state or local government
agency or commission, including the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, and the National Labor Relations Board, and the
relevant regulators in India, including Registrar of
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Companies, Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Serious Fraud Investigation Office and Reserve Bank of India (“Government
Agencies”). Executive understands that in connection with such Protected Activity, Executive is permitted to disclose
documents or other information as permitted by law, and without giving notice to, or receiving authorization from, the
Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Executive agrees to take all reasonable precautions to prevent any
unauthorized use or disclosure of any information that may constitute Confidential Information to any parties other than
the relevant Government Agencies. Executive further understands that Protected Activity does not include the disclosure
of any Company Group attorney-client privileged communications, and that any such disclosure without the Company
Group’s written consent shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement.

9. Specific Performance; Tolling. Executive acknowledges and agrees that the Company Group’s remedies
at law for a breach or threatened breach of any of the provisions of Section 7 or Section 8 would be inadequate and the
Company Group would suffer irreparable damages as a result of such breach or threatened breach. In recognition of this
fact, Executive agrees that, in the event of such a breach or threatened breach, in addition to any remedies at law, the
Company Group, without posting any bond, shall be entitled to cease making any payments or providing any benefit
otherwise required by this Agreement and obtain equitable relief in the form of specific performance, temporary
restraining order, temporary or permanent injunction or any other equitable remedy which may then be available. In the
event of any violation of the provisions of Section 7 or Section 8, Executive acknowledges and agrees that the post-
termination restrictions contained in Section 7 or Section 8 shall be extended by a period of time equal to the period of
such violation, it being the intention of the parties hereto that the running of the applicable post-termination restriction
period shall be tolled during any period of such violation. Executive agrees that, before providing services, whether as an
employee or consultant, to any entity during the period of time that Executive is subject to the constraints in Sections 7
and 8 hereof, Executive will provide a copy of this Agreement (including, without limitation, Section 7) to such entity.
Executive further covenants that Executive will not challenge the reasonableness or enforceability of any of the
covenants set forth in Section 7 and Section 8 hereof, and that Executive will reimburse the Company Group for all costs
(including reasonable attorneys’ fees) incurred in connection with any action to enforce any of the provisions of Section 7
and Section 8 hereof if the Company Group prevails on any material issue involved in such dispute or if Executive
challenges the reasonableness or enforceability of any of the provisions of Section 7 and Section 8 hereof; provided, that
in the event that Executive prevails on any material issue involved in such dispute, the Company will reimburse
Executive for all costs (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) incurred in connection with any action to enforce any of the
provisions of Section 7 and Section 8 hereof.

10. Data Protection:

(i) The Executive agrees that by signing this Agreement, the Executive gives his consent to the
Company Group, holding and processing, both electronically and manually, all information relating to, including
sensitive personal data and information as defined under the Information Technology Act, 2000 and the rules made
thereunder (“IT Act”), including the Information Technology (Reasonable Security Practices and Procedures and
Sensitive Personal Data or Information) Rules, 2011 (“SPDI”), including passwords, bank account or credit card details,
physical, medical records and history and biometric information, in accordance with, as
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applicable. Such SPDI is for the purposes of the Company Group’s administration and management of its associates and
its business and for compliance with applicable procedures, laws and regulations.

(ii) The Executive consents to the transfer, disclosure and sharing of SPDI by the Company Group,
and/or any third party for the purpose of compliance, risk management, operational purposes, administration and
management of the business of the Company Group. The Executive agrees that the SPDI may be shared, without his prior
consent, with government agencies mandated under the law to obtain information for the purpose of verification of
identity, or for prevention, detection, investigation including cyber incidents, prosecution, and punishment of offences.
The Company Group may also, disclose the Executive’s SPDI to any third party pursuant to an order under the law in
force, for instance, when responding to summons or similar legal process, to protect against fraud and to otherwise co-
operate with law enforcement or regulatory authorities.

(iii) Subject to applicable laws, the Company Group may, at its sole discretion, transfer SPDI to any
other body corporate (as defined under the IT Act) or a person in India, or located in any other country, that ensures at
least the same level of data protection that is adhered to by the Company Group as provided herein.

(iv) Any change in personal information should be informed to the Company at the address provided
in Section 11(g) within seven (7) working days.

11. Miscellaneous.

(a) Governing Law. This Agreement, and any disputes arising herefrom or related hereto, shall be
governed by, construed and interpreted in all respects, in accordance with the substantive and procedural laws of India,
without regard to conflicts of laws principles thereof.

(b) Entire Agreement/Amendments. This Agreement contains the entire understanding of the parties
with respect to the employment of Executive by the Company and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous
understandings, agreements, term sheets, representations and warranties with respect to the employment of Executive by
the Company. There are no restrictions, agreements, promises, warranties, covenants or undertakings between the parties
with respect to the subject matter herein other than those expressly set forth herein. This Agreement may not be altered,
modified, or amended except by written instrument signed by the parties hereto.

(c) No Waiver. The failure of a party to insist upon strict adherence to any term of this Agreement on
any occasion shall not be considered a waiver of such party’s rights or deprive such party of the right thereafter to insist
upon strict adherence to that term or any other term of this Agreement.

(d) Severability. In the event that any one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall be or
become invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining
provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby.
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(e) Dispute Resolution. Each of the parties agrees that any dispute between the parties shall be
resolved only in the courts of Bengaluru, India and the appellate courts having jurisdiction of appeals in such courts. In
that context, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each of the parties hereto irrevocably and
unconditionally (a) submits in any proceeding relating to this Agreement or Executive’s employment by the Company
Group, or for the recognition and enforcement of any judgment in respect thereof (a “Proceeding”), to the exclusive
jurisdiction of the courts of Bengaluru, India and appellate courts having jurisdiction of appeals from any of the
foregoing, and agrees that all claims in respect of any such Proceeding shall be heard and determined in such court, (b)
consents that any such Proceeding may and shall be brought in such courts and waives any objection that Executive or
the Company may now or thereafter have to the venue or jurisdiction of any such Proceeding in any such court or that
such Proceeding was brought in an inconvenient court and agrees not to plead or claim the same,
(c) agrees that service of process in any such Proceeding may be effected by mailing a copy of such process by registered
or certified mail (or any substantially similar form of mail), postage prepaid, to such party at Executive’s or the
Company’s address as provided in Section 11(g) hereof, and (e) agrees that nothing in this Agreement shall affect the
right to effect service of process in any other manner permitted by the laws of India.

(f) Assignment; Successors; Binding Agreement. Except as otherwise provided herein, this
Agreement shall bind Executive, the Company and its respective successors and permitted assigns and inure to the
benefit of and be enforceable by Executive, the Company and each of their respective successors and permitted assigns.
The Company shall have the right to assign, transfer or convey this Agreement to its affiliated companies, successor
entities, or assignees or transferees of substantially all of the Company’s business activities, operations or assets. Upon
such assignment, the rights and obligations of the Company hereunder shall become the rights and obligations of such
affiliate or successor person or entity. This Agreement, and all of Executive’s rights and duties hereunder, shall not be
assignable or delegable by Executive without the Company’s prior written consent. Any purported assignment or
delegation by Executive in violation of the foregoing shall be null and void ab initio and of no force and effect.

(g) Notice. For purposes of this Agreement, notices and all other communications provided for in this
Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given (a) on the date of delivery, if delivered by
hand, (b) on the date of transmission, if delivered by confirmed facsimile or electronic mail, (c) on the first business day
following the date of deposit, if delivered by guaranteed overnight delivery service, or (d) on the fourth business day
following the date delivered or mailed by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed
as follows:
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If to Executive:

At the address (or to the facsimile number) shown in the books and records
of the Company.

If to the Company:

ThoughtWorks Technologies (India) Private Limited ACR Mansion G + 3floors
147/F, 8th Main, 3rd Block Koramangala
Bangalore-560034 India

(h) Executive Representation. Executive hereby represents to the Company that (i) Executive has
been provided with sufficient opportunity to review this Agreement and has been advised by the Company to conduct
such review with an attorney of his choice; (ii) the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Executive and the
Company and the performance by Executive of Executive’s duties hereunder shall not constitute a breach of, or otherwise
contravene, the terms of any employment agreement or other agreement or policy to which Executive is a party or
otherwise bound (iii) holds a valid directors’ identification number; and (iv) is not disqualified from being appointed as a
director/ managing director under applicable laws, including but not limited to Companies Act.

(i) Cooperation. Executive shall provide Executive’s reasonable cooperation in connection with any
action or proceeding (or any appeal from any action or proceeding) which relates to events occurring during Executive’s
employment hereunder. This provision shall survive any termination of this Agreement or Executive’s employment.

(j) Withholding Taxes. The Company may withhold from any amounts payable under this Agreement
such central, state and local taxes as may be required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law or regulation.

(k) Counterparts. This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of which shall be an original,
with the same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument.

[Signatures on following page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.

THOUGHTWORKS TECHNOLOGIES (INDIA) PRIVATE
LIMITED

By: /s/ Sudhir Tiwari
Name:
Title:

[Signature Page to ThoughtWorks Technologies (India) Private Limited Employment Agreement]



WITNESS 2

/s/ Suresh Babu Kalarikkal

Name: Suresh Babu Kalarikkal                    /s/ Sudhir Tiwari
Title: Head - Legal                            SUDHIR TIWARI

Date: 10/10/2017

[Signature Page to ThoughtWorks Technologies (India) Private Limited Employment Agreement]



EXHIBIT A
Release

For and in consideration of the payments and other benefits due to Sudhir Tiwari (“Executive”) under Section 6 of the
Employment Agreement between Executive and ThoughtWorks Technologies (India) Private Limited, a company incorporated
in India under the Companies Act, 1956, and having its registered office at ACR Mansion G + 3floors, 147/F, 8th Main, 3rd
Block Koramangala, Bangalore-560034, India, dated as of October 12, 2017 (as may be amended, the “Employment
Agreement”), and for other good and valuable consideration:

1. Executive hereby knowingly and voluntarily agrees (for Executive, Executive’s spouse and child or children (if
any), Executive’s heirs, beneficiaries, devisees, executors, administrators, attorneys, insurers, personal representatives,
successors and assigns) to forever release and discharge (the “Release”) the Company or any of its divisions, affiliates,
subsidiaries, parents, branches, predecessors, successors, assigns, and, with respect to such entities, their officers, directors,
trustees, employees, agents, shareholders, administrators, general or limited partners, representatives, attorneys and fiduciaries,
past, present and future (the “Released Parties”) from any and all claims, suits, controversies, actions, causes of action, cross-
claims, counter-claims, demands, debts, compensatory damages, liquidated damages, punitive or exemplary damages, other
damages, claims for costs and attorneys’ fees, or liabilities of any nature whatsoever in law and in equity, both past and
present, suspected or claimed against the Company and/or any of the Released Parties that Executive, Executive’s spouse, or
any of Executive’s heirs, executors, administrators or assigns, ever had, now have, or hereafter may have against the Released
Parties, by reason of any matter, cause, or thing whatsoever, from the beginning of Executive’s initial dealings with the
Company to the date of this Release, whether known or unknown to Executive, by reason of facts which have occurred on or
prior to the date that Executive has signed this Release (including, without limitation, any and all allegations, claims or
violation relating to the foregoing under central, state or local laws pertaining to employment, including, without limitation, the
Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended (including the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act), Title VII
of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. Section 2000e et. seq., the Fair Labor Standards Act, as amended, the
Equal Pay Act of 1963, as amended, 29 U.S.C. Section 201 et. seq., the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended,
42 U.S.C. Section 12101 et. seq. the Reconstruction Era Civil Rights Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. Section 1981 et. seq., the
Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C. Section 701 et. seq., the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, 29 U.S.C.
Section 2601 et. seq., Worker Adjustment Retraining and Notification Act; the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of
1974, all Executive Order Programs, and any and all central, state and local laws, regulations and counterparts regarding civil
or human rights law, employment discrimination and/or central, state or local laws of any type or description regarding
employment, including but not limited to any claims arising from or derivative of Executive’s employment with the Released
Parties, as well as any and all such claims under any public policy, contract or tort, or under common law; or arising under any
policies, practices or procedures of the Company; or any claim for wrongful discharge, breach of contract, infliction of
emotional distress, defamation; or any claim for costs, fees, or other expenses, including attorneys’ fees incurred in these
matters) (all of the foregoing collectively referred to herein as the “Claims”). Executive understands and intends that this
Release constitutes a general release of all claims and that no reference herein to a specific form of claim, statute or type of
relief is intended to limit the scope of this Release. Notwithstanding the
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foregoing, Executive acknowledges that Executive may hereafter discover Claims or facts in addition to or different than those
which Executive now knows or believes to exist with respect to the subject matter of the released Claims above and which, if
known or suspected at the time of entering into this Release, may have materially affected this General Release and my
decision to enter into it.

2. Executive understands that any benefits, payments or benefits granted under Section 6 of the Employment
Agreement represent, in part, consideration for signing this Release and are not salary, wages or benefits to which Executive
was already entitled. Executive understands and agrees that Executive will not receive the payments and benefits specified in
Section 6 of the Employment Agreement unless Executive executes this Release within the time period permitted hereafter or
breach this Release. Such payments and benefits will not be considered compensation for purposes of any employee benefit
plan, program, policy or arrangement maintained or hereafter established by the Company or its affiliates.

3. Executive further represents that Executive has made no assignment or transfer of any right, claim, demand,
cause of action, or other matter covered by Paragraph 1 above.

4. Executive agrees that Executive hereby waives all rights to sue or obtain equitable, remedial or punitive relief
from any or all Released Parties of any kind whatsoever, including, without limitation, reinstatement, back pay, front pay, and
any form of injunctive relief. Furthermore, Executive agrees that Executive will forfeit all amounts payable by the Company
pursuant to Section 6 of the Employment Agreement if Executive challenges the validity of this Release. Executive also agrees
that if Executive violates this Release by suing the Company or the other Released Parties, Executive will pay all costs and
expenses of defending against the suit incurred by the Released Parties, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, and return all
payments received by Executive pursuant to Section 6 of the Employment Agreement on or after the termination of my
employment.

5. In signing this Release, Executive acknowledges and intends that it shall be effective as a bar to each and every
one of the Claims hereinabove mentioned or implied. Executive expressly consents that this Release shall be given full force
and effect according to each and all of its express terms and provisions, including those relating to unknown and unsuspected
Claims (notwithstanding any state or local statute that expressly limits the effectiveness of a general release of unknown,
unsuspected and unanticipated Claims), if any, as well as those relating to any other Claims hereinabove mentioned or implied.
Executive acknowledges and agrees that this waiver is an essential and material term of this Release and that without such
waiver the Company would not have agreed to the terms of the Employment Agreement. Executive further agrees that in the
event that Executive should bring a Claim seeking damages against the Company, or in the event that Executive should seek to
recover against the Company in any Claim brought by a governmental agency on his behalf, this Release shall serve as a
complete defense to such Claims to the maximum extent permitted by law. Executive further agrees that Executive is not aware
of any pending claim, or of any facts that could give rise to a claim, of the type described in Paragraph 1 as of the execution of
this Release.

6. Executive agrees that this Release and the Employment Agreement are confidential and agrees not to disclose
any information regarding the terms of this Release or the Employment
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Agreement, except to my immediate family and any tax, legal or other counsel that Executive has consulted regarding the
meaning or effect hereof or as required by law, and Executive will instruct each of the foregoing not to disclose the same to
anyone. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any non-disclosure provision in this Release does not prohibit or restrict Executive (or
his attorney) from responding to any inquiry about this Release or its underlying facts and circumstances by the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC), the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA), or any regulatory authorities or other
self-regulatory organization(s) or governmental entity in India or abroad.

7. Executive hereby acknowledges that Section 7, Section 8, and Section 9 of the Employment Agreement shall
survive my execution of this General Release.

8. Whenever possible, each provision of this Release shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid
under applicable law, but if any provision of this Release is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect under any
applicable law or rule in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision or
any other jurisdiction, but this Release shall be reformed, construed and enforced in such jurisdiction as if such invalid, illegal
or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein. This Release constitutes the complete and entire agreement and
understanding among the parties, and supersedes any and all prior or contemporaneous agreements, commitments,
understandings or arrangements, whether written or oral, between or among any of the parties, in each case concerning the
subject matter hereof.

9. Executive has read this Release carefully, acknowledges that Executive understands all of the terms of this
Release and is giving up important rights, has been advised to consult with an attorney and any other advisors of Executive’s
choice prior to executing this Release, and Executive fully understands that by signing below Executive is voluntarily giving
up any right which Executive may have to sue or bring any other claims against the Released Parties. Finally, Executive has
not been forced or pressured in any manner whatsoever to sign this Release, and Executive agrees to all of its terms voluntarily
and has signed this Release knowingly and voluntarily with the advice of any counsel retained to advise Executive with respect
to it.

10. Notwithstanding anything else herein to the contrary, Executive acknowledges that Executive is not waiving and
is not being required to waive (i) any right under any compensation or employee benefit plan, program or arrangement
(including, without limitation, obligations to Executive under any stock option, stock award or agreements or obligations under
any pension, deferred compensation or retention plan) provided by the Affiliated Entities where Executive’s compensation or
benefits are intended to continue or Executive is to be provided with compensation or benefits, in accordance with the express
written terms of such plan, program or arrangement, beyond the date of Executive’s termination; (ii) rights to indemnification
or liability insurance coverage Executive may have under the by-laws of the Company or applicable law; (iii) Executive’s
rights under Section 6 of the Employment Agreement; (iv) Executive’s rights under the Turing Holding Corp. Stockholders
Agreement, dated as of the Effective Date, by and among Executive and the other stockholders a party thereto; or (v) any right
that cannot be waived under law.
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This Release is subject to Section 11 of the Employment Agreement. This Release is final and binding and may not be
changed or modified except in a writing signed by all parties.

EXECUTIVE

Sudhir Tiwari
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Exhibit 10.22

EXHIBIT A

SECOND AGREEMENT AND RELEASE

Thoughtworks Holding, Inc. (the “Company”) and Sai Mandapaty (“Employee”) agree to the terms and conditions of this Second
Agreement and Release as set forth below, effective as of the Effective Date (as defined below). All capitalized terms used herein, unless
defined otherwise herein, shall have the meaning set forth in the Agreement and Release, signed October 30, 2023 (the “First Release”) or, if
not defined therein, the Severance Plan.

1. Waiver. Employee agrees that except for final earned wages, accrued and unused paid time off, and expenses submitted that will be
paid in the first payroll following the Termination Date, they have been paid: (i) all amounts as reimbursement for expenses incurred
during their employment and (ii) other compensation due to them, including, but not limited to all salary, hourly pay, overtime pay,
bonuses (except for Annual 2023 Bonus addressed in the First Release), vacation pay, deferred compensation, variable pay,
incentives, commissions, equity compensation and all other compensation of any nature whatsoever. No other sums (contingent or
otherwise) shall be paid to Employee in respect of their employment by the Company except as stated herein, and any such sums
(whether or not owed) arising under any Company compensation plan or otherwise related to Employee’s employment are hereby
expressly waived by Employee.

2. Release.
(a) In exchange for the Severance Benefits set forth in the First Release and other valuable consideration, Employee, for

himself or herself and for his or her heirs, executors, administrators, beneficiaries, trustees, and assigns (referred to collectively as
“Releasors”), forever releases and discharges the Company Group and any and all of the Company Group’s parent companies,
partners, subsidiaries, affiliates, predecessors, successors and assigns and any and all of its and their past and/or present officers,
directors, partners, agents, employees, representatives, counsel, employee benefit plans and their fiduciaries and administrators,
predecessors successors and assigns (referred to collectively as the “Releasees”), from any and all claims, suits, controversies,
actions, cross-claims, counter claims, demands, causes of action, debts, compensatory damages, liquidated damages, punitive or
exemplary damages, other damages, claims for costs and attorneys’ fees, and liabilities of any kind whatsoever in law and in equity,
whether known or unknown, suspected, or claimed, which Releasors ever had, now have or may have against Releasees by reason of
any actual or alleged act, omission, transaction, practice, conduct, occurrence or other matter up to and including the date Employee
signs this Second Agreement and Release.

(b) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, this Second Agreement and Release is intended to and shall release
Releasees from any and all claims and liabilities, whether known or unknown, suspected, or claimed, that Releasors ever had, now
have or may have against Releasees arising out of Employee’s employment with the Company Group or any of the Releasees, the
terms and conditions of such employment and/or the termination of such employment, including, but not limited to: (i) any claim
under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, as amended (“ADEA”), and/or the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act
(“OWBPA”), which laws prohibit discrimination on account of age; (ii) any claim under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as
amended, which, among other things, prohibits discrimination/retaliation on account of race, color, religion, sex and national origin;
(iii) any claim under the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) or Sections 503 and 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, each
as amended; (iv) any
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claim under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”); (v) any claim under the Family and
Medical Leave Act; (vi) any claim or other action under the National Labor Relations Act (“NLRA”), as amended; (vii) any claim
under the Workers’ Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act or the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights
Act (“USERRA”); (viii) any claim under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002; (ix) any applicable Executive Order Programs; (x) any
other claim of discrimination, harassment or retaliation in employment (whether based on federal, state or local law, regulation or
decision); (xi) any other claim (whether based on federal, state or local law, statute, decision, public policy, contract, tort, or doctrine
of good faith and fair dealing) arising out of the terms and conditions of Employee’s employment with and termination from the
Company Group and/or the Released Parties; (xii) any claims in equity or under common law for wrongful discharge, breach of
contract (express, implied, written or oral), whistleblowing, constructive discharge, promissory estoppel, detrimental reliance,
negligence, defamation, emotional distress, compensatory or punitive damages, and/or equitable relief; (xiii) any claims under
federal, state or local occupational safety and health laws or regulations, all as amended; (xiv) any claim for attorneys’ fees, costs,
disbursements and/or the like (xv) any claim under the Employment Agreement and (xvi) any claim under the Illinois Human Rights
Act, 775 Ill. Comp. Stat. Ann. 5/1-103, 5/2-101, 5/2-102, 5/2-103, 5/2-104, and 56 Ill Adm. Code 5210.110; the Illinois Equal Pay
Act; the Illinois Wage Payment and Collection Act; the Minimum Wage Law; the Right to Privacy in the Workplace Act; the
Personnel Record Review Act; the Whistleblower Act; the Family Military Leave Act, and any and all claims under any other federal
or Illinois statute or regulation, or any local ordinance, law or regulation, or any claim that was or could have been asserted under
common law. By virtue of the foregoing, Employee agrees that he or she has waived any damages and other relief available to him or
her (including, without limitation, money damages, equitable relief and reinstatement) under the claims waived in this paragraph 4.
This is a general release that is intended to apply to all claims Employee may have against the Releasees through the date Employee
executes this Agreement, except the sole matters to which this Agreement of Release does not apply are: (A) claims to the Severance
Benefits; (B) claims under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended; (C) claims arising after the
date Employee signs this Second Agreement and Release; (D) claims relating to any rights of indemnification under the Company
Group’s organizational documents or otherwise; (E) claims relating to any equity-based awards outstanding that remain outstanding
following the Termination Date; (F) claims to vested accrued benefits under the Company Group’s tax qualified retirement plans or
non-qualified retirement plans in accordance with, and subject to, the terms and conditions of such plans and applicable law; (G)
Employee’s right to seek enforcement of the terms of the Severance Plan (as modified as applicable herein); and (H) any claims that
cannot be waived pursuant to private agreement under law. Employee acknowledges that Employee has been informed that
Employee might have specific rights and/or claims under the ADEA and OWBPA. Employee specifically waives such rights and/or
claims under the ADEA or OWBPA to the extent such rights and/or claims arose on or prior to the date this Agreement of Release is
executed by Employee.

(c) Nothing in this Second Agreement and Release is intended to prohibit or restrict Employee’s right to file a
charge with or participate in a charge by the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or any other local, state, or
federal administrative body or government agency prohibiting waiver of such right; provided, however, that Employee
hereby waives the right to recover any monetary damages or other relief against any Released Parties excepting any benefit
or remedy to which Employee is or becomes entitled to pursuant to Section 922 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act. Employee further understands this Second and Release Agreement does not waive or restrict
Employee’s (i) claims for unemployment or workers’ compensation benefits, (ii) claims or rights that may arise after the date
that Employee signs this Second Agreement,
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(iii) claims for reimbursement of expenses under the Company’s expense reimbursement policies, (iv) any vested rights under
the Company’s ERISA-covered employee benefit plans as applicable on the date Employee signs this Second and Release
Agreement, and (v) any claims that controlling law clearly states may not be released by private agreement. Moreover,
nothing in this Second and Release Agreement (including but not limited to the acknowledgements, release of claims, the
promise not to sue, the confidentiality and non-disparagement obligations, and the return of property provision) (i) limits or
affects Employee’s right to challenge the validity of this Second and Release Agreement under the ADEA or the OWBPA, (ii)
prevents Employee from communicating with, filing a charge or complaint with; providing documents or information
voluntarily or in response to a subpoena or other information request to, or from participating in, an investigation or
proceeding conducted by the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, National Labor Relations Board, the Securities
and Exchange Commission, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, law enforcement, or any other any federal,
state or local agency charged with the enforcement of any laws, or from testifying, providing evidence, responding to a
subpoena or discovery request in court litigation or arbitration, or (iii) precludes non-management, non-supervisory
employees from engaging in protected concerted activity under Section 7 of the NLRA or under similar state law, such as
joining, assisting, or forming a union, bargaining, picketing, striking, or participating in other activity for mutual aid or
protection, or refusing to do so; this includes using or disclosing information acquired through lawful means regarding
wages, hours, benefits, or other terms and conditions of employment, except where the information was entrusted to
Employee in confidence by the Company as part of Employee’s job duties.

(d) Employee understands that Employee may later discover claims or facts that may be different than, or in addition to,
those which Employee now knows or believes to exist with regards to the subject matter of this Second Agreement and Release, and
which, if known at the time of executing this Second Agreement and Release, may have materially affected this Second Agreement
and Release or Employee’s decision to enter into it. Employee hereby waives any right or claim that might arise as a result of such
different or additional claims or facts.

(e) Employee represents that Employee has made no assignment or transfer of any right or claim covered herein and that
Employee further agrees that Employee is not aware of any such right or claim.

3. Return of Property. Employee represents that Employee has returned to the Company Group all property belonging to the Company
Group, including, but not limited to, electronic devices (e.g., Blackberry and/or laptop computer), keys, card access to buildings and
office floors, and business information and documents.

4. Binding Agreement; Third Party Beneficiaries. This Second Agreement and Release is binding upon, and shall inure to the benefit of,
the parties and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns. The Releasees are expressly intended to be
third-party beneficiaries of the releases set forth herein, and this Second Agreement and Release may be enforced by each of them.

5. ADEA Provisions. Employee acknowledges that Employee: (a) has carefully read this Second Agreement and Release in its entirety;
(b) has had an opportunity to consider the terms of this Second Agreement and Release for at least twenty-one (21) days; (c) is
hereby advised by the Company in writing to consult with an attorney of Employee’s choice in connection with this
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Second Agreement and Release; (d) fully understands the significance of all of the terms and conditions of this Second Agreement
and Release and has discussed them with an attorney of Employee’s choice, or has had a reasonable opportunity to do so; and (e) is
signing this Second Agreement and Release voluntarily and of Employee’s own free will and agrees to abide by all the terms and
conditions contained herein.

6. Revocation/Effective Date. Employee may accept this Second Agreement and Release by signing it via DocuSign on or before the
twenty-first (21st) day after he receives this Second Agreement and Release. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Employee may not sign
this Second Agreement and Release before Employee’s last day of employment and this Second Agreement and Release will not be
accepted or effective if signed before the Termination Date. After signing this Second Agreement and Release, Employee shall have
seven (7) days (the “Revocation Period”) to revoke Employee’s decision by indicating Employee’s desire to do so in writing
delivered to delivering it to Lamari Brayboy, NA Head of People Support, Thoughtworks, Thoughtworks, 200 E. Randolph Street,
25th Floor, Chicago IL 60601 at the above address by no later than the last day of the Revocation Period. If the last day of the
Revocation Period falls on a Saturday, Sunday or holiday, the last day of the Revocation Period will be deemed to be the next
business day. Provided Employee does not revoke this Second Agreement and Release during the Revocation Period, the Effective
Date of this Second Agreement and Release shall be the later of the eighth (8th) day after Employee signs this Second Agreement
and Release or the day after the last day of the Revocation Period (the “Effective Date”). For the avoidance of doubt, in the event
Employee fails to execute, or revokes execution of, this Second Agreement and Release, Employee shall not be entitled to the
Severance Benefits.

7. Each Party the Drafter. This Second Agreement and Release, and the provisions contained in it, shall not be construed or interpreted
for, or against, any party to this Second Agreement and Release because that party drafted or caused that party’s legal representatives
to draft any of its provisions.

8. Advice of Counsel. Employee represents and certifies that they have carefully read and fully understands all of the provisions and
effects of this Second Agreement and Release, has knowingly and voluntarily entered into this Second Agreement and Release freely
and without coercion, and acknowledges that the Company advises Employee, in writing, to consult with an attorney of Employee’s
choice regarding the terms of this Second Agreement and Release prior to executing this Second Agreement and Release.

9. Incorporation of First Release. Employee acknowledges and agrees that the provisions of the First Release which are not covered by
this Second Agreement and Release are specifically incorporated herein mutatis mutandis and references to the Agreement and
Release in the First Release shall include this Second Agreement and Release.

PLEASE READ THIS SECOND AGREEMENT AND RELEASE AND CAREFULLY CONSIDER ALL OF ITS PROVISIONS BEFORE
SIGNING IT. THIS SECOND AGREEMENT CONTAINS A RELEASE OF ALL KNOWN AND UNKNOWN CLAIMS, INCLUDING
THOSE UNDER FEDERAL, STATE AND LOCAL LAWS PROHIBITING DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT.

/s/ Sai Mandapaty
Dated: (Signature)

January 10, 2024
Dated:
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THOUGHTWORKS HOLDING, INC.

Accepted by: /s/ Valarie Fairchild    

Name: Valarie Fairchild

Dated: January 5, 2024    
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Exhibit 21.1

List of Subsidiaries

Name of Subsidiary Jurisdiction of Organization
ThoughtWorks Australia Pty Ltd Australia
ThoughtWorks Brasil Software LTDA. Brazil
ThoughtWorks Software Technologies (Beijing) Ltd. China
ThoughtWorks Software Technologies (Chengdu) Ltd. China
ThoughtWorks Software Technologies (Wuhan) Ltd. China
ThoughtWorks Software Technologies (Xi’an) Ltd. China
ThoughtWorks, Inc. Delaware
Turing Topco LLC Delaware
ThoughtWorks, Ltd. England & Wales
ThoughtWorks Deutschland GmbH Germany
ThoughtWorks Technologies (India) Private Limited India
ThoughtWorks Pte. Ltd. Singapore



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-259702) pertaining to the Thoughtworks
Holding, Inc. 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan, the Thoughtworks Holding, Inc. 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and the Turing Holding
Corp. (n/k/a Thoughtworks Holding, Inc.) 2017 Stock Option Plan, of our reports dated February 27, 2024, with respect to the consolidated
financial statements of Thoughtworks Holding, Inc. and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Thoughtworks Holding,
Inc., included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2023.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Chicago, Illinois

February 27, 2024



EXHIBIT 31.1

Certification by Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Guo Xiao, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Thoughtworks Holding, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the



audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2024

/s/ Guo Xiao
Guo Xiao

Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 31.2

Certification by Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Erin Cummins, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Thoughtworks Holding, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the



audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2024

/s/ Erin Cummins
Erin Cummins

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Thoughtworks Holding, Inc. (the "Company") for the period ended December 31, 2023
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), Guo Xiao, as Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that,
to his knowledge:

i. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

ii. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company as of the dates and for the periods expressed in the Report.

Date: February 27, 2024

/s/ Guo Xiao
Guo Xiao

Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Thoughtworks Holding, Inc. (the "Company") for the period ended December 31, 2023
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), Erin Cummins, as Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that,
to her knowledge:

i. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

ii. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company as of the dates and for the periods expressed in the Report.

Date: February 27, 2024

/s/ Erin Cummins
Erin Cummins

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer)



EXHIBIT 97

THOUGHTWORKS HOLDING, INC.

POLICY FOR THE RECOVERY OF ERRONEOUSLY AWARDED COMPENSATION
_________________________________________________________________________

In accordance with the applicable rules of The Nasdaq Stock Market (the “Nasdaq Rules”), Section 10D and Rule 10D-1
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) (“Rule 10D-1”), the Board of Directors (the “Board”)
of Thoughtworks Holding, Inc. (the “Company”) has adopted this Policy (the “Policy”) to provide for the recovery of erroneously
awarded Incentive-based Compensation from Executive Officers. All capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein
shall have the meanings set forth in Section G, below.

A. RECOVERY OF ERRONEOUSLY AWARDED COMPENSATION

(1) In the event of an Accounting Restatement, the Company will reasonably promptly recover the Erroneously Awarded
Compensation Received in accordance with Nasdaq Rules and Rule 10D-1 as follows:

(i) After an Accounting Restatement, the Compensation and Talent Committee (which is composed entirely of
independent directors or in the absence of such independence, a majority of the independent directors serving on the
Board) (the “Committee”) shall determine the amount of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation Received by each
Executive Officer and shall promptly notify each Executive Officer with a written notice containing the amount of any
Erroneously Awarded Compensation and a demand for repayment or return of such compensation, as applicable.

(a) For Incentive-based Compensation based on (or derived from) the Company’s stock price or total
shareholder return, where the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation is not subject to mathematical
recalculation directly from the information in the applicable Accounting Restatement:

i. The amount to be repaid or returned shall be determined by the Committee based on a reasonable
estimate of the effect of the Accounting Restatement on the Company’s stock price or total shareholder
return upon which the Incentive-based Compensation was Received; and



ii. The Company shall maintain documentation of the determination of such reasonable estimates
and provide the relevant documentation as required to the Nasdaq.

(ii) The Committee shall have discretion to determine the appropriate means of recovering Erroneously Awarded
Compensation based on the particular facts and circumstances. Notwithstanding the foregoing, except as set forth in
Section A(2) below, in no event may the Company accept an amount that is less than the amount of Erroneously Awarded
Compensation in satisfaction of an Executive Officer’s obligations hereunder.

(iii) To the extent that the Executive Officer has already reimbursed the Company for any Erroneously Awarded
Compensation Received under any duplicative recovery obligations established by the Company or applicable law, it shall
be appropriate for any such reimbursed amount to be credited to the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation that
is subject to recovery under this Policy.

(iv) To the extent that an Executive Officer fails to repay all Erroneously Awarded Compensation to the Company
when due, the Company shall take all actions reasonable and appropriate to recover such Erroneously Awarded
Compensation from the applicable Executive Officer. The applicable Executive Officer shall be required to reimburse the
Company for any and all expenses reasonably incurred (including legal fees) by the Company in recovering such
Erroneously Awarded Compensation in accordance with the immediately preceding sentence.

(2) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Company shall not be required to take the actions contemplated
by Section A(1) above if the Committee determines that recovery would be impracticable and either of the following two
conditions are met:

(i) The Committee has determined that the direct expenses paid to a third party to assist in enforcing the Policy
would exceed the amount to be recovered. Before making this determination, the Company must make a reasonable
attempt to recover the Erroneously Awarded Compensation, documented such attempt(s) and provided such
documentation to the Nasdaq;

(ii) Recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly
available to employees of the Company, to fail to meet the requirements of Section 401(a)(13) or Section 411(a) of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and regulations thereunder.



B. DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS

The Company shall file all disclosures with respect to this Policy required by applicable U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) filings and rules.

C. PROHIBITION OF INDEMNIFICATION

The Company shall not be permitted to insure or indemnify any Executive Officer against (i) the loss of any Erroneously
Awarded Compensation that is repaid, returned or recovered pursuant to the terms of this Policy, or (ii) any claims relating to the
Company’s enforcement of its rights under this Policy. Further, the Company shall not enter into any agreement that exempts any
Incentive-based Compensation that is granted, paid or awarded to an Executive Officer from the application of this Policy or that
waives the Company’s right to recovery of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation, and this Policy shall supersede any such
agreement (whether entered into before, on or after the Effective Date of this Policy).

D. ADMINISTRATION AND INTERPRETATION

This Policy shall be administered by the Committee, and any determinations made by the Committee shall be final and
binding on all affected individuals. The Committee is authorized to interpret and construe this Policy and to make all
determinations necessary, appropriate, or advisable for the administration of this Policy and for the Company’s compliance with
Nasdaq Rules, Section 10D, Rule 10D-1 and any other applicable law, regulation, rule or interpretation of the SEC or Nasdaq
promulgated or issued in connection therewith.

E. AMENDMENT; TERMINATION

The Committee may amend this Policy from time to time in its discretion and shall amend this Policy as it deems
necessary.

Notwithstanding anything in this Section E to the contrary, no amendment or termination of this Policy shall be effective
if such amendment or termination would (after taking into account any actions taken by the Company contemporaneously with
such amendment or termination) cause the Company to violate any federal securities laws, SEC rule or Nasdaq rule.

F. OTHER RECOVERY RIGHTS

This Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all Executive Officers and, to the extent required by applicable law
or guidance from the SEC or Nasdaq, their beneficiaries, heirs, executors, administrators or other legal representatives. The
Committee intends that this Policy will be applied to the fullest extent required by applicable law. Any employment agreement,



equity award agreement, compensatory plan or any other agreement or arrangement with an Executive Officer shall be deemed to
include, as a condition to the grant of any benefit thereunder, an agreement by the Executive Officer to abide by the terms of this
Policy. Any right of recovery under this Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other remedies or rights of recovery that
may be available to the Company under applicable law, regulation or rule or pursuant to the terms of any policy of the Company
or any provision in any employment agreement, equity award agreement, compensatory plan, agreement or other arrangement.

G. DEFINITIONS

For purposes of this Policy, the following capitalized terms shall have the meanings set forth below.

(1) “Accounting Restatement” means an accounting restatement due to the material noncompliance of the
Company with any financial reporting requirement under the securities laws, including any required accounting
restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial statements that is material to the previously issued financial
statements (a “Big R” restatement), or that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the
current period or left uncorrected in the current period (a “little r” restatement).

(2) “Clawback Eligible Incentive Compensation” means all Incentive-based Compensation Received by an
Executive Officer (i) on or after the effective date of the applicable Nasdaq rules, (ii) after beginning service as an
Executive Officer, (iii) who served as an Executive Officer at any time during the applicable performance period relating
to any Incentive-based Compensation (whether or not such Executive Officer is serving at the time the Erroneously
Awarded Compensation is required to be repaid to the Company), (iv) while the Company has a class of securities listed
on a national securities exchange or a national securities association, and (v) during the applicable Clawback Period (as
defined below).

(3) “Clawback Period” means, with respect to any Accounting Restatement, the three completed fiscal years of the
Company immediately preceding the Restatement Date (as defined below), and if the Company changes its fiscal year,
any transition period of less than nine months within or immediately following those three completed fiscal years.

(4) “Erroneously Awarded Compensation” means, with respect to each Executive Officer in connection with an
Accounting Restatement, the amount of Clawback Eligible Incentive Compensation that exceeds the amount of Incentive-
based Compensation that



otherwise would have been Received had it been determined based on the restated amounts, computed without regard to
any taxes paid.

(5) “Executive Officer” means each individual who is currently or was previously designated as an “officer” of the
Company as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) under the Exchange Act. For the avoidance of doubt, the identification of an
executive officer for purposes of this Policy shall include each executive officer who is or was identified pursuant to Item
401(b) of Regulation S-K, as applicable, as well as the principal financial officer and principal accounting officer (or, if
there is no principal accounting officer, the controller).

(6) “Financial Reporting Measures” means measures that are determined and presented in accordance with the
accounting principles used in preparing the Company’s financial statements, and all other measures that are derived
wholly or in part from such measures. Stock price and total shareholder return (and any measures that are derived wholly
or in part from stock price or total shareholder return) shall, for purposes of this Policy, be considered Financial Reporting
Measures. For the avoidance of doubt, a Financial Reporting Measure need not be presented in the Company’s financial
statements or included in a filing with the SEC.

(7) “Incentive-based Compensation” means any compensation that is granted, earned or vested based wholly or in
part upon the attainment of a Financial Reporting Measure.

(8) “Nasdaq” means The Nasdaq Stock Market.

(9) “Received” means, with respect to any Incentive-based Compensation, actual or deemed receipt, and
Incentive-based Compensation shall be deemed received in the Company’s fiscal period during which the Financial
Reporting Measure specified in the Incentive-based Compensation award is attained, even if the payment or grant of the
Incentive-based Compensation to the Executive Officer occurs after the end of that period.

(10) “Restatement Date” means the earlier to occur of (i) the date the Board, a committee of the Board or the
officers of the Company authorized to take such action if Board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should
have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, or (ii) the date a court, regulator or
other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare an Accounting Restatement.

Effective as of December 1, 2023


